
 

 

Copeland Borough Council 
The Market Hall 
Market Place 
Whitehaven 
CA28 7JG  

 
COUNCIL 
AGENDA 

 
Venue: This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore 

will not take place in a physical location  
Date:   Tuesday, 15th December, 2020 
Time:   2.00 pm 
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby      Tel: 01946 598328 

 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Minutes of the Extraordinary meeting held on 8 September 
2020, the re-convened Extraordinary meeting held on 22 
September and the ordinary meeting held on 22 September 
2020.  

1 - 32 

3. Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items   

4. Chair's Announcements   

5. Petitions   

6. Questions from Members of the Public   

 To receive questions from members of the public.  Maximum time 
allowed 30 minutes.  Questions must be submitted to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer at least three working days prior to the meeting. 
 

 

7. Questions by Members   

 a) Written questions to the Mayor or any other Member of the Council 
in relation to content of any recommendations or reports before the 
Council.  Questions must be submitted in writing to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer at least three working days prior to the meeting. 
(45 minutes allowed) – Procedure Rule 11.2. 
 

b) Oral questions to the Mayor on any matter where the Council has 
powers or duties or which affects the Borough.  (60 minutes allowed 
plus any unused time from (a) above) – Procedure Rule 11.1. 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

8. Mayor's Executive Report  33 - 58 

9. Notice of Motion 1 from Councillor Michael McVeigh  59 - 60 

10. Notice of Motion 2 from Councillor Michael McVeigh  61 - 62 

11. Whitehaven Harbour - Flood Defence Capital Replacement Works 
- Request to act as Accountable Body  

63 - 68 

12. Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026  69 - 106 

13. Corporate Strategy 2020-2024  107 - 118 

14. Copeland Vision 2040  119 - 162 

15. Climate Policy and Climate Action Plan  163 - 206 

16. Financial Matters Relating to Covid-19 - Distribution of further 
Central Government Grants - Noting of Urgent Action  

207 - 222 

17. Date and Time of the Next Meeting   

 The next meeting of Council will be held on Tuesday 9th February 2021. 
This will be a virtual meeting. 
 

 

 
Membership: Councillor Charles Maudling (Chair), Mayor Mike Starkie, 
Councillors David Banks, Jackie Bowman, Hugh Branney, Graham Calvin, 
James Date, Gemma Dinsdale, Gwynneth Everett, Allan Forster, 
Jeanette Forster, Fred Gleaves, Jeffrey Hailes, Mike Hawkins, Tom Higgins, 
Linda Jones-Bulman, Joan Hully, John Kane, Ged McGrath, Michael McVeigh, 
Sam Meteer, Graham Minshaw, David Moore, Steven Morgan, Brian O'Kane, 
Sam Pollen, Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Peter Tyson, Carl Walmsley, 
Eileen Weir, Doug Wilson and Felicity Wilson (Deputy Chair). 

 
Contacts:  Direct Dial: 01946 598328 
   E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk 
   Website: www.copeland.gov.uk 

 



COUNCIL

MINUTES OF EXTRAORDINARY MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 8 SEPTEMBER 2020

Present: Councillor Charles Maudling (Chair), Mayor Mike Starkie,
Councillors  David Banks, Jackie Bowman, Hugh Branney, Graham Calvin, 
James Date, Gemma Dinsdale, Gwynneth Everett, Allan Forster, 
Jeanette Forster, Fred Gleaves, Jeffrey Hailes, Mike Hawkins, Tom Higgins, 
Linda Jones-Bulman, Joan Hully, John Kane, Ged McGrath, Michael McVeigh, 
Sam Meteer, Graham Minshaw, David Moore, Steven Morgan, Brian O'Kane, 
Sam Pollen, Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Peter Tyson, Carl Walmsley, 
Eileen Weir, Doug Wilson and Felicity Wilson.

Officers: Pat Graham (Chief Executive), Sarah Pemberton (Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial Strategy (Monitoring Officer)), Steven Brown (Director 
of Financial Resources), Clinton Boyce (Solicitor), Mike Graham (Political 
Advisor), Stephanie Shaw (Electoral and Democratic Services Manager) and Clive 
Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer).

C 20/29 Apologies for Absence

There were no apologies for absence received at this meeting.

C 20/30 Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items

There were no Declarations of Interest made.

C 20/31 Requisition, made under rule 3.1(b) of chapter 5 of the Constitution, 
received from Councillors Michael McVeigh, Gwynneth Everett, John Kane, 
Allan Forster and Sam Pollen  for an extraordinary meeting of Council to be 
held, such signed requisition being attached to this agenda.

Councillor Michael McVeigh as Labour Group Leader presented the Requisition 
to Council on behalf of the Requisitioners.
The requisition stated that: The Mayor has taken an extraordinary step which 
betrays the spirit of democracy for residents in this borough.
In joining a political party, just a year after promising voters that he would keep 
politics out of local government, he has undermined the democratic process and 
removed the mandate with which he had been entrusted by the people of 
Copeland.
That he has done so without coming before Council and explaining his actions is 
a further dereliction of his duty to the electorate.

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Therefore, we are writing to you as Chair of the Council, to raise the following 
requisition, in order to drag Mr Starkie into the Council chamber, and to ask him, 
formally, to put people before politics’

Mayor Mike Starkie responded by stating his reasons for joining the 
Conservative party. That the Government’s agenda aligned with his own and 
that he was doing the best for local issues and that he had had the support of 
Government over the last five years.
He emphasised that there had been no change in his policies.
The Mayor then provided clarification of the Elected Mayoral model and how it 
worked. He continued to set out the Council’s financial position and the 
Government help received, to write–off bad debt and to buy the Copeland 
Centre, as well as following the cyber attack and now Covid-19.
He concluded that during the time he has been Mayor there has been no service 
cuts and the Council Tax increases had been less than inflation.

Questions were then taken from Members.

Councillor Dinsdale asked a question of Councillor Moore regarding Councillor 
McGrath changing from Conservative to Independent in November 2019, when 
he stated that the local people had a right to feel disappointed. Did the local 
people have a right to feel disappointed with the Mayor?

Councillor Moore responded that he did say that but Councillor McGrath had 
since been welcomed back to the Conservatives. There was also no option to call 
a by-election when some Members did change party.

Councillor D Wilson asked for the views of the Mayor regarding ex-Councillor 
Robin Pitt who left Conservative to join Labour.

The Mayor replied that Councillor Pitt was before his time, but this had 
happened a number of times in the past and has never sparked a by-election.

Councillor Morgan called for unity, for the Council to work together and move 
forward. He asked if the Mayor would consider reinstating the Labour members 
to his Executive.

In response, the Mayor stated that he would have been happy to continue with 
Councillors Everett and McVeigh on the Executive, but the Labour group had 
already published an attack on him.

Councillor Hawkins quoted the Mayor’s election material stating ‘Your Mayor, 
not a party Mayor’ had been removed from social media sites and that he had 

Page 2



sold enough insurance to fund his election campaign. Why was he not standing 
down and seeking re-election.

The Mayor re-iterated that he had not left a party and his policies were 
unchanged.

In a supplementary, Councillor Hawkins objected to being called ‘hard left’ and 
‘’marxist’ on social media.

The Chair intervened at this point as a question was not being asked.

Councillor McGrath clarified that the ‘Tories’ were the Conservative and 
Unionist Party, then asked why the two Labour councillors had been dismissed 
from the Executive and replaced by one Conservative.

The Mayor said he had worked with a number of Labour Councillors on his 
Executive and was happy to continue to do so, but the public attacks from 
Labour were not acceptable.

Councillor Meteer raised the Nolan principles and asked the Mayor if he could 
name one.

The Chair intervened at this point and ruled that this question was not relevant 
to the agenda and was to be disregarded.

Councillor Kane stated that the Mayor was first citizen of the Borough and yet 
the Mayor is fighting for the Council’s abolition and the Councillors cast aside. 
What is the future for the Mayor and the Council staff?

In response, the Mayor stated that it was possible the Council could have less 
than two years to run as we were in a period of local government reform. He 
was waiting for a letter from the Secretary of State, before submitting 
proposals. He was fighting for the best possible outcome for Copeland and the 
Council staff.

Councillor Kane in a supplementary reminded the Mayor that 19 of the 33 
councillors elected by the public were Labour, 4 Independent and only 10 
Conservative and that as the first citizen everything the Mayor does should be 
for Copeland.

The Mayor acknowledged this and confirmed that everything he did was in the 
best interest of Copeland.

Page 3



Councillor F Wilson raised a question regarding anti-semitism.

The Chair intervened at this point and ruled that this question was not relevant 
to the agenda and was to be disregarded.

Councillor Bowman asked how many new businesses came into the Borough 
under the Open for Business Scheme.

Again, the Chair intervened at this point and ruled that this question was not 
relevant to the agenda and was to be disregarded.

Councillor Date asked, if there were to be a by-election, what would the likely 
cost be?

The Mayor confirmed that there would not be a Mayoral by-election, but one 
would be very expensive.

Councillor Banks, as a former member of the Mayor’s executive, asked if the 
sacking of the Labour Executive members was descent or honourable?

The Mayor repeated his earlier answer adding that the Labour executive 
members never knew if the rest of their party would support them or vote at 
Council. He also questioned Councillor Banks’ morals following his anti-semitic 
comments.

In a supplementary, Councillor Banks apologised for the words that came out 
wrong at a previous Council meeting and confirmed he was not anti-semitic. He 
asked the Mayor if he agreed that Councillors Everett and McVeigh had been 
treated badly.

The Mayor agreed that for six years the Labour group had been very supportive 
and over that time, no decisions made had been politically based but decided 
with the best interest of Copeland in mind.

Councillor Moore looked back at the history of the Directly Elected Mayor and 
that the people wanted it in 2014. Both Conservatives and Labour got behind 
the Mayor’s manifesto as it was right for the people of Copeland. The Mayor’s 
agenda had not changed.

Councillor Hawkins raised a point of order that there was no question and 
Councillor Dinsdale on another point of order that not all Councillors had been 
given five minutes.

Page 4



The Chair ruled that Councillor Moore be allowed to continue as he had not 
used his full five minutes. He reiterated that all Councillors had a maximum of 
five minutes, but questions must relate to the requisition.

Councillor Moore continued quoting the Sellafield rates appeal, Home 
improvement loans and the number of consultants being used by the Council.
He asked the Mayor if he agreed that the Mayor’s agenda had not changed.

The Mayor agreed and also confirmed that the number of consultants had been 
reduced to zero.

Councillor J Forster stated that the Mayor was a good salesman, now selling 
himself. The Mayor was asked if he would be better working on projects for the 
borough rather than joining a political party.

The Mayor replied that some of the projects in Copeland had been held up by 
the County Council. He also referred to the PFI agreement, West Cumberland 
Hospital, Whitehaven Campus, Whitehaven Academy that were good things 
happening in the borough.

Note: Councillor Tyson temporarily left the meeting at this point.

Councillor Pratt referred to democracy and the Egremont style of democracy, 
where the candidate with the least number of votes was co-opted on when the 
other candidates were not considered. He also pointed out that the first citizen 
of the Borough was the Chair.

The Mayor responded by questioning what this had to do with Egremont Town 
Council as the original requisition came in from Egremont Town Council and 
copied to Elaine Woodburn and printed by the Town Council’s clerk.

Councillor Minshaw referred to the Mayor’s column in the Whitehaven News 
from February 2019 quoting ‘I have long felt that there should be no place in 
local government for politics and having served for nearly four years I am more 
convinced of that than ever’. What has changed his mind?

The Mayor replied that nothing had changed except he was being supported by 
one party and impeded by another.

In a supplementary the Mayor was asked where Labour had impeded him.

The Mayor responded by saying that the Labour councillors impeding him were 
from outside of Copeland. He continued that devolution was part of the Mayor’s 

Page 5



agenda. He also stated that he did not join the Conservatives earlier as he was a 
committed Brexiteer.

Councillor Hailes asked if the direction for Copeland Council had changed.

The Mayor replied that it had not.

Councillor Jones-Bulman stated that her election promise was to be open and 
transparent. She continued that her experience of the Mayor was one of 
continual Labour bashing, unnecessary sarcastic retorts and overall self ego, 
how would he change in order to work with everyone?

The Mayor replied that all parties had supported his policies. He also stated that 
during the election he paid Councillor Jones-Bulman’s campaign respect.

In a supplementary, the Mayor was asked if he would stop Labour bashing.

The Mayor replied that there was no Labour bashing in the Council.

Councillor O’Kane asked Councillor McVeigh if the Mayor had joined Labour, 
would he have accepted him, or told him to seek re-election?

Councillor McVeigh replied that the question was irrelevant. It was the integrity 
of the ballot box that was important.

Councillor Everett made note that she doesn’t use social media. The electorate 
voted for an Independent Mayor. Will the Mayor have a by-election. If not, is it 
because he doesn’t think the public will back him or doesn’t he care?

The Mayor again confirmed there will not be a by-election and that the Mayoral 
election was for an individual not a party.

Councillor D Wilson asked the Mayor if he agreed that calling this meeting was 
less about democracy and more about disrupting the council by causing 
disharmony?

In response, the Mayor stated there were members within the Labour group 
that are louder than others and that recent press comments were personal 
attacks.

Councillor Calvin asked the Mayor who the hard left/momentum members 
were. He also asked if the Mayor if he agreed with the proposed changes to 
Planning Law.

Page 6



The Chair intervened at this point and ruled that this question was not relevant 
to the agenda and was to be disregarded.

Councillor McGrath ask if Copeland did not have a Directly Elected Mayor, 
where would it be, what cuts has he made and what additional funding has he 
secured?

The Mayor replied that the reply to the first question would be speculation, no 
cuts had been made and funding has been secured as stated previously.

Councillor Bowman referred to election costs and the by-election caused by the 
death of her husband.

The Mayor clarified that his previous reply referred to the Mayoral election, not 
a ward by-election.

Councillor F Wilson stated that as a Councillor for many years she has worked 
with colleagues of all parties. We all work for the people of Copeland. Councillor 
McVeigh was asked what has today achieved?

Councillor McVeigh advised that he would cover that in his summing up.

At this point the Chair advised Council that due to time constraints, no further 
supplementary questions would be taken.

Councillor Weir asked the Mayor if joining the Conservatives was part of a deal 
that he would become Mayor of Cumbria or the devolved authority. What 
discussion had he had with Simon Clark and could he confirm it was not his 
intention to stand for Mayor of Cumbria.

The Mayor in response confirmed he had had no private meeting with Simon 
Clark, no deal had been struck, that no-one was in a position to strike a deal and 
that he had no say in what his future held.

Councillor D Wilson referred to the requisition Page 1 Para 4 which stated ‘In 
order to drag Mr Starkie into the Council chamber’ and asked if this wording 
would lead to co-operation and wellbeing.

The Mayor suggested ‘drag’ was not appropriate wording. He continued that all 
Councillors were invited to a briefing the week he joined the Conservatives and 
that meeting was closed due to inappropriate behaviour. The aggressive tone of 
the requisition was disappointing.

Page 7



Note: Councillor Joan Hully left the meeting at this point.

Councillor Pollen referred to Egremont Town Council’s involvement and 
suggested it was not appropriate to discuss here, but assured due process was 
followed and that he would be happy to discuss outside of this meeting.
During the middle of a pandemic it was disappointing that this fall out was 
happening. Councillor Pollen commented that Councillor Morgan’s comments 
were appropriate. The Mayor’s attacks on Labour did not encourage working 
together or partnership working.
The budget was half of what we had previously and it was not credible that we 
were doing more for less.
Councillor Pollen wanted to be positive about the Towns Funds and Borderlands 
that need Government finance, but he was not confident.

Councillor Dinsdale asked what assurances can he give about future investments 
in Copeland now that all key positions in Copeland are under Tory control.

The Mayor responded that he was working closely with Government putting 
forward the case for nuclear investment in Copeland and also West Cumbria 
Mining.

Councillor Kane asked that devolution was not on the table when the Mayor was 
elected, therefore we should go back to the people.

The Mayor again explained the election for Mayor was for an individual.
He further advised that devolution had been on the agenda since before his 
election and his understanding was that any devolution deal would require 
public consent.

Councillor Tyson was disappointed at the Mayor’s decision to join the 
Conservatives. He stated that the residents of Copeland voted for an 
Independent not a Conservative how did he feel about that?

The Mayor replied that he had already answered that question.

Councillor Pollen stated that the Mayor had politicised the Council, this had 
caused division rather than partnership.

The Mayor again stated that, as at 2019, he would not have considered standing 
as a Conservative as he was a Brexiteer. Things have evolved and he was now 
working well with Government.

Page 8



Councillor D Wilson asked the Mayor how he would work in future to ensure all 
members work together, for the interest of Copeland.

The Mayor confirmed nothing had changed, he would continue to work with all 
Councillors in the common interest.

Councillor Hawkins stated that the Mayor continued attacks on the County 
Council Labour councillors and not working together, but he should look at the 
Copeland Local Area Committee. The Mayor has shown a lot of arrogance at this 
meeting. Could the Mayor confirm he has misled the electorate as being a 
‘People’s Mayor, not a Party Mayor’?

The Mayor responded with the answer he had previously given during this 
meeting. With regard to the Area Committee, he stated that his comments were 
made regarding the County Council not individual Councillors.

Councillor Calvin asked that now the Mayor is a Conservative he will have to 
abide by Government policy, particularly regarding planning law.

The Mayor stated again that his policies had not changed, but he would be 
concerned if there were signs of political voting in Planning.

Mayor Mike Starkie was given the opportunity to sum up and in doing so 
confirmed that nothing had changed and that his policies would continue as 
before. He continued to state that writing to the Government as requested 
would be ridiculous and that he was in discussion with Government in the 
correct manner, ensuring that Copeland was the best place to invest.

Councillor Michael McVeigh on behalf of the requisitioners then summed up and 
in doing so put forward a motion that:-

1) “This Council notes that the Mayor of Copeland, having joined a political 
party, has betrayed the electorate who voted overwhelmingly for an 
independent mayor.

2) This council notes that the austerity cuts faced by people in Copeland 
have been disproportionately high, and have devastated services. We 
express solidarity with our colleagues at Cumbria County Council, and 
recognise that cuts to their budget impact on the lives of people in our 
borough. This Council demands, therefore, that the Mayor uses his new 
found political allegiance, and direct line to the Prime Minister, to 
demand forthwith that the Government restores to 2015 levels the 
central government funding grant for both Copeland Borough and 

Page 9



Cumbria County Councils. This must be done publicly, and by letter to 
local government minister.

3) Furthermore, this council demands that, in order to respect the 
fundamental principles of democracy, under which he was elected, the 
Mayor must resign his position and seek re-election via a by-election. This 
should be announced immediately, with the election carried out in May 
2021. Holding the election at this time will minimise cost, because there 
are already County Council elections taking place, and should also ensure 
enough time has passed that the election can be held safely, from a Covid-
19 perspective. The Mayor may continue in post on an interim basis until 
the election can be held.”

A recorded vote was also requested.

The motion was seconded by Councillor Eileen Weir

The Chair sought clarification from the Monitoring Officer, who confirmed that 
Councillor McVeigh had moved the motions in the requisition, there had been a 
seconder to that motion, so now the meeting moved to debate on the motion 
and the Mayor does have a right to response. A recorded vote would then 
follow the debate.

In response to the motions, the Mayor stated that he could categorically say 
that writing to the Government would not happen under any circumstances, as 
restoring funding to 2015 levels would be less than what Copeland had received.

The motion regarding standing in solidarity and writing a letter for Cumbria 
County Council, would also not happen as he had no jurisdiction over Cumbria 
County Council and he could not act on behalf of another council.

Under the legislation of Elected Mayors, a resolution cannot be put forward for 
a by-election. The only way a by-election can happen is if he chose to stand 
down. The only way of removing an Elected Mayor is an election at the end of 
the four year term.

Councillor David Moore raised a Point of Order, stating that a motion could not 
be put at the end of a meeting and that Council had not had the opportunity to 
debate it. Council had just questioned the Mayor for three hours.  He suggested 
that if the motion was being opened up for debate, then another meeting would 
be needed.

The Chair declared a two minute adjournment whilst he consulted the 
Monitoring Officer.

Page 10



When the meeting re-convened, the Monitoring Officer advised that ordinarily, 
Councillor Moore was correct and if motions had been moved earlier in the 
meeting or at the start of the meeting there would have been ample time for 
debate around the motions being moved. The issue was that we were on a 
Teams Live platform and have been on this platform for three hours and it’s 
likely to remove us. If we moved to a debate it’s likely to cut out on that.

The other issue was that the Monitoring Officer was aware that Councillor Doug 
Wilson had requested an amendment to the proposed motion, which he was 
entitled to do.

It was suggested that because there was no concensus, that the debate continue 
and the amendment from Councillor Doug Wilson be heard.

The Monitoring Officer further stated that the issues so far had been amply 
debated, so suggested that the proposed amendment be heard and then a vote 
be held on that.

At this point Councillor Doug Wilson requested an amendment to the Motion,
stating that he had issues with the wording of the motion and found some of the 
language used was not the type of language that should be used in Council. He 
suggested that ‘the Council demands’ is not really something that should be 
used but should be written into a proper and more respectful motion in order to 
represent the fundamental principles of democracy.

In response, Councillor Michael McVeigh restated that it was not Councillor 
Doug Wilson’s requisition but Labours, however, he could to have the word 
‘demands’ removed.

Councillor McVeigh stated he “was disappointed that the Monitoring Officer 
should think that we would go back to a minority party telling us what our 
requisition is, I’m absolutely appalled.”

In response to Councillor McVeigh, the Monitoring Officer stated, “I have not 
asked for anything here. This is something that has been brought forward by 
Councillor Doug Wilson.”

Due to time constraints, Councillor Michael McVeigh suggested the meeting be 
adjourned until a later date. 
Councillor Ged McGrath seconded this suggestion.

The Chair formally adjourned the meeting to a date to be arranged.
The meeting stood adjourned at 7.10 pm

Chair

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



COUNCIL

MINUTES OF RE-CONVENED EXTRAORDINARY MEETING HELD ON 
TUESDAY, 22 SEPTEMBER 2020

Present: Mayor Mike Starkie, 
Councillors  David Banks, Jackie Bowman, Graham Calvin, Gemma Dinsdale, 
Gwynneth Everett, Allan Forster, Jeanette Forster, Mike Hawkins, Tom Higgins, 
Linda Jones-Bulman, Joan Hully, John Kane, Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, 
Graham Minshaw, Steven Morgan, Sam Pollen and Eileen Weir.

Officers: Pat Graham (Chief Executive), Sarah Pemberton (Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial Strategy (Monitoring Officer)), Steven Brown (Director 
of Financial Resources), Clinton Boyce (Solicitor), Mike Graham (Political 
Advisor), Stephanie Shaw (Electoral and Democratic Services Manager) and 
Clive Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer).

C 20/32 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Charles Maudling (Chair), 
Hugh Branney, James Date, Fred Gleaves, Jeffrey Hailes, Ged McGrath, David 
Moore, Brian O’Kane, Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Carl Walmsley, Doug 
Wilson and Felicity Wilson (Deputy Chair).

C 20/33 Appointment of Chair for the meeting 

In the absence of both the Chair and Deputy Chair, it was moved by Councillor 
Michael McVeigh and duly seconded that Councillor Steven Morgan be 
appointed Chair for the meeting. 

With no other nominations and following a 30 second pause to allow for any 
Member to indicate otherwise, it was: -

RESOLVED – That Councillor Steven Morgan be appointed Chair for the meeting. 

Councillor Steven Morgan in the Chair.

C 20/34 Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items 

There were no Declarations of Interest made.

Public Document Pack

Page 13



C 20/35 Requisition, made under rule 3.1(b) of chapter 5 of the Constitution, 
received from Councillors Michael McVeigh, Gwynneth Everett, John Kane, 
Allan Forster and Sam Pollen  for an extraordinary meeting of Council to be 
held, such signed requisition being attached to this agenda. 

Councillor Michael McVeigh as Labour Group Leader refreshed Council by 
restating a slightly amended Motion to that which had been presented to 
Council on 8 September that:

1) “This Council notes that the Mayor of Copeland, having joined a political 
party, has betrayed the electorate who voted overwhelmingly for an 
independent mayor.

2) This council notes that the austerity cuts faced by people in Copeland 
have been disproportionately high, and have devastated services. We 
express solidarity with our colleagues at Cumbria County Council, and 
recognise that cuts to their budget impact on the lives of people in our 
borough. This Labour Group respectfully requests, therefore, that the 
Mayor uses his new found political allegiance, and direct line to the Prime 
Minister, to demand forthwith that the Government restores to 2015 
levels the central government funding grant for both Copeland Borough 
and Cumbria County Councils. This must be done publicly, and by letter to 
local government minister.

3) Furthermore, this Labour group respectfully requests that, in order to 
respect the fundamental principles of democracy, under which he was 
elected, the Mayor must resign his position and seek re-election via a by-
election. This should be announced immediately, with the election carried 
out in May 2021. Holding the election at this time will minimise cost, 
because there are already County Council elections taking place, and 
should also ensure enough time has passed that the election can be held 
safely, from a Covid-19 perspective. The Mayor may continue in post on 
an interim basis until the election can be held.”    

The motion was seconded by Councillor Eileen Weir.

Mayor Mike Starkie was given the opportunity to respond and in response to 
the motions, he repeated his reply from the 8 September meeting and re-stated 
that he could categorically say that writing to the Government would not 
happen under any circumstances, as restoring funding to 2015 levels would be 
less than what Copeland had received. 

Page 14



The motion regarding standing in solidarity and writing a letter for Cumbria 
County Council, would also not happen as he had no jurisdiction over Cumbria 
County Council and he could not act on behalf of another council. 

Under the legislation of Elected Mayors, a resolution cannot be put forward for 
a by-election. The only way a by-election can happen is if he chose to stand 
down. The only way of removing an Elected Mayor is an election at the end of 
the four year term.

The Chair suggested that enough time had been spent on this item and asked 
Council if they wished to go to a vote or debate further.
Members requested that the debate continue.

Questions were then taken from Members.

Councillor McVeigh stated that Cumbria County Council was our biggest partner 
and we should be working closely with them. He continued that the simplest 
resolution to the current situation was for the Mayor to return to the ballot box.

The Mayor responded referring to the answers previously given. He then asked 
Councillor McVeigh why Egremont Town Council was working on behalf of 
Copeland Labour Group. 

Councillor McVeigh replied that Egremont Town Council had been copied in as 
part of information gathering and that as he had no printer, he goes to the Town 
Council for printing.

Councillor Kane suggested that the Mayor had defrauded the public by joining 
the Conservative Party and should put himself up for election again.

The Mayor re-stated that his policies had not changed.

Councillor Hawkins clarified the position regarding the County Council, that 
although Conservatives were the largest party, the Lib Dems had joined with 
Labour to form a majority.
He further stated that the Mayor had been elected as an Independent and now 
he has joined the Conservatives, he should call an election. 

In response, the Mayor stated that in the County Council elections Labour and 
Lib Dems together received less votes than the Conservatives.
He again stated that he stood as an individual.
The Mayor stated that he had answered all the questions put to him, but the 
questions were being repeated.

Page 15



Councillor Pollen did not wish for the debate to continue, but noted that the 
meeting had been extended due to an amendment from a Conservative 
member that had been subsequently withdrawn. He stated that Councillors had 
been working hard during the Covid-19 pandemic and it was possible emails had 
gone to others in error.
Councillor Pollen asked the Chair to move to a vote as soon as possible. 

The Mayor responded that Egremont Town Council should not have been 
included on the requisition.
He continued that Copeland had led the way on the Covid-19 response and 
Egremont had benefitted from that.

Councillor Pollen asked the Mayor to refrain from personal attacks going 
forward.

Councillor Calvin stated that he did not know who was in the Momentum cell 
being referred to, nor did he like the term Marxist.
He then stated that the Mayor could not buy democracy.

Councillor Weir took exception to Councillor Moore’s comments in the 
Whitehaven News, stating that all Councillors were entitled to speak for five 
minutes and with 32 Councillors, this would take time. 
Councillor Weir continued that virtual meetings don’t cost the Council money.

The Mayor replied that virtual meeting do cost money, not least in Officer time.

Councillor Dinsdale referred to the Mayor’s comments regarding inappropriate 
behaviour at a private meeting, which was the subject of an ongoing code of 
conduct complaint and asked why he had raised it in a public meeting.

The Mayor replied that the private meeting held just after he had joined the 
Conservative party, was open to all Councillors and was cut short by the 
immature behaviour of one Councillor.
    
With no further questions, the Chair asked that the meeting move to a vote.

At this point, a recorded vote was requested by Councillors Michael McVeigh, 
Graham Calvin, Allan Forster, Mike Hawkins, Eileen Weir and 
Linda Jones-Bulman.

Page 16



A recorded vote was then taken by way of a roll call. 

For the Motion-
Councillors David Banks, Jackie Bowman, Graham Calvin, Gemma Dinsdale, 
Gwynneth Everett, Allan Forster, Jeanette Forster, Mike Hawkins, Tom Higgins,  
Joan Hully, Linda Jones-Bulman, John Kane, Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, 
Graham Minshaw, Sam Pollen and Eileen Weir.

Against the Motion-
None. 

Abstentions –
Councillor Steven Morgan and Mayor Mike Starkie. 

On a vote of 17 For, 0 Against and 2 Abstentions the Motion was declared
CARRIED.

Members were reminded that the next Full Council meeting would follow at 
2:00pm

The Meeting closed at 1.30 pm 

Chair

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



COUNCIL

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 22 SEPTEMBER 2020

Present: Councillor Felicity Wilson (Deputy Chair in the Chair), Mayor Mike 
Starkie, Councillors David Banks, Jackie Bowman, Hugh Branney, Graham Calvin, 
James Date, Gemma Dinsdale, Gwynneth Everett, Allan Forster, 
Jeanette Forster, Fred Gleaves, Jeffrey Hailes, Mike Hawkins, Tom Higgins, 
Linda Jones-Bulman, Joan Hully, Ged McGrath, Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, 
Graham Minshaw, David Moore, Steven Morgan, Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen, 
Andy Pratt, Russell Studholme, Peter Tyson and Eileen Weir.

Officers: Pat Graham (Chief Executive), Sarah Pemberton (Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial Strategy (Monitoring Officer)), Steven Brown (Director 
of Financial Resources), Clinton Boyce (Solicitor), Mike Graham (Political 
Advisor), Stephanie Shaw (Electoral and Democratic Services Manager), Clive 
Willoughby (Democratic Services Officer) and Rose Blaney (Electoral and 
Democratic Services Officer).

C 20/36 Attendances and Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Charles Maudling (Chair), 
John Kane, Carl Walmsley and Doug Wilson.

C 20/37 Minutes of the Annual General meeting held on 21 May 2020 and the 
Extra-Ordinary meetings held on 21 May 2020, 14 July 2020 and 
8 September 2020 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Annual General meeting held on 21 May 
2020, and the Extra-Ordinary meetings held on 21 May 2020, 14 July 2020 and 8 
September 2020 be signed by the Deputy Chair as a correct record.

C 20/38 Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items 

Councillor Joan Hully declared a non-pecuniary interest in the Agenda due to 
being in receipt of housing benefits, Chair of Cleator Moor Town Council and a 
Director of Regen North East Copeland.

Councillor Linda Jones-Bulman declared a non-pecuniary interest in the Agenda 
due to being a Cleator Moor Town Councillor.

Public Document Pack

Page 19



C 20/39 Chair's Announcements 

The Deputy Chair thanked the Officers and Councillors of Copeland for the work 
they had undertaken so far during the Covid-19 period.

C 20/40 Petitions 

It was noted that no petitions had been received from members of the public.

C 20/41 Questions from Members of the Public 

It was noted that no questions had been received from members of the public.

C 20/42 Questions by Members 

a) Written Questions 

Councillor Eileen Weir had submitted the following question: -

"Can the Council provide information as to whether Hazel Blears is appointed in 
an advisory capacity or on a particular Board of Directors at Sellafield.”

In response, The Mayor stated that this was an NDA appointment, not a Council 
appointment.  Hazel Blears’ role was to provide advice to the whole of the NDA 
group on how to increase the Social, Economic and Environmental impact of its 
work to decommission and clean up the UK’s oldest nuclear sites. She is a 
nationally recognised expert in this field and is the chair of a social investment 
business and a trustee of a social mobility foundation. She is a former cabinet 
minister and during her time as an MP was one of the authors of the Social 
Value Act. The Mayor said he was delighted to hear of the appointment.  

b) Oral Questions 

Question from Councillor Mike Hawkins
Regarding the grant from Government for the Covid-19 response, it was 
estimated that up to July 2020 the Council spend would be £2million, is there 
any indication what the final cost may be?

In response the Director of Financial Resources advised that to date £859k of 
income had been received from Government as emergency funding, £130k new 
burdens funding for business rates and a scheme in place for loss of fees and 
charges.

Page 20



A £984k estimated overspend was reported to Executive to be funded from 
General Reserves, but it must be remembered that it was early in the financial 
year and the Executive would be kept updated.

Question from Councillor Jackie Bowman
There were two Extraordinary Council meetings on 8 September, but there are 
only minutes for one and should the points of order raised at the second 
Extraordinary Council meeting have been dealt with at the time?

In response it was stated that the second Extraordinary Council meeting on 8 
September was adjourned and concluded just 30 minutes before this meeting. 
The minutes will be prepared and added to the agenda for the next ordinary 
Council meeting.
The Monitoring Officer advised that ordinarily, points of order would be 
addressed at the time, however, that meeting was adjourned abruptly. These 
would however, be picked up in the minutes.

C 20/43 Mayor's Executive Report 

Mayor, Mike Starkie introduced and moved his Executive Report.

The report was seconded by Councillor David Moore.

Questions were then invited from Councillors.

Question Councillor Weir: 
Regarding discussions with Radioactive Waste Management and the possibility 
of a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) located in an Inshore area, could a map be 
provided showing the boundary of the Lake District National Park which will be 
excluded from consideration and would Copeland still have control of any 
consultation outcome if the devolution of Cumbria is divided to include Allerdale 
and Carlisle.   

Response Councillor Moore:
The Inshore area extends out to 22.5km from the high water mark and includes 
the entire coastal stretch of Copeland. A map showing the boundary of the Lake 
District National Park can be provided. Unable to comment on any future 
devolution.

Question Councillor Pollen:
Copeland Borough Council has declared an interest in forming a working group 
to discuss GDF. Can Councillor Moore confirm it does not pre-suppose support 

Page 21



for a GDF and that the Position Statement on GDF remains unchanged. Could he 
also provide clarity on Government funding for nuclear new build?

Response Councillor Moore:
The decision was taken by Executive to engage as Copeland Borough Council 
wanted to set out clear terms. Three other parties had expressed an interest in 
Copeland. The Council want some control in this area and to ensure the Lake 
District National Park was excluded.
With regard to Government funding for nuclear new build, a white paper 
isexpected to be issued within the next few weeks.
 
Question Councillor Pollen:
Previous nuclear new build plans in the UK have failed due to lack of 
Government investment, GDF position statements should be discussed at Full 
Council and it is important that the Council stays neutral on this subject, but 
remains involved in discussions. 
Response Councillor Moore:
Stated there is a lot of interest in the Moorside site.

Response Mayor Starkie:
For clarity, Moorside failed when Toshiba ran into financial difficulties.

Question Councillor Hawkins:
Regarding the partnership with Newsquest, is there a cost to the Council?

Response Mayor Starkie:
There is no cost. The newspaper is supporting the local community and 
businesses.

Question Councillor Hawkins:
Face to face appointments have commenced, how many have there been and 
how is the message getting out?

Response Mayor Starkie:
So far, there have been no appointments as meetings have been held by phone. 
The Council is using all the usual channels to get the message out, but this is a 
constantly changing area as Covid restrictions and advice is updated.

Question Councillor Hawkins:
Are we expecting any decisions on the Town Deal soon?

Page 22



Response Mayor Starkie:
The Whitehaven decision is due first and that is expected in the next couple of 
months, however, we should hear about accelerated funding for Cleator Moor 
and Millom very soon.

Question Councillor Hawkins:
What is the cost of setting up the Town Deal Boards?

Response Mayor Starkie:
There is no cost to Copeland Borough Council.

Question Councillor Calvin:
When the working parties for GDF are set up, will the local residents have a say, 
will there be a referendum?

Response Councillor Moore:
The working parties will identify areas that can be ruled out. If areas of interest 
are identified RWM will set up Community Interest Groups, including Parish, 
District and County Councillors. There has to be community support, but it is 
unclear as to what that is at present. This would be a community led process 
and the community could withdraw at any time.

Question Councillor Hailes:
Regarding the Beacon, the Wellington Bistro has been closed for some time, 
why have we waited so long to do something with it and what was the income 
generated by the previous owners. 
The Beacon Portal is a fantastic building with great views of the harbour, it is not 
used enough and could be a great income generator.

Response Councillor Morgan:
There is currently a competition looking for a replacement for the café. 
The marketing of the Beacon Portal is currently being looked at.
Regarding the income generated from the previous owner, that information will 
be obtained and provided to Councillor Hailes.

Question Councillor McGrath:
Regarding the Housing Benefits Overpayment, is the figure increasing or static?

Response from the Director of Financial Resources:
The outstanding balance has reduced over the last few years, however active 
recovery is currently on hold and the balance is increasing slightly.

Page 23



Question Councillor McGrath:
Regarding footway lighting, where are we in the process as most parish councils 
are looking at the budgets for next year.

Response Councillor Morgan:
We are working with the County Council on footway lighting and hope to be 
able to provide guidance to parishes as soon as possible.
Question Councillor McVeigh:
What is the Moorside Clean Energy Hub and what progress is being made?

Response Councillor Moore:
Clearly there is a need and desire for clean energy. All options are being 
considered, but there is nothing definite at this time. When opportunities are 
being firmed up, a report will come to Council.

Response from the Chief Executive:
Clean energy is the future. Copeland is well placed and there are many 
opportunities here to lead the decarbonising agenda. 

Question Councillor O’Kane:
When problems arise with the recycling collections, the communication is falling 
down, can this be reviewed please?

Response Councillor Morgan:
Was aware of the problem and advised that the Copeland website had the 
details, however, it was not accurate. He apologised to the residents affected 
and agreed to review the communications. 

Question Councillor Jones-Bulman:
Do we have a new recycling vehicle and enough staff to cover the service?

Response Councillor Morgan:
Over the last 3-4 months we have had up to 40% absentee rates and a few 
disciplinary issues. It’s been found that we did not have enough equipment of 
the correct type.
The Green waste collection has been reduced this year and at the same time, 
the amount of recycling has more than doubled since Covid began.

Question Councillor Jones-Bulman:
Are the new vehicles smaller?

Response from the Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy:
There is a smaller vehicle for more rural areas.

Page 24



A new vehicle has been on order for 9 months and is still awaited.
Five rounds have been scheduled now instead of the previous four.
Since Covid and more people working from home, the number of problems with 
parked vehicles has increased.

Question Councillor Branney:
Regarding the difficulty with waste collection, could the Council not rely on the 
internet for getting the message out to rural areas as a lot of his neighbourhood 
do not have a connection.

Question Councillor Weir:
Asked if developers on new estates were responsible for the footway lights and 
in what circumstances would managing and maintaining footway lighting not be 
required. 
Also, in the Procurement Briefing Note, is the footway lighting inspection 
contract in collaboration with Cumbria County Council  

Response Councillor Morgan:
As far as he is aware, the developer is responsible for footway lighting on new 
estates. Those that are the responsibility of the County Council are maintained 
by them, others are the responsibility of the parishes.

Question Councillor Studholme:
There appears to be an increase in vermin since Covid-19, what has been the 
impact on Pest Control?

Response Councillor Morgan:
The Pest Control area needs to be marketed better to ensure the public know it 
is there.

Response from the Chief Executive:
The Environmental Protection Team who are delivering business as usual, track 
& trace and business compliance. The team have been extremely busy during 
the Covid period and they are providing a service we can be very proud of.

Question Councillor McVeigh:
Asked if the ‘Buy Local’ co-ordinator was an internal appointment or a voluntary 
post and if there was any feedback. 

Response from the Mayor:
The new officer has been in post three weeks and is currently working with 
Whitehaven Town Council. Initial feedback from businesses is very strong and 

Page 25



positive. The officer will be in touch with other towns and parishes shortly 
where a full briefing will be given.

Question Councillor Jeanette Forster:
Regarding the rodent population, is this work chargeable?

Response Councillor Morgan:
There are occasions when the Council will do this work without charge, 
depending on who owns the land. Any instances should be notified to the 
Environment Protection Team.

Response from the Mayor:
The Environment Protection Team are doing a fantastic job and he highly 
commends them. 
This was supported by the Chief Executive.

Question Councillor Pollen:
Regarding Town Centre regeneration, he thanked the Mayor and others for the 
work they have done so far, however, there is no update for Egremont, which he 
finds disappointing and invites the Mayor to the Town Council to discuss.

Response from the Mayor:
Egremont is very much on the agenda, but not in the public domain at present.
The Council is looking at investment with other partners, but he was unable to 
give details at the present time. The Mayor stated he would be happy to discuss 
further with Egremont Town Council.

Question Councillor McVeigh:
Stated that funding for Flood defences in Egremont started in 2009 by ex-
Councillor Elaine Woodburn.

Question Councillor McGrath:
In Councillor Pratt’s section of the report, it doesn’t include anything about the 
Environmental Health Team, did he have any comments to make.
Response from Councillor Pratt:
Yes, the report from the team was too late for the agenda, however, he advised 
Council that in the period 16 March – 22 Sept last year, 727 enquiries were 
received, this year in the same period the figure was 1732.
The Housing Teams workload was up 500%. The teams are doing extremely well 
and are a credit to the Council. 

Page 26



Question Councillor Weir:
The Housing Needs Survey that was undertaken recently during the Covid 
period. Should this be undertaken after Covid?

Response from Councillor Pratt:
This was a comprehensive survey undertaken by an independent company and 
the results have already been to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Question Councillor Calvin:
Residents in Moor Row have asked for wheelie bins instead of bags, but are not 
keeping at the rear of their properties, thus blocking the footway, can anything 
be done to remind residents?

Response Councillor Morgan:
Agreed this was a problem and undertook to speak to the Waste Management 
Team, possibly with a view to adding reminder stickers to the wheelie bins.

Following a 30 second pause to allow for any Member to indicate otherwise, it 
was

RESOLVED: That the Mayor’s Executive report be noted.  

C 20/44 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 

The Deputy Chair presented the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Annual 
report for 2019/20. 

Councillor Felicity Wilson moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor 
Steven Morgan.

Councillor Mike Hawkins stated that the appointment of an Empty Homes 
Officer had been a good move by the Council. He asked if anything could be 
done with the empty Care Homes and if pressure could be put on the new 
owners.

Councillor F Wilson added that a task and finish group was going to be set up to 
look at issues of this type.

Councillor Branney supported Councillor Hawkins and added that Dent Home in 
Cleator Moor was still empty. 

Councillor McVeigh emphasised the importance of scrutiny going forward.

Page 27



A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call. 

Councillor Pollen agreed that scrutiny was vital for the Council going forward. He 
also thanked the Chair, Vice-Chair and Officer for their hard work over the last 
year.
 
On a vote of 29 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstention, it was therefore:-

RESOLVED: that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Annual report 2019/20 
be noted. 

C 20/45 Outside Bodies Annual Report 

Councillor David Moore introduced the Outside Bodies Annual Report 2019/20, 
but expressed his disappointment at the 52% return rate from Councillors. He 
asked that all Councillors who sit on an outside body complete the feedback 
form in future. 

Councillor Moore moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor Andy 
Pratt.

Councillor Hawkins expressed his gratitude to Councillor Walmsley for his work 
in Mirehouse with the ‘Mind your Marras’ work on men’s mental health.

Councillor Branney apologised for his non-return as he had not received the 
forms due to not having access to the internet.

Councillor McGrath referred to Councillor Dinsdale’s report stating that being on 
the Police and Crime Panel was pointless and asked if any other Councillors felt 
the same on their outside bodies.

Councillor Moore replied that if any member felt they were not getting the most 
out of their outside body they should notify the group leader.

Councillor Dinsdale confirmed that she wanted to be on the Police and Crime 
Panel, but sometimes felt she was not being listened to. Councillor Dinsdale 
asked if there was any training available for her, so that she can make the most 
of her appointment. 

Councillor Calvin, agreed with Councillor Moore and stated how much he 
enjoyed being on his Outside Body.

Page 28



Councillor Allan Forster stated he had sent in his report as Armed Forces 
Champion.

The Mayor commended Councillor Forster for the fantastic job he has done for 
Copeland as Armed Forces Champion.

Councillor Bowman also congratulated Councillor Forster.
She also asked if training for Councillors on outside bodies could be arranged.

A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call. 

On a vote of 29 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstention, it was therefore:-

RESOLVED: that the Outside Bodies Annual Report 2019/20 be noted.

C 20/46 Outside Bodies Amendments 

Consideration was given to a report, which, due to changes in the Mayor’s 
Executive, required amendments to the Outside Bodies. 

Mayor Mike Starkie moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor David 
Moore. In seconding the report, Councillor Moore asked that recommendation 
a) be amended to read West Cumbria Hospital Stakeholder Group.

A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call. 

On a vote of 29 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstention, it was therefore:-

RESOLVED: that 
a) the amendments to the representations to the Greenwich Leisure
           Limited Board and West Cumbria Hospital Stakeholder Group be 
           agreed, and
b) the consequential changes to the portfolio titles be noted.

C 20/47 Update on Copeland Borough Council's Town Centres Programme - The 
Government's Future High Streets Fund Opportunity for Whitehaven and 
Towns Fund Opportunities for Cleator Moor and Millom 

Consideration was given to a report, which updated members on Copeland 
Borough Council’s Town Centres Programme – The Government’s Future High 
Streets Fund Opportunity for Whitehaven and Towns Fund Opportunities for 
Cleator Moor and Millom. 

Page 29



Mayor Mike Starkie moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor David 
Moore.

A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call. 

On a vote of 29 For, 0 Against and 0 Abstention, it was therefore:-

RESOLVED – That 
a) Subject to (i) the applications being successful and (ii) the Chief Executive in 

consultation with the Elected Mayor and Chair of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee being satisfied with any grant conditions imposed that the 
proposed receipt of up to £24,000,000 against current applications to both 
the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government and Sellafield 
Ltd Social Impact Fund to invest in our towns be approved with spend then 
being dealt with in accordance with schemes submitted and in accordance 
with contract standing orders and financial regulations and otherwise in 
accordance with the Council’s constitution; and

b) the composition of the Cleator Moor and Millom Town Deal Boards as 
required by the Towns Funds programme be noted and that the Copeland 
Borough Council Board member on each Board be confirmed as Councillor 
Hugh Branney and Councillor Felicity Wilson respectively. 

C 20/48 Business and Planning Act 2020: Chief Executive's Urgent Decision 

Council was advised of an urgent action decision taken by the Chief Executive on 
24th July 2020.

Councillor Andy Pratt moved the report, which was seconded by Councillor 
David Moore.

Councillor Bowman commented that she was concerned that some outside 
seating was causing an obstruction for partially sighted and had no barriers 
around them. Was this being policed?

Councillor Pratt advised that if there were issues of this kind, they should be 
raised with the enforcement officers.

Councillor Jones-Bulman agreed with Councillor Bowman and was also 
concerned about the Licensing and the time outside seating should finish.

Councillor Pratt advised that legislation was changing almost daily, but the 
police and/or enforcement would be following up to any that failed to comply 
with their licence.

Page 30



Councillor Hully declared an interest at this point, due to being partially sighted.

Councillor Meteer asked what the relationship was between Copeland as the 
Licensing authority and Cumbria County Council as Highways authority and how 
it was going to work.

The Chief Executive clarified that this emergency legislation was brought in as a 
response to unlocking the town centres post the first critical phase of Covid-19 
in order to help expand the footprint of businesses and help them to survive. 
With regard accessibility and licensing, the Chief Executive stated she would 
have to come back to Council with an answer on that question.
The Environmental Protection Team have advised every business on what they 
can and can’t do. It was stated that a number of applications could not be 
supported due to the impact they would have on social distancing. Councillors 
were asked to notify the Council if they had specific concerns. 
The Chief Executive also advised that details would be provided in the next 
Member briefing. 

Councillor Branney requested that any briefing be sent out in hard copy to him 
and this was agreed by the Chief Executive.

A vote was then taken, by way of a roll call. 

On a vote of 28 For, 1 Against and 0 Abstention, it was therefore:-

RESOLVED: that the urgent action decision to implement matters arising from 
the Business and Planning Act 2020, which received Royal Assent on 22nd July 
2020 and coming into force, in respect of certain provisions, immediately be 
noted.

C 20/49 Date and Time of the Next Meeting 

It was noted that the next meeting of Council would be held at 2:00pm on 
Tuesday 15th December 2020.This will be a virtual meeting.

The Meeting closed at 4.40 pm 

Chair

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



Full Council 151220 

1 
 

Executive Report to Full Council – 15th December 2020 

Strategic Leadership - Mayor Mike Starkie 

Communications  
 
The Communications team continue to work closely with the Mayor, our Directors, 
colleagues and partners to keep our community informed of the ever-changing situation 
with regards Covid-19.  This has included the rollout of business support grants and Test and 
Trace payments, emergency support for residents, and business advice around Covid 
compliance. 
 
The team continue to be represented on the countywide media group to generate and 
share consistent messages around safety, restrictions/enforcement, testing and 
economic/tourism recovery. 
 
Our Shop Local: Keep it in Copeland campaign continues to feature prominently online, on 
social media and in the local press, with a whole range of businesses from across the 
borough benefiting from dedicated coverage. 
 
We marked October’s Domestic Violence Awareness Month with extensive promotion of 
the support service offered within our Housing team, and included testimonies from 
individuals who have been helped to leave abusive homes. 
 
Our recycling communications campaign continues with frequent social media posts and 
media releases. Key topics have included advice on dealing with excess recycling due to 
lockdown and Christmas deliveries, and managing expectations around some collections 
due to the current crisis. 
 
Additionally, consultations into our budget, Local Plan and conservation areas are being 
heavily promoted, while the team has supported the launch of the GDF Working Group in 
Copeland. 
 
Also attracting significant media coverage there has been: 

 Free parking for our car parks – both for lockdown and over the festive period 

 Invitation for young people to register an interest in taking a stall at Whitehaven 
Market 

 The launch of our Health and Wellbeing team 

 Copeland Work & Skills Partnership’s annual report 

 Our Planning team surpassing quarterly targets 

Revenues 

Council Tax Collection Rate 
 

 31.10.20 31.10.19 +/- 

Council Tax 65.10% 66.11% -1.01% 

Page 33

Agenda Item 8



Full Council 151220 

2 
 

 
The Council Tax collection rate is currently down on the same time last year by 1.01%. The 
impact of COVID19 naturally causing most of this reduction. In addition, the Council made 
the right decision to freeze statutory recovery during lockdown 2. Reminders for non-
payment will be issued post 2nd December and the council has a scheduled court date 
planned for early February 21.   
 
The COVID Council Tax Hardship Fund reduction of £300 for working age local council tax 
support recipients was processed in August. The council tax team continue to assess 
hardship applications via this scheme. As expected, the majority of support is awarded by 
our Benefits team through the Local Council Tax Support scheme.  
 
Business Rates Collection Rate 
 

 31.10.20  31.10.19 +/- 

Business Rates 90.66%  89.25% +1.41% 

 
The Business Rates collection rate is up on the same time last year. 100% business rates 
relief to the retail, leisure and hospitality sectors is assisting here, along with a number of 
business rates payers choosing to pay their yearly charge in March/April 20.  
 
COVID19 Business Grant Schemes: 
 

 Date Available Amount Paid No of Businesses 
Supported 

Small Business & Retail 
Leisure & Hospitality Grant 
Scheme 

23.03.20 – 
31.08.20 

£15,510,000 1,359 

Local Authority Small 
Business Discretionary 
Grant Fund 

01.06.20 – 
31.08.20 

£850,000 143 

Lockdown 2 Local 
Restrictions Support Grant 
for Closed premises 
(awarded as at 27.11.20) 

05.11.20 – 
02.12.20 

£700,000 492 

Lockdown 2 Additional 
Restrictions Support grant 
for open but impacted 
businesses (awarded as at 
27.11.20) 

05.11.20 – 
02.12.20 

£110,000 93 

Total  £17,170,000 2,087 

 
In addition to the above, grant support will be available to support those businesses that 
must remain closed as a result of the Tier 2 restrictions that are effective from 03.12.20. Full 
details regarding ongoing financial business support will be communicated as soon as it is 
available.  

Page 34



Full Council 151220 

3 
 

Housing Benefit Overpayments 
 
All active recovery is still on hold for the moment.  The current outstanding balance is 
£802,324.25 as at 5th November 2020. 
 
Discretionary Housing Payments 
 
Applications for Discretionary Housing Payments continue to be made. Currently 166 
successful DHP awards have been made with a further 81 unsuccessful awards. 
Following the impact of welfare reforms a total of 84% of successful awards have been 
granted based on the removal of spare room subsidy with the remain 16% split over impact 
due to benefit cap, LHA restriction or combination of reforms/additional impact. 
Current DHP spend for 2020/2021 stands as follows:  
 

Date 2020/2021 DHP 
total allocation 

Total spend % of Allocation 
Spend 

Remaining Fund 

30.11.2020 £207,191 £131,060 63% £76,130 

 
Based on all applications received to date, a total of 29 applications made were as a direct 
result to claimants’ financial circumstances due to COVID-19. 
 
Economic Development 
 
Town Centre Regeneration: 
Future High Streets Funding (FHSF) 
 
In October, we were asked to provide clarifications against our submission to Future High 
Streets Fund as part of an exercise carried out with all applicants.  Following that exercise, 
the Council at the time of writing, is still waiting to hear from the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) regarding the success of our submission for 
Whitehaven.  The bid is intended to transform the core of the town centre with a focus on 
King Street and its links with the harbour.  It aims to renew the high street with new uses to 
drive growth and ensure future sustainability, while addressing the impacts of Covid on 
Whitehaven and particularly King Street. 
 
Town Deal Funding 
 
Both Cleator Moor and Millom continue to work at pace to develop their Town Investment 
Plans (TIPs) for submission in January.  The Boards have both agreed their Town Visions and 
strategic objectives and have reduced long-lists of projects down to priority investment 
themes.   
 
Hatch Consulting are providing technical support to the Boards and Council on the TIP 
development, including economic analysis; urban design, project costings and graphic 
design and ACTion with Communities in Cumbria are supporting the Boards in developing 
their stakeholder engagement plans. 
 

Page 35



Full Council 151220 

4 
 

In September 2020, MHCLG wrote to the Council confirming both Cleator Moor and Millom 
had received grants of £500,000 to fund capital projects in each town.  Both towns are 
spending on projects that will address some of the immediate challenges in each town that 
are deliverable by March 2021.  Investment is already underway in Millom against Millom 
Park and the Norman Nicholson trail; with remaining projects in Millom and Cleator Moor in 
the process of securing planning or undertaking procurement to ensure delivery. 
 
Diversification and Growth: 
Connecting Cumbria’s Hidden Coast Programme 
 
Our Connecting Cumbria’s Hidden Coast initiative is still progressing well, with work 
continuing during lockdown to maintain momentum with the programme and provide a 
base for economic recovery in our tourism industry: 

 Silecroft Beach Café:  Following a few unexpected delays we are due to appoint our 
chosen building contractor before Christmas and now anticipate that building work 
should commence in late January 2021 and be completed by the end of June. 

 The public art projects continue to develop with five artists now commissioned to 
prepare proposals for a coastal art trail. In addition, our art curator has invited another 
five high profile international artists to develop proposals for a landmark art 
competition. However, the landmark element has been delayed because some of the 
artists have not been able to travel due to COVID 19 restrictions. 

 A website showcasing the art programme and the Lake District Coast is due to be 
published in early 2021 and will host a specially commissioned film and new 
photography of the area as well as promoting the public art programme and the 
various commissioned artists. 

 Due to COVID restrictions, we have decided to postpone the launch of a Physical 
Challenge Event until summer 2022. Instead in 2021 there will be a virtual event 
organised which will act as a marketing and promotional exercise for the real event in 
order to maintain interest and momentum around the Run the Edge concept. Live 
updates will be posted using the website which has been set up for the event please 
see www.theedgerace.com        

 CCC has completed about 30% of the planned footpath route infrastructure work with 
further work to take place in 2021.  Planned improvements to signage at numerous 
footpath locations around St Bees and Beckermet have been fully completed by 
Cumbria County Council. 

 We are working collaboratively with Sustrans in supporting delivery of a realignment 
of Route 72 NCN near Seascale where it has been washed into the sea. This work will 
provide 1 kilometre of brand new multi user route built to the new improved national 
standards. 

 The feasibility study into the potential of developing the adventure/adrenaline market 
in Copeland is underway and due for publication in late January 2021. 

  

Page 36

http://www.theedgerace.com/


Full Council 151220 

5 
 

 
Shop Local: “Keep It in Copeland” campaign update 

The Shop Local Coordinator has been in post for 11 weeks, visited over 500 businesses in all 
areas of Copeland, and gathered real time information on how businesses are coping during 
the pandemic.  

Information data: 

 A high volume of convenience stores have seen growth on the same period last year. 

 Many of the food outlets have been quick to respond and transfer their service into 
a click and collect and delivery service. 

 Building and home improvement services have seen an increase work capacity this 
year; many people are working from home and have spent disposal income one their 
properties. 

 Estate agents are seeing an improvement on house sales due to incentive around 
stamp duty until end March 2021, and buyers looking to incorporate a home working 
space 

 Tech services have seen a vast improvement this year as people are taking their 
businesses online to create a more diverse service. 

 Training companies have taken the opportunity to put many of their courses online. 

 Pubs that do not sell food have been the hardest hit: reduced footfall, reduced 
opening hours and Covid restrictions have impacted any normal profit.  

 Hospitality accommodation, despite a 3-month increase in staycations (July – 
September) is suffering though closures. 
 

High Street shops have found this year a huge struggle, if we take Whitehaven as an 
example, 70% of the town centre shops are rented, the average rent in Whitehaven is 
higher than Workington and Cockermouth. This paired with lack of footfall means the 
retailers are finding it incredibly difficult to keep their businesses viable.   

Unfortunately, Banks are struggling to offer appointments for start-up businesses and 
mortgages due to branches not being open and working with Covid restrictions. 

Millom has the opposite challenge. There is no available retail or industrial space, however, 
there are five businesses wanting to expand in Millom and four businesses wanting to move 
into Millom. 

The Shop Local Coordinator has created a simple 4-point strategy to support all businesses 
in Copeland. 

 Direct business support 

 Online business directory and social media 

 Create partnerships 

 Grow our own economy 
 

By successfully developing this strategy, we will see these positive outcomes. 

 Cost effective 

 Boost footfall 

Page 37



Full Council 151220 

6 
 

 Create more jobs 

 Keep Copeland pound in Copeland  

 Reduce carbon footprint 

 Encourage people to live and work locally 

 Copeland inspiring young entrepreneurs 

 Help Build healthier communities 

 

Nuclear and Corporate Services – Deputy Mayor Councillor David Moore 

1 Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA) Update 
 
Strategy 4 
 
In August, the NDA launched a consultation on the draft of Strategy 4.  

The NDA’s Strategy implements UK decommissioning and radioactive waste management 
policy. The NDA also has responsibility for implementing geological disposal, supply chain 
development and socio-economic support for local communities. Schedule 2 of the Energy 
Act 2004 requires the NDA to review its Strategy at least every 5 years. 

As host to the Sellafield and LLWR sites, where some 75% of the Nuclear Decommissioning 
Authority’s (NDA) scope is delivered, Copeland and its communities have a particular 
interest in the implications of the new NDA Strategy. 

Following engagement with the NDA via SNEB, West Cumbria Sites Stakeholder Group, 
Nuclear Legacy Advisory Forum, stakeholder events and other meetings, the Council’s 
consultation response was developed through SNEB in reference to the following: 

 The Council’s agreed Nuclear Position Statements. 

 The Cumbria Nuclear Prospectus. 

 Previous responses to consultation on aspects of the NDA Strategy, NDA Business 
Plans and other relevant policy and regulatory matters. 

 NuLeAF’s draft consultation response and position papers on relevant matters. 

 WCSSG Enablers Group’s draft consultation response. 
 
The response, endorsed by Executive on 10th November, was submitted to the NDA. 

Following a review of all stakeholder comments, passage through NDA governance and 
Ministerial sign-off, the final Strategy 4 is due for publication in March 2021. 

Business Plan consultation 

The NDA’s business planning cycle runs on a three-yearly basis and an updated plan is 
published annually. A draft business plan is consulted on each year between December and 
February and finalised by March/April before being presented to Parliament, pursuant to 
Schedule 3 of the Energy Act 2004. 

Page 38



Full Council 151220 

7 
 

NDA colleagues attended SNEB on 10th November to present the draft Business Plan for 2021-
24. The Council’s response to the consultation will be developed through SNEB. 

Integrated Waste Programme 

The NDA’s Radioactive Waste Strategy, published in September 2019, included a 
commitment to create an Integrated Waste Management Programme, which would enable 
the whole of the nuclear industry to manage its radioactive waste in a more sustainable, 
efficient and integrated way, driving greater value for the UK taxpayer. The IWM 
programme was launched at a stakeholder event on 20th November. Corhyn Parr, the NDA’s 
Director of Integrated Waste Management, said: “We’re right at the start of our IWM 
journey, but we’re looking to reduce the costs of decommissioning, avoiding unnecessary 
use of resources such as waste packaging, conditioning and storage to make our sites safer, 
sooner.” 

2 The UK Government’s approach to identifying a site for a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) 
for higher-activity radioactive waste 
 
At the meeting in September I reported on the background and process leading up to the 
decision of the Executive on 21st July, that the Council opens up discussions with RWM Ltd 
with a view to establishing a Working Group in Copeland, to explore any potential suitable 
sites for consideration as a location for a GDF. The decision was made with the following 
conditions attached: 
 

1. That those areas of the Borough currently within the boundary of the Lake District 
National Park are excluded from any consideration from the outset 

2. That in recognition of the current Working with Communities (WwC) process which 
allows for a GDF to be located in an ‘in-shore area’, that the in-shore area off the coast 
of Copeland is worthy of consideration 

3. That the Council wants to see a credible and independent Chair appointed to the 
Working Group and that all the Councils legitimate costs of engaging in the process 
are covered 
 

Following this, a number of meetings with RWM and the other Interested Parties were held 
to discuss a range of issues that needed to be considered in the process leading up to the 
launch of a Working Group. 

Forming a Working Group is the first formal step in the Government’s ‘Working with 
Communities’ policy with 3 specific aims. The Working Group will engage with local people 
to begin to understand their views, based on achieving the twin aims of finding a suitable 
site and a willing host community, and will identify and propose a Search Area (or Areas) for 
further consideration. It will also recruit initial members for a Community Partnership, 
which could take the process further forward beyond a Working Group. As a reminder to 
Members the Council’s engagement at the Working Group stage does not presuppose 
support for a GDF in Copeland. According to the WwC process, any future decision on this 
matter will be subject to a future Test of Public Support (ToPS) much later in the process. 

Meetings with RWM and the other interested parties have considered a range of work 
streams for the Working Group including; 

Page 39



Full Council 151220 

8 
 

 Appointment of an Independent Chair – (Mark Cullinan has now been appointed to 
that role) 

 Establishing Terms of Reference 

 Appointing secretarial, facilitation and communications support 

 Considering membership 

 Establishing a work plan 

 Developing a Communications Plan for the launch and on-going work of the Group 
including the creation of a website and social media platforms 

 Consideration of arrangements for establishing a Community Partnership, should this 
be an agreed way forward, including the mechanism for distributing Community 
Investment Funding 
 

The culmination of the work up to the end of October was the media launch of the Copeland 
Working Group on 4th November. A Member briefing session for all Members of the Council 
was held on 3rd November to appraise councillors of the launch. On the day of the launch a 
Working Group website became live and this provides information about a range of topics, 
including the technical, safety and environmental aspects of a GDF, as well as details on how 
members of the public can get involved. The website can be viewed by following the link -
Working Group Copeland (workinginpartnership.org.uk). 

The first formal meeting of the Working Group took place on 19th November and future 
meetings are scheduled every month. The Working Group is expected to be in place for 
between 6 and 9 months. As well as the independent Chair, members of the Working Group 
include an independent facilitator along with representatives from the four interested 
parties, including the Council and Radioactive Waste Management (RWM – a subsidiary of 
the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority).  Copeland Association of Local Councils (CALC) 
have also been invited to join. The County Council has so far declined an invitation to attend 
the WG meetings. Reports of Working Group discussions will be made available via the 
website. The work of the Working Group is supported by a range of officers provided by 
RWM including secretarial and administrative support, community engagement and 
communications leads and technical advisors as required. Copeland Borough Council is 
represented by myself with appropriate officer support, the costs of which are eligible for 
recovery from RWM.  

Progress reports on the work of the WG will be submitted to the Councils Strategic Nuclear 
and Energy Board (SNEB) on a regular basis. Members may also be interested in viewing a 
podcast led by the Elected Mayor, on the Councils position relating to the Governments 
search for a suitable site and a willing host community for a GDF, via the following link 
https://youtu.be/qax0oXuaZ1o. 

3 Sellafield Update 
 
Chief Nuclear Inspector’s Report 
 
The UK’s chief nuclear inspector has highlighted progress in Sellafield Ltd.'s decommissioning 
programme in his annual report. Mark Foy, of the Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR), praised 
the preparation work for retrievals from legacy silos and referenced the completion of key 
decommissioning work including: 

Page 40

https://copeland.workinginpartnership.org.uk/
https://youtu.be/qax0oXuaZ1o


Full Council 151220 

9 
 

 Demolition of the First Generation Reprocessing Plant Stack 

 Removal of contaminated plant and equipment from a Special Nuclear Materials 
facility and;  

 The start of operations in the new Cyber Security Operations Centre, the first of its 
kind in the nuclear industry 
 

The report also highlighted the focus on improvements to ageing facilities and construction 
of new facilities to safely treat, store, and dispose of waste. 

The full report can be viewed here: http://news.onr.org.uk/2020/11/chief-nuclear-inspectors-
annual-report-on-great-britains-nuclear-industry-2/  
 

Annual Report and Accounts 

In October, Sellafield Ltd published its Annual Report and Accounts for 2019/20. 

The report highlights progress during the period in a number of areas: 

 Installation of retrievals equipment on the Magnox Swarf Storage Silos 

 Completion of the transfer of plutonium from Dounreay to Sellafield 

 Continued dismantling of the ventilation stack damaged by the Windscale Fire in 1957, 
and the First-Generation Reprocessing plant stack 

 Completion of the defueling of the Calder Hall reactors 

 Continued retrieval of fuel, waste and sludge from the First Generation Magnox 
Storage Pond and Pile Fuel Storage Pond 

 The start of construction of the SPRS Retreatment Plant 

 Investment in research and development (£79 million) 

 Recruitment of a new cohort of apprentices and graduates 

 Investment in the social impact multiplied programme (£9.4 million) 
 

New Enterprise Strategy 

On 10th November, Sellafield Ltd released a new Enterprise Strategy, which replaces the 
Corporate Strategy from 2017. 

The document includes updates to three strategic objectives to include sustainability, a focus 
on pace and the recognition that value is more than just financial. The main differences in this 
latest plan are the increased focus on lifetime, enterprise-wide value, on sustainability – 
environment, climate change and social impact, and on the focus of the mission on waste 
storage. It has also been designed to accommodate any changes following the NDA’s strategy 
4 consultation. 

The Enterprise Strategy document is available via the following link: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sellafield-ltd-enterprise-strategy-2020  

Environmental Emissions Report 

Radioactive discharges into the environment around Sellafield remain well below permitted 
limits, according to the latest figures. Each year Sellafield Ltd produces a report, which 

Page 41

http://news.onr.org.uk/2020/11/chief-nuclear-inspectors-annual-report-on-great-britains-nuclear-industry-2/
http://news.onr.org.uk/2020/11/chief-nuclear-inspectors-annual-report-on-great-britains-nuclear-industry-2/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sellafield-ltd-enterprise-strategy-2020


Full Council 151220 

10 
 

provides summaries of radioactive and non-radioactive discharges (aerial and liquid) and 
disposals of solid waste against limits required by our environmental permit. 

The report is available via the following link: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/discharges-and-environmental-monitoring-
annual-report-2019  

The latest annual discharges and monitoring report shows that radioactive discharges in 2019 
were generally lower than those in 2018 and complied with all permits regulating discharges 
and disposals of radioactive wastes. 

Martin Clough, Head of Environmental Management for Sellafield Ltd, said: 

“As we approach final cessation of reprocessing, we are anticipating the resultant step-
change in environmental discharges.  This has recently been reflected in the major review of 
our environmental permit, introducing limit changes that are representative of our reducing 
discharge profile.  As our operations change, it is important that we continue our focus on 
operating to the highest appropriate environmental standards, that way we will ensure our 
impacts remain at the lowest levels.” 

There were however, four occasions during the reporting period when emissions from 
Sellafield exceeded the non-radiological environmental permit:  three occasions regarding 
total suspended solids released from the Sewage Treatment Works and one occasion 
regarding Thorp R&S Cooling Tower Purge. 

Radiation (Emergency Preparedness and Public Information) Regulations (REPPIR) 

Council officers from the Nuclear and Environmental Health teams joined a training session 
by Cumbria Resilience Unit on the changes to the REPPIR regulations, which place 
requirements on Sellafield Ltd in relation to emergency planning and provision of information 
to the public relation to offsite emergency arrangements. 

Reportable Events 

ONR prosecution – Sellafield site electrical event: In April 2020, it was reported that a 
Sellafield Ltd employee had sustained injuries while carrying out electrical work on the 
Sellafield site. The Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR) has now notified of its intention to 
prosecute the company under Section 2 (1) of the Health and Safety at Work Act in relation 
to the incident. The next step will be a hearing at Carlisle Magistrates’ Court in December, no 
further comment can be made while the case is subject to active court proceedings. 

Leak to ground – 9th September 2020: During a routine transfer of material between two 
adjacent tanks in the Thermal Denitration Plant on the Sellafield site, a quantity of uranyl 
nitrate liquor breached pipe work via a small perforation in the line. The leak, that occurred 
within a controlled area of the site, was stopped within 20 minutes of it being discovered. 
Sellafield Ltd has since replaced around 18 metres of pipework and renewed the lagging and 
trace heating along approximately 120 metres of the pipeline. There was no risk to the 
workforce or the community. The event has been rated as an INES (International Nuclear and 
Radiological Event Scale) Level 1 (unauthorised release and degraded asset condition). 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/discharges-and-environmental-monitoring-annual-report-2019
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/discharges-and-environmental-monitoring-annual-report-2019


Full Council 151220 

11 
 

Suspected increased liquor loss at MSSS: In October 2019, Sellafield Ltd communicated that 
variations in water levels in the Magnox Swarf Storage Silo (MSSS) indicated a re-occurrence 
of a historic water leak from the 1970s. On Friday 9th October 2020, an increased rate of liquor 
leakage from MSSS was detected. In line with safety procedures a building emergency was 
temporarily declared, and the building was evacuated until the following day. The plant 
returned to normal operations soon afterwards. 

Leak from sump tank: Work was completed to address the previously reported leak from a 
sump tank in the Magnox Storage Pond area of the site. 

Sellafield Planning Update 

Since the last meeting in September 2020 there have been the following planning 
developments/ negotiations regarding Sellafield: 

Transport & Movement Plan  

Sellafield Ltd have reviewed their approach with the result that revised principles and targets 
have now been approved via their internal governance.  A Draft Travel Plan was issued last 
Wednesday and shared with Highways England, Cumbria County Council and ourselves for 
comment.  It is their intention to finalise the document shortly and then submit an application 
to discharge Condition 2 of the planning permission for Yottenfews car park early December 
2020. 

CLESA Replacement  

Work is currently ongoing to investigate the options for replacing the existing lower activity 
low level waste disposal site at Sellafield which is likely to reach capacity within the next 6-10 
years.  Relevant external stakeholders, including ourselves, have been engaged in the process.  

Spoil Study 

Engagement with Sellafield Ltd has also commenced regarding the options for dealing with 
the significant amounts of spoil likely to be generated from construction projects on site.  

SL`s PPA (Planning Performance Agreement)  

Sellafield Ltd are currently drafting a new PPA for both Cumbria County Council and ourselves.  
The existing 12 month extension expires at the end of March 2021. 

Potential New Applications 

Confidential pre-application discussions are progressing with a view to Sellafield Ltd 
submitting planning applications for the following major developments on site; a new CNC 
Operational Unit (to be submitted by the end of 2020); Replacement Analytical Laboratories 
and the demolition of Calder Hall Turbine Hall A.   

As previously stated, an application to discharge condition 2 of the Yottenfews Car Park 
planning permission is expected shortly along with an application for a new Hazardous 
Substances Consent.  

 

Page 43



Full Council 151220 

12 
 

Other Energy Projects – Onshore Wind 

The three applications for the repowering existing windfarms in the Borough; Haverigg II, 
Haverigg III and Lowca have all now been approved. 

4 UK Government 10 Point Plan for a Green Industrial Revolution 
 
In November, the Prime Minister unveiled the Government’s 10-Point Plan for a Green 
Industrial Revolution. The document outlines the plans to build back a better economy in a 
post-COVID world, support the expansion of new green-collar jobs, and accelerate the path 
to net-zero.  
 
The 10-points outlined in the document are available here. Some of the key commitments 
include: 

Advance Offshore Wind by quadrupling our offshore wind power generation capacity from 
10GW to 40GW by 2030. 

Drive Growth of Low Carbon Hydrogen developing at least 5GW of hydrogen production 
capacity by 2030 and including a £230 million Net Zero Hydrogen Fund. 

Delivering New and Advanced Nuclear Power by investing up to £385 million through an 
Advanced Nuclear Fund and publishing the Energy White Paper. 

Accelerating the Shift to Zero Emission Electric Vehicles by bringing forward the phasing out 
of diesel and petrol cars by 2030, developing “gigafactories” for battery development and 
provide £1.3 billion for rapid charging network rollouts.  

Green Public Transport, Cycling and Walking: funding at least two electric-bus towns, 
electrifying rail lines and build more segregated cycle lanes.  

NNLAG Update 

The Council’s Nuclear Programmes and Projects Manager has been engaged in the steering 
group for the Department for BEIS Public Dialogue on Advanced Nuclear Technologies. This 
initiative will involve a series of public engagements to understand views on the potential for 
new small and advanced nuclear technologies in the UK. The Council’s Portfolio Holder for 
Nuclear and Corporate Services will be involved in the sessions as a public representative. 

Human Resources and Health and Safety Update  
 
The key activities within the HR and H&S Section since September 2020 have been: 
 
Covid 19 Advice and Support 
 
The HR and H&S Service have continued to offer advice and support to Managers to ensure 
that all employees health and safety requirements were met during the pandemic. The key 
areas of support in this period have been:  
 

Page 44

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf


Full Council 151220 

13 
 

1. Coordination of absence levels for reporting of Covid 19 including employees who 
are in isolation due to being contacted via track and trace; 

2. Partnership working with Property, ICT and the Communications department to 
ensure all buildings within the estate are Covid compliant.  This period has included 
the reopening of the Copeland Centre and refurbishment of the Moresby Office. 

 
Please note that the intention is still to achieve the bronze criteria of the TUC Health at 
Work Award in the first quarter of 2021 therefore, delivery of a back awareness campaign 
was delivered.  In respect to the achievement of ISO 45001 an internal audit has been 
completed and all actions are being addressed.  
 
Reshape of Organisation 
 
The closing date of the voluntary redundancy process was Friday 11 September 2020 and 21 
applications were received. Decisions were made to accept 9 applications.  In addition, 
Management of Change processes have taken place in the Beacon, and within areas of the 
Bereavement Services and Cleansing Services. 
 
Vacancy Management 
 
There has been key recruitment activity below since September 2020 in various operational 
areas of: 
 

External Appointments:  
Strategic Finance Accountant (x2) Finance 
Financial Management Technician Finance 
Covid Technical Officer (x3) - Fixed-term Environmental Health 
Customer Services Officer - Fixed-term Customer Services 
Internal Appointments:  
Covid Technical Officer (Secondment) Environmental Health 
Customer & Visitor Experience Manager Customer & Visitor Experience 
Customer Services Supervisor Customer & Visitor Experience 
Benefits Liaison Officer (Secondment) Revenues & Benefits 

 

 
 
Review of Human Resources Policies and Processes 
 
We continue to improve our policies ensuring they are compliant with current employment 
legislation priority has been given to recruitment and selection and paternity, maternity and 
adoption. 
 
Embedding the People Strategy 
 
We continue to deliver the learning opportunities focused on increasing skills within health 
and safety, safeguarding and equality and diversity.  In addition, the Aiming Higher 
performance management process will be commencing in January 2021 therefore the 
current policy is being reviewed. 

 

Page 45



Full Council 151220 

14 
 

 
 
HR Digital Agenda 
 
The team are driving digital projects to support the department becoming more efficient 
and this month has seen the launch of HR Intranet.   This will ensure all Managers and 
Employees will have relevant HR information which is easily accessible. 
 
In respect to the implementation of a HR Information System, a partner has now been 
identified to support the implementation of MS Dynamics 365 HR System to the Council. 
 
Electoral and Democratic Services 
 
Electoral Registration 
 
The Electoral Registration Annual Canvass is now complete, and the 2021 Register of 
Electors was published on 1st December 2020.   

This year’s canvass was undertaken under the new reformed canvass rules, which allowed 
Electoral Registration Officers to use National and Local data sources to identify households 
where people were likely to have moved and may not have been correctly registered to 
vote.   

In undertaking data matching, we successfully matched 82% of the properties in Copeland, 
and as a result, we were able to canvass these properties using methods such as email, text 
message and telephone as well as by post.   

The remaining 18% were unmatched, these being properties where we were unable to 
confirm whether those on the register were still resident at the property.  These were 
canvassed in a similar way to that of previous years, in that we were required to make at 
least three contact attempts to obtain the information.  Under Canvass Reform, we had 
greater flexibility in the communication methods used to target these properties.   

On completion of the canvass, a total of 870 properties (2.6%) failed to respond to our 
communications during the canvass period. For comparison, this figure is down from 3,523 
in the previous year’s canvass. 

2021 Elections 

Preparations are now underway for the 2021 Elections, scheduled to take place on Thursday 
6th May 2021.  We are currently planning for Police & Crime Commissioner and Cumbria 
County Council Elections as well as Borough and Parish by-elections. The outcome of Local 
Government Reform may have an impact on some of these elections, however, we are not 
expected to receive this information until March 2021. 

 

 

Page 46



Full Council 151220 

15 
 

 

Commercial Services – Councillor Steven Morgan 

Customer Services 

The Market Hall was open to the public on a pre-arranged appointment basis mid-

September 2020 prior to the second lockdown. Public appetite for interaction was low 

(approximately 5 appointments made) and none of these requests were for either Revenues 

or Benefits which historically can be a high demand area. 

 

Resourcing levels are at their lowest 6.5 FTE over both sites. This is due to redeployment 

and sickness within the team. However, demand in calls remains strong as we move into 

mid Q4 as expected. An average increase of 24% in calls and 68% in email traffic has been 

observed over Q4 in comparison to 19/20 figures. A strong performance once again from 

the team who continue to work from a home or office based setting. 

 

Beacon 

Following an incredible amount of work to create a COVID secure space and yet still gave 

the visitor attraction / museum experience that visitors are looking for the Beacon will open 

again after the second lockdown. A deep clean of the Museum has been conducted and 

continuous review of Covid protocols in place ensure that when we do reopen we will be 

able to so with confidence and that we have taken all necessary steps to keep our visitors 

safe. 

We have Santa’s Grotto set up within the Bears exhibition – access to this experience will be 

by pre – arranged appointment. The Museum will not be open to walk in visitors during 

these set times. The usual Covid restrictions will be in place with a Perspex screens, queue 

management, social distancing, hand sanitisers, face masks, gallery capacity restrictions and 

increased cleaning schedules. 

In common with the sector footfall has reduced to about half the numbers seen in previous 

years. 

- We are reducing our dependency on external exhibitions and are working on new 

digital experiences. 

- An organisational restructure has been implemented that has already reduced 
staffing costs significantly and we have been concentrating on upskilling our staff. A 
new Customer and Visitor Experience Manager has been appointed and we are 
already benefitting from these closer links and interdepartmental working. 

- We have also had a number of discussions with parties interested in the café space 
at the Beacon, it has been recently refurbished and is ready to let, it will not only 
support the Beacon but also be a great addition to the local economy.  

Page 47



Full Council 151220 

16 
 

Finally, the Beacon was awarded £252,000 by central Government as part of its £1.57 billion 

Culture Recovery Fund to help arts, culture and heritage organisations face the challenges of 

the coronavirus pandemic and they have a sustainable future. 

Copeland Tourism Sector Development 

Western Lake District and Coast (WLD & Coast) Tourism Network continues to grow assisted 
by the Council and Sellafield Ltd offering free membership until March 2022.  Holding their 
first virtual network meeting and supporting the staycation market as businesses adapting 
to operating within Covid 19 regulations , develop new products and inspirational itineraries 
https://westernlakedistrict.com/inspiration/  to attract a new target audience to the Lake 
District Coast. 
 
Cumbria Tourism’s recovery campaign #ThePerfectPlacetobe, with five straplines: The 
Perfect Place to Recharge, Reconnect, Rediscover, Reflect and Reinvigorate features WLD & 
Coast social media posts, press articles and location imagery from the Borough made 
available to businesses to use in their own digital marketing and supporting our own 
campaigns Shop Local – Keep it in Copeland and virtual Christmas Market.  
 
As lockdown has resumed tourism continues to support our tourism, leisure and hospitality 
sector working alongside our Revenues, Environmental Health and Communications teams, 
helping to ensure that our eligible businesses receive the grant support that they need and 
are supported to open as lockdown is lifted again under tier regulations. This has included 
regular newsletters with updates on grant information and links to available support. In 
addition supporting both the CLEP visitor economy group to develop a recovery strategy for 
the sector and the multi-agency visitor economy sub group on a weekly basis to develop a 
visitor management plan for 2021.  
 
Moving forward the focus will now be on the 2021 season to enable existing businesses to 
take advantage of emerging markets and encouraging new product development including 
working with Cumbria Tourism and Allerdale Borough Council to increase capacity for 
motorhome owners, glamping and camping.  We will be supporting our businesses and 
communities by developing a resident’s week encouraging our attractions, outdoor 
adventure, food and drink venues and retailers to offer something unique for our locals and 
celebrating what is on our doorstep. 

Cycling will be a key focus in 2021, improving and developing routes, providing a warm 
welcome for cyclists, creating cycle hubs and infrastructure at accommodation and in key 
locations throughout the Borough – linked to our town investment programmes.   

Parks and Open Spaces 

Horticultural Training 
 
The team is pleased to report that three team members have successfully completed 
courses in horticulture.  Our Senior Gardener has achieved an NVQ Level III in horticultural 

Page 48

https://westernlakedistrict.com/inspiration/


Full Council 151220 

17 
 

management, and our two apprentices have been awarded Level II in horticulture.  This is a 
great achievement and further strengthens the teams horticultural knowledge and skills. 
 
Bereavement Services 
 
This year Distington Hall Crematorium will host its third annual Christmas memorial 
service.   Whilst this year’s event cannot take place in the usual format due to Covid-19 
restrictions, the team will instead work with our partners to produce a recorded service that 
can be viewed online.  The service featuring readings and a visual tribute will be available to 
view on our website and social medial platforms from Friday, December 18 through to the 
New Year.   
 
Our Bereavement Services team continues to support our communities at this difficult time. 
Since the beginning of the pandemic we have introduced and regularly reviewed and 
updated a range of measures to ensure that funeral services can continue to take place 
safely and without delay at Distington Hall Crematorium and in our cemeteries.  We 
continue to operate in line with the latest Government guidance, which can be found 
here.     
 
The crematorium chapel is currently able to accommodate a maximum number of 30 
attendees at any one time (including the funeral director and clergy/celebrant), however 
social distancing must be observed between attendees and family groupings, which may 
limit the attendance capacity.  We continue to work closely with our funeral directors to 
manage and record attendance at funeral services where it is advised that only a modest 
number of family and friends of the deceased should travel to and attend services.   We 
understand how difficult these restrictions are and the upset that they may cause but these 
continue to be important to safeguard the safety of all.  Whilst the Chapel of Remembrance 
remains closed, an online version of the Book of Remembrance is available to view here. 
 
We continue to promote a range of partner organisations who provide advice and guidance 
for those who have suffered a bereavement including – the NHS, Cruse, Age UK - coping 
with bereavement and arranging a funeral 
 
Grounds Maintenance 
 
As this year’s grass cutting season closes the Parks team is now focussed on delivering a 
range of winter works including pruning, planting and mulching works across our parks and 
green spaces, alongside the delivery of a winter programme of works for our external 
grounds maintenance clients.  The team is also supporting the Council’s arborist who has 
recently resumed a prioritised programme of tree maintenance works planned to be carried 
out between November and February.  This work plan is developed from our risk based tree 
survey and ensures that resources are focussed on where they are needed most. 
 
Customer Satisfaction 
 
Each year we invite our external grounds maintenance customers to provide feedback on 
the services we have provided to support us with continually improving the services we 

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-managing-a-funeral-during-the-coronavirus-pandemic#history
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcopelandbc.us10.list-manage.com%2Ftrack%2Fclick%3Fu%3D9cecfee91ad99fbfef0603e5d%26id%3D70646ac2d7%26e%3Dce17adc6c7&data=01%7C01%7Cjames.hunter%40copeland.gov.uk%7Ca19dae4078f24d3d209308d7eab8921f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=x9eFzp3hM2kjtVKZ3g6Eif3m95%2FbGeUl1Xa%2FxhTzoV4%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcopelandbc.us10.list-manage.com%2Ftrack%2Fclick%3Fu%3D9cecfee91ad99fbfef0603e5d%26id%3Df898529bfd%26e%3Dce17adc6c7&data=01%7C01%7Cjames.hunter%40copeland.gov.uk%7Ca19dae4078f24d3d209308d7eab8921f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=MGBA69IyD94OvvWzMG6nLv5wkvXbFQbo1KwCPv0CRa4%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcopelandbc.us10.list-manage.com%2Ftrack%2Fclick%3Fu%3D9cecfee91ad99fbfef0603e5d%26id%3Dd3f2bb14f2%26e%3Dce17adc6c7&data=01%7C01%7Cjames.hunter%40copeland.gov.uk%7Ca19dae4078f24d3d209308d7eab8921f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=mc9vV6dnNKG%2B8UkZlz2w%2FGPFID8bLdb%2BzkALWZtd%2FSU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcopelandbc.us10.list-manage.com%2Ftrack%2Fclick%3Fu%3D9cecfee91ad99fbfef0603e5d%26id%3D60ea2d8f54%26e%3Dce17adc6c7&data=01%7C01%7Cjames.hunter%40copeland.gov.uk%7Ca19dae4078f24d3d209308d7eab8921f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=Q6ASBPDkmgEoG%2BBWpfPPY3aLKvwdvY6gi%2FJnvd9RKAM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcopelandbc.us10.list-manage.com%2Ftrack%2Fclick%3Fu%3D9cecfee91ad99fbfef0603e5d%26id%3D60ea2d8f54%26e%3Dce17adc6c7&data=01%7C01%7Cjames.hunter%40copeland.gov.uk%7Ca19dae4078f24d3d209308d7eab8921f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=Q6ASBPDkmgEoG%2BBWpfPPY3aLKvwdvY6gi%2FJnvd9RKAM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcopelandbc.us10.list-manage.com%2Ftrack%2Fclick%3Fu%3D9cecfee91ad99fbfef0603e5d%26id%3D8a9fc632f7%26e%3Dce17adc6c7&data=01%7C01%7Cjames.hunter%40copeland.gov.uk%7Ca19dae4078f24d3d209308d7eab8921f%7Cb6d1253e02e144bb8e79fe4ee8606cf0%7C1&sdata=lQcrFDQkZXHByR9NY1DS4Ors9OIm8z%2FuKW024xBKrq0%3D&reserved=0


Full Council 151220 

18 
 

provide, and to ensure we meet customer needs and expectations.  This year the survey was 
promoted to over 60 customers.  83% of those responding said that they were either very 
satisfied or satisfied with our services.  The team will be reviewing all comments and 
suggestions to ensure that our programme of services continue to meet requirements 
ahead of next year’s maintenance season. 
 
Footway Lighting 
 
We continue to engage with Town and Parish Councils to provide information on footway 
lighting in their areas and have invited them to contribute to the running costs of footway 
lighting in order to safeguard the future of these assets.  Meanwhile we have identified 
footway lighting assets located on land that is not owned by the Council and work will soon 
be underway to seek transfer of these assets to third parties. 
 
Significant progress has been made on reducing energy costs for footway lights. 
Arrangements have now been made to transfer to a new energy provider which is estimated 
to realise savings of circa £20k in the next financial year. 
 
Flooding Response 
 
Working in partnership with our colleagues in Environmental Health, the Parks team have 
responded to emergency calls from residents to supply and deliver sandbags to those at risk 
from flooding.  Since April 2020 the team have supplied over 650 sand bags, with 498 of 
those delivered to residential properties in the last 3 months. 
 
Procurement Briefing Note 
 
By working alongside Project Teams, Procurement have successfully advertised the following 
opportunities to ensure value for money and compliance with Pubic Contract Regulations 
2015 and our Contract Standing Orders, including: 
 

 Building maintenance of Council owned buildings 
 Refurbishment of Chapel roof covering at Distington Crematorium 
 Internal building cleaning for all Council properties 
 Professional services for an initial assessment of the coastal erosion and flood risk at 

St Bees and Seascale as part of flood and coastal risk management (via Cumbria 
County Councils Professional Services framework) 

 The design and implementation of improvements to Jacktrees Road play park, Cleator 
Moor 

 Asset valuations of Council owned property 
 Copeland employment land availability study (ELAS) 
 Copeland economic development needs assessment (EDNA) 
 Corporate energy supply contracts via regional collaborative purchasing with Cumbria 

County Council 
 

Other scheduled projects in the preparation stages and currently liaising with Procurement 
are: 

Page 50



Full Council 151220 

19 
 

 3G Artificial Grass Pitch at Cleator Moor Activity Centre  
 Flood prevention work on flap valves at Parton and Millom 

 
Future projects 
 
The proposed use of framework agreements for the following: 

 Continuing electronic payment collection services for residents 

 New IT System for social housing allocations – County wide procurement with other 
Local Authorities and Housing Associations (led by South Lakes District Council)  

 Future High Streets Fund: Major Works – subject to grant approval 

 Insolvency Resolution Services 

 Postal Services for Revenues and Benefits 

 Council Tax reduction scheme modelling 
 
Although the use of the Procurement Service as a whole has increased year on year, the 
number of tenders placed via the Chest is comparatively on the same trajectory as this time 
last year, with 18 completed/in process to date.  Year to date statistics show there have 
been zero supplier challenges on the procurement process with 80% these contracts 
awarded to a small or medium-sized enterprises and 30% contracted to a local supplier 
within the county.  We aim to obtain a minimum of 1 to 2 suppliers to submit bids from 
both SME’s and within the County area where this is possible within the procurement rules.  
We can report that one/two suppliers from the county area submitted bids in 40% of our 
tenders and 79% were from SME’s. To try to encourage local suppliers further, we have also 
sent information to suppliers to encourage them to register on our procurement portal, The 
Chest via our Buy Local Scheme Coordinator whom has direct contact with Copeland 
business owners. 

Commercialisation 

The “My Bright Idea” campaign has resulted in an internal idea being implemented which 
will generate additional revenue for the Council at no extra cost. A Building Control 
officer submitted a Bright Idea earlier this year to introduce fees for street naming and 
numbering. This is standard practice for the majority of councils across England. Under the 
Powers to Charge Act, we are enabled legally to introduce a fee to cover our administration 
costs of this work.  The implementation of such an idea demonstrates the commercial 
culture that is evident within the Council and how we are able to harness the home grown 
ideas that are being brought forward.  
 
The Commercial team have been working closely with Bereavement Services over the last 3 
months. This has resulted in two new additional service offers that will soon be launched to 
residents. 
 
 
1. The Grave Care service: 
This will provide maintenance (cleaning, re gilding, grass cutting etc.) and flower packages 
for graves in the five open cemeteries in Copeland.   
The packages will be: 

Page 51



Full Council 151220 

20 
 

 Bi Annual grave care.   

 Seasonal care package – 4 visits per year and flowers placed on 2 occasions.   
Not only will it be a well-received service for those who are unable, for whatever reason, to 
access and maintain graves of their loved ones, but it will also generate additional annual 
revenue for the Council. 
 
2. Memorial Tree: 
Residents will have the opportunity to purchase a metal leaf with a dedicated personalised 
inscription for a loved one which will be placed on a commissioned, bespoke, wall 
mounted art and design metal tree sculpture.  The tree has the capacity to hold 250 
leaves. Customers will also have the opportunity to buy replica leaves to keep at home.  
 
This tree sculpture forms part of a refreshed memorialisation offer and will reside in 
Distington’s newly refurbished  Chapel of Remembrance.  
 
Efficiency Savings  
 
In the last quarter, as well as the income from a new fee, and new service offerings 
providing additional income generation, the Council has seen progress in efficiency savings 
through introducing new ways of working. 
 
Council owned office paper shredders have now been introduced at all council sites. The 
shredders meet industry security standards that allows us to dispose of confidential 
waste and be GDPR compliant. Previously we had used an external private confidential 
waste service that did not demonstrate value for money, and therefore with an assessment 
at contract renewal time it was the opportunity to introduce a different offering which is 
more efficient and better value. 
 
We anticipate disposing of office paper waste in-house will provide long- term savings whilst 
also providing an income through the sale of the shredded waste. 
 
Footway lighting across Copeland has also now been procured differently through the 
County Council energy framework. This has resulted in a significant drop in energy charges 
which is expected to give rise to approximately £20,000 savings in energy costs per year. 
 
The Revs and Bens team have been working with UK Mail who provide a virtual posting 
service to manage billing. After making a saving of nearly £5,000 on the annual billing in 
March, they have continued to use UK Mail for all of their postage needs. They estimate it 
will save in the region of £6,000 to £11,000 per year in postage costs. It is currently being 
explored how this could be rolled out across the organisation. 
 
The Council has also accessed the £7,000 LGA Productivity Expert grant looking at ways in 
which we can reduce energy bills across the Council estate and generate income. This 
includes investigating assets and land for potential installation of solar panels at various 
suitable council owned sites. 

 

Page 52



Full Council 151220 

21 
 

 

Environment, Place and Inclusive Communities – Councillor Andy Pratt  

Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership 

Officers from the Council’s Waste Services team have joined the Carbon Reduction Waste 
Group, a sub-group of the Cumbria Strategic Waste Partnership, which is working to reduce 
the emissions associated with waste in support of the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership’s 
county-wide decarbonisation programme. 
 
Community Forest Plan 

In line with the Climate Action Plan, and in response to a call for expressions of interest, 
officers are working with a range of stakeholders including Allerdale and Barrow Councils to 
develop a proposal for a Cumbria Coastal Community Forest. Community Forest Plans are a 
policy instrument that can be used to secure cross-cutting benefits to climate change through 
carbon-sequestration, community access to green space, mental health and wellbeing, 
biodiversity, flood resilience and more. 

Updates and briefings will be provided to members as plans are developed. 

Energy Efficiency and Generation Study 

The Council continues to work with consultants procured with funding via the Local 
Government Associations’ Productivity Expert Programme. Consultants have completed 
several site visits across the estate and collated and analysed building and fleet data. A final 
report will be produced in mid-December outlining opportunities for energy efficiency 
enhancement and clean energy generation and further updates will be provided to members 
as appropriate. 

The key driver of the LGA productivity expert programme is create significant savings or 
revenue generation, and so any resulting opportunities will be taken through the Council’s 
commercial engagement board for development. 

Strategic Housing 

1. Homelessness 
 
Impact of the Pandemic on Services 
 
The team has seen an increase in demand of over 500% since March 2020.  However, things 
have settled considerably and we have maintained a full staff team.  Staff are working a 
blended model of office and home.  Most cases are being handled over the phone, apart 
from some Domestic Abuses cases and support being provided face to face for those living 
in temporary accommodation. This has been working well. 
 
Lockdown 2 saw a slight demand increase but far less than in April/May time.  The team had 
retained six additional temporary accommodation bed spaces at the start of this last 

Page 53



Full Council 151220 

22 
 

lockdown but only two of them were used.  There are eight people in temporary 
accommodation at the time of writing.  All singles with predominantly Mental Health issues 
closely followed by drug and alcohol dependencies. This is the main group that has 
presented as homeless during lockdown 2, often being asked to leave where they were 
staying by family and friends.  We are working with Home Group to set up a specialist 
project to help provide housing with support for people with mental health issues affecting 
their ability to hold down a tenancy. 
 
Domestic Abuse 
 
The week of the 23rd November saw the launch of a media campaign to raise awareness of 
abuse in the home.   Our Crisis Support worker has seen increased demand here.  We have 
had a good response from our Housing Associations and property owners and priority is 
given in finding them permanent homes. This means at present, we have no one in our 
three specialist DV safe houses as all have been rehoused but our worker is supporting over 
20 people in their own homes.  
 
CBC has recently helped establish a new group called the Copeland Domestic Abuse 
Partnership to bring together all the key agencies including WOW, Safety Net, freedom 
Project, Victim Support and The Police amongst others.  CBC is currently chairing the group, 
helping develop an action plan to ensure funding for projects to help fill gaps in services.  
We aim to hand over the reins to one of the Third Sector Groups to lead this in future, once 
it is up and running so our team can move on to new projects. 
 
MHCLG Funding Outcome 
 
MHCLG began working actively within Cumbria last year and facilitated funding for 1.5 
workers with rough sleepers and sofa-surfers.  This has been critical during the pandemic. 
Earlier this year CBC submitted a partnership bid with Impact Housing Association for funding 
called Next Steps Accommodation Programme (NSAP) for a project of around a million pounds 
of capital and revenue over 3 years.  The project was to bring an empty property in Impact’s 
ownership back into use as four flats for homeless people with challenging behaviour and 
substance abuse and create a 24-support service around the flats.   
 
We were disappointed to receive the news that we had not been successful in this round but 
received positive feedback about the proposal and we hope to bid again in 2021.  The main 
feedback was that the Ministry had funded projects where the property owner (in this case 
Impact) had contributed up to 50% of the overall costs to improve their own asset.  The 
turnaround for that bid was so tight (3 weeks) that Impact had not budgeted for a significant 
spend and whist Impact had contributed, as had CBC, it was not at that level. Therefore, we 
hope to rework the bid next year with Impact HA to reflect that.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



Full Council 151220 

23 
 

2. Housing Strategy 
 
Housing Needs Survey 
 
The 2020 Housing Needs Survey has been completed and the key findings were presented 
to OSC prior to its launch on 17th September 2020 at the Copeland Housing Partnership.  
The previous report to full Council contained highlighted findings.  The report is extensive 
with many interesting findings, below is a sample of those: 
 

 Most tenures were spread fairly evenly amongst those that responded but there are 
higher proportions of Housing Association tenants in Cleator Moor and Egremont 
and lower proportions of private renters in the Whitehaven Rural Housing Market 
sub-area. 

 22% of respondents recorded a household member limited in their day to day 
activities by disability or long term illness (mostly in older groups) 

 6% of the sample expected to need adaptations to their property in the next  5 years 

 22% of respondents thought they would move in the next 5 years (highest amongst 
younger groups) 

 46% of newly forming households cannot afford to buy an averaged priced property 
without spending more than 33% of their gross income on a mortgage and a third 
cannot afford a lower quartile home – indicating an unmet need for affordable 
housing for sale 

 The older stock profile across Copeland (particularly in the private sector) means 
properties are difficult to adapt and do not lend themselves to wheelchair use.  

 There is a clear need for additional bungalows to buy and rent across the whole 
market, sheltered and extra care housing as well as for new developments to be built 
to ‘lifetime standards’ – catering for buyers and renters. 

 
There is a set of parish specific findings and recommendation contained in the report, which 
is now publically available on the Councils website and via this link 
https://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/housing_needs_survey.pdf  
 
This report has already proved valuable, is helping inform strategic thinking about future 
development, FSF and Towns Fund submissions, and provides intelligence for reponses to 
planning applications. 

Social Inclusion: 
Copeland Work & Skills Partnership 
 
IAG NVQs 
Eighteen candidates have engaged with IAG qualifications at Level 3 / 4 over the course of 
the programme to date. Three candidates have completed their qualification over the latest 
quarter 
 
Sector Development  
A Sector Based Work Academy Programme working in conjunction with Whiteline Taxis was 
completed during September.  The aim of the programme was to prepare individuals for 

Page 55

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/housing_needs_survey.pdf


Full Council 151220 

24 
 

employment as Taxi drivers.  The two-week programme enabled candidates to gain their 
Hackney Carriage License and learn about the qualities of being a taxi driver.  Five 
unemployed individuals completed the programme will be offered employment subject 
their License applications being successful. 
 
 
Bespoke Support 
Working in partnership with Eskdale Mill, an online session was delivered with the aim of 
introducing unemployed candidates to the Cultural Heritage and Tourism sector.  Those 
candidates took part in the activity and have the opportunity to support the facility in a 
voluntary capacity with a taster day being the first step as part of this process. 
 
Employability Fund 
Twelve unemployed individuals have benefited from support through the Employability 
Fund. Support has included travel costs / course fees to be able to attend training; SIA 
licence costs; CSCS test /application costs and, essential equipment/tools to be able to 
commence employment. 
 
Apprentice Subsidy 
Fifteen individuals commenced apprenticeships this quarter.  Employers supporting 
apprentices include: Phillip Caruthers Ltd; CAAS; Eilbeck Plumbing & Heating; Toman 
Contracting; Beckermet Nursery; Ellwood Joinery; AJS Interior Design; POD Groundworks; 
Rainbow Day Nursery; Parkhouse Hotel; St Bees Little Learners; SE Ceilings Ltd and; PJ's 
Nursery. 
 
Wage Subsidy 
Six candidates have secured employment via the wage subsidy work stream this quarter. 
Employers who have recruited include Works4You; Wyndham Manor; CRS Facility 
Management; Tyg Ltd and CF Hospitality. 
 
Annual Report 
A glossy summary document for year one of the programme has been developed and 
publicised including CBC social media platforms. The documents includes cases studies of 
participants on the programme and illustrates how the Programme has adapted as a result 
of the COVID pandemic. 
 
Strategic Planning  
 
5 Year Land Supply of Housing Sites  
 
On 26th November the Council published its latest 5 Year Housing Land Supply Paper, which 
considers the amount of deliverable housing land and the number of homes it can support 
between 1st April 2020 and 31st March 2025.  This assessment has identified that the Council 
can demonstrate 6.35 years of supply based on the identified level of housing need in the 
Copeland Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), or 55 years worth of supply based 
on the Government’s Standard Methodology calculation of need. 
 

Page 56



Full Council 151220 

25 
 

As the Council can now demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land, the settlement 
hierarchy in the Core Strategy Policy ST2 is considered to be up to date again and carries 
weight when considering planning applications.  
 
The settlement boundaries referred to in Policy ST2 continue to be out of date, as 
development outside of the current boundaries will be required to significantly boost the 
supply of housing and maintain the housing land supply, and they are being reviewed as 
part of the new Copeland Local Plan 2017-2035.  The sections of policy ST2 relating to the 
settlement boundaries no longer therefore accord with the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  Planning applications for development on the edge of settlements in the 
hierarchy will be assessed for their impacts against the National Planning Policy Framework 
and other policies in the Core Strategy.   
 
Villages and hamlets not in the settlement hierarchy will be classified as Open Countryside 
in planning terms once again until the new Local Plan establishes a new settlement 
hierarchy.  The new settlement hierarchy will gain weight as it progresses through the Local 
Plan stages of production and dependent upon the level of objection or support it 
generates.  
 
The Interim Housing Policy, which was introduced when the Council could not demonstrate 
a 5 year supply of housing land, has been revoked. 
 

 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

I THE UNDERSIGNED WISH TO PUT FORWARD THE FOLLOWING MOTION FOR 
CONSIDERATION AT THE COUNCIL MEETING ON TUESDAY 15TH DECEMBER 2020. 
 
MOTION.  
 
 The current constitution of the council states at section 5.2.1 and 5.2.2that. 
 
"The role of the chair will be rotated between all political groups included independents on 
an annual basis for the first three years of any mayoral administration, with the chair for the 
fourth and final year being selected from the majority political party". 
 
and. "Deputy chair becomes chair of the council the the municipal year following 
appointment". 
 
i propose that these two paragraphs are deleted and replaced with the Following. 
 
"The chair and deputy chair of the council shall be elected annually at the council's annual 
general meeting by the council from amongst the councillors. 
 
Signed Cllr Michael Arthur McVeigh Leader of the Labour group Copeland Borough Council. 
27-11-2020. 
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Information Classification - UNCLASSIFIED 

I the undersigned wish to put forward the following motion for consideration at the 
council meeting on Tuesday 15th December 2020. 
 
Motion. 
 
"Committee membership and chairs for the municipal year 2020-2021 were agreed at the 
councils annual meeting on 21 May 2020.  
 
I propose that , with immediate effect, the current chair of licensing committee be replaced 
by Linda Jones -Bullman for the remainder of the municipal year" 
 
Signed Cllr Michael Arthur McVeigh Leader of the Labour group. 27 -11-2020. 
 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Council 15/12/20 
 

WHITEHAVEN HARBOUR – FLOOD DEFENCE CAPITAL REPLACEMENT WORKS – REQUEST 

TO ACT AS ACCOUNTABLE BODY 

Executive Portfolio Holder: Mayor Mike Starkie (portfolio includes financial matters). 

Lead Officer: Pat Graham, Chief Executive (responsibilities include public 

protection and resilience). 

Report Author: Clinton Boyce, Solicitor. 

Summary: This report seeks approval from full Council to the Council 

acting as an accountable body for the Whitehaven Harbour 

Commissioners for the receipt of grant from the Environment 

Agency to enable the Whitehaven Harbour Commissioners to 

assess and carry out necessary flood defence capital 

replacement works at Whitehaven Harbour. 

Why this report is coming Financial regulation E, which forms part of the Constitution, 
to the Council: requires Council to approve the receipt of external funding 

over the sum of £200,000. At this point it is not known 
whether the funding will be below or above that amount. The 
Executive on the 10th November 2020 approved receipt below 
that amount and supported the project. This report comes to 
Council to seek their approval assuming the grant will be the 
£200,000 threshold. 

  

 
Recommendations:            (a)   that, subject to (c), that the Council acts as accountable  
                                                   body, on behalf of the Whitehaven Harbour Commissioners,  
                                                   in respect of any grant which may be received from the  
                                                   Environment Agency, or other public sector grant funder, to        
                                                  carry out necessary flood defence capital replacement works   
                                                  at Whitehaven Harbour; 
 
                                                  (b)   that the Council’s capital budget and programme be  
                                                  adjusted accordingly to allow for recommendation (a); and                                                 
 
                                                  (c)  that (i) the grant conditions are acceptable to the Solicitor  
                                                  and the Section 151  Officer and (ii) that an agreement,  
                                                  satisfactory to the Solicitor and the Section 151 Officer, is  
                                                  entered into between the Council and the Commissioners for  
                                                  the project as set out in this report to ensure that any grant  
                                                  conditions, imposed as part of the grant, are complied with by  
                                                  the Commissioners and to ensure that any other risks arising  
                                                  are satisfactorily mitigated.      
      

Page 63

Agenda Item 11



 
 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

The Whitehaven Harbour Commissioners (“the Commissioners”) have requested the 
Council to act as accountable body for a grant which may be awarded by the 
Environment Agency. The grant is to enable the Commissioners to carry out essential 
works to the sea lock system which are necessary to protect flood defences.   
Temporary measures have been put in place to part mitigate the effects of each key 
item.  However, these measures cannot be maintained through the winter period 
when there are greater impacts and risks associated with the impounded water 
levels from both tidal and fluvial water. 

 
2.0     PROPOSED WORKS 

 
2.1    The order of tasks to be undertaken will be: 

 

(a)   Replacement of the penstock valve. This valve is located on the western  
connecting wall between the sea lock and old quay.  The primary function of 
the penstock valve is to manage impounded water levels when the sea lock 
gates are inoperable (e.g. during maintenance works, or lock closure).  
Despite regular inspections and maintenance, the penstock valve structure 
has deteriorated and the main supporting frame has failed and is now in a 
state whereby the valve can only open to 30% capacity.  The result is that the 
penstock valve cannot keep pace with surface water running into the marina 
basin from the culverted watercourses that enter it (Pow Beck, Midgey Gill 
and Bransty Beck). The estimated cost of replacement is £11,000. 
 

(b)   Next, comes a new set of stop log structures to enable a full lock closure,  
whereby the lock barrel can be fully de-watered for inspections of bearings, 
seals, gate structures, anodes and all operating structures.  The current stop 
log arrangement does not allow for this as there is only enough stop log 
structures to one end of the lock structure at a time.  Consequently, there is a 
reliance on the lock gates at the opposite end of the sea lock to retain a 
water tight seal.  This operation is not possible and a new set of stop logs is 
required. The estimated cost of the stop logs is £100,000. 

 
(c)     The sea lock can then be de-watered and a full condition survey undertaken  

and then necessary repairs carried out. The cost of such survey is around 
£30,000 funded from a previous grant. The survey will concentrate on anode 
replacement measures of the sea lock. 

 
(d)     Anode replacement works will then be undertaken.  The protective anode  

system at the sea lock has been the subject of regular inspections, 
modification and testing.  It has been determined that the sea lock gates are 
currently subject to a higher level of corrosion, than is acceptable,  due in 
part to fluctuation in the water salinity because of the seawater and due to 

Page 64



the high influx of fresh water from the three culverts entering the inner 
harbour.   This has resulted in sections of the sea lock gates and seal carriers 
being replaced some 30 years prior to end of life expectancy and additional 
lock gate skin replacement works planned for the medium term.  A 
replacement corrosion protection system is required to stabilise the lock gate 
structures and ensure their longevity in the future. The cost of this is 
estimated at £60,000. Upon satisfactory installation of a replacement 
protection system and stability of lock gate structures from excessive 
corrosion, final refurbishment works can commence on the lock gates and 
return them to a good serviceable position. 

 
(e)     Finally, but slightly separate from the sea lock is the disused north quay  

culvert, located in the north quay towards the western arm and in the vicinity 
of the sea lock structures. This was previously blanked off to retain 
impounded water levels within the harbour basin.  The blanking plate 
structure failed in March 2020 and as a result a 50cm diameter hole 
appeared breaching the control of impounded water within the harbour 
basin. In addition to the inability to control and maintain standard operating 
water levels within the harbour, the flow of water both from the impounded 
basin both during low water events and from the Irish Sea during high water 
events, there is an amount of erosion of the north quay wall. A new blanking 
plate has been installed to make good the old culvert and enable sea lock 
operations to regain control of the water levels and return to standard 
impounded levels. However further works need to be undertaken the detail 
of which will be known following an extended sea wall survey in the vicinity 
of the sea lock which is required to gauge the level of the resultant erosion 
from the breached culvert. The estimated cost of these works in £13,000. 
 

2.2 The cost of the above work is around £200,000 and that is the threshold between 
Executive and full Council hence this report being submitted to both. It is more than 
likely that the grant will be above that threshold. The decision has relative urgency 
to it as works of the nature proposed can only be undertaken during 
February/March. For this reason a decision of Council in December is preferred. The 
Environment Agency have confirmed that budget is available and that they have 
approved the in-year allocation. The submission of an outline business case is in 
hand. 

 
3.0     GRANT CONDITIONS 
 
3.1 The Council has acted as accountable body for the Whitehaven Harbour 

Commissioners on a number of occasions before. Conditions imposed by the 
Environment Agency are usually straightforward and expected. However until a 
formal offer is made and conditions spelt out any approval given by members should 
be conditional on those conditions being acceptable. 

 
3.2 Similarly there should be an agreement in place with the Commissioners to facilitate 

such grant – terms will include ensuring grant is only spent on eligible expenditure, 

Page 65



progress reporting, obtaining value for money, delivery of the project and grant 
recovery. The agreement should mirror the grant conditions. 

 
4.0 FINANCIAL REGULATIONS AND RISK 
 
 The financial regulations form part of the Council’s constitution and regulation E 

deals with external funding. This requires that: 
 

(a)   The funds are acquired only to meet the priorities within the approved policy   
framework. Of relevance the framework includes the corporate strategy. 
Ambition 4 states that we will “promote and protect our environment”. It is 
key to delivery of many of the ambitions and strategic outcomes that 
Whitehaven, particularly the Town Centre, is not flooded.  

 
(b)   Match funding requirements are given due consideration prior to entering  

into long term agreements and that future revenue budgets reflect these 
requirements. The Council is not required to provide any match funding in 
this case and there is no impact on future revenue budgets. 
 

(c)   That a management fee is charged for the costs of administration. A fee will  
be requested. However Council is asked to waive this requirement if one is 
not capable of being recovered from the Commissioners or the Agency given 
that those costs will be small (coastal defence engineer and financial 
administration costs) given the importance of the works to the protection of 
Whitehaven.  
 

(d)    Any claw back conditions are considered prior to accepting the grant. In this  
case the recommendations delegate this to the Solicitor and Section 151 
Officer to be satisfied that they are reasonable, pose minimal risk and that 
any risk arising is controlled within the agreement with the Commissioners. 
As stated before in other grants the Commissioners are a statutory body 
created by Act of Parliament and so not as fragile as a private company - the 
Commissioners will remain to resolve any issues with the Agency should 
problems arise. The Commissioners have managed proficiently previous 
works contracts without problem. Whilst the Commissioners will submit 
reporting returns direct to Agency the Council will require separate updates 
on progress being made. The Council’s coastal defence engineer is involved in 
this project and has drafted the application to the Agency with Commissioner 
support so the Council is fully aware of the project. 

 
5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 It is recommended that Council agrees to acting as accountable body for the 

Commissioners should the grant be approved provided that the conditions are 
acceptable and an agreement is entered into between the parties to ensure 
compliance with grant conditions and other measures, as necessary and appropriate, 

Page 66



are put in place to mitigate the risks arising. The Council’s capital budget should be 
amended accordingly to enable the project to proceed. 

 
 
6.0 STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 
 
6.1 Monitoring Officer/Legal comments:  Provided that a legal agreement is entered into 

between the Council and the Commissioners risks should be minimised. The 
Commissioners are a statutory body and have already delivered a number of large 
projects around the harbour for which the Council has already acted as accountable 
body without any issues arising.  

 
6.2 Section 151 officer comment: The financial implications and risks to the Council, 

insofar as they are known, are set out in the report. As accountable body the Council 
needs to ensure the grant conditions are complied with as failure to do so may result 
in financial loss to the Council.  

 
6.3 EIA comments: Not applicable. 
 
6.4 Policy framework: As discussed at paragraph 4.1(a). 
  
6.5  Other Consultees Comments: None. 
 
7.0 APPENDICES 
 
 None. 
 
 
8.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

Scope of work dated 24th September 2020;  
CLA FCRM Capital Review Group Exception Bid form; and 
Email from Environment Agency dated 11th November 2020 confirming in-year 
funding allocation. 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Council 15 December 2020 
 
Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 2021 – 2026  
   

EXECUTIVE MEMBERS:  Councillors Andy Pratt (Licensing) and David Moore (Legal).  
  
LEAD OFFICER:    Michaela Peet, Assistant Solicitor.  
  
REPORT AUTHOR:    Michaela Peet, Assistant Solicitor.  
  
  

 
 
1.  INTRODUCTION  
  
1.1  The Council, as licensing authority, has a duty under section 5 of the Licensing Act 

2003 (‘the Act’) to determine and publish a policy in respect of the exercise of its 
licensing functions (‘the Policy’). The Policy will set out the general approach on how 
the Council will make licensing decisions. This Policy must be reviewed every five 
years. It can be reviewed at any time during that period.  

  
1.2  Council on the 3rd December 2015 approved the last Policy with it taking effect from 

the 7th January 2016. That policy expires on the 7th January 2021. A new Policy, the 
subject of this report, will run from the 7th January 2021 until the 6th January 2026 
unless reviewed earlier. The new policy must be put in place before the 7th January 
2021.  

  
1.3  The Council’s Licensing Committee has prepared the attached draft Policy and at its 

meeting on the 4th December 2020 agreed that such Policy should be recommended 
to Council for approval.   

  
1.4  The Committee started the process of preparing a new Policy on the 4th November 

2020. The Committee on that date approved a draft policy for public consultation. 
That consultation ran from the 4th November 2020 until the 2nd December 2020.    

 
1.5  The draft Policy was largely the same as the previous policy, save for a few minor 

updates and two new paragraphs too incorporate the Data Protection and Equality 
Act. Although both Data Protection and the Equality Act are followed by the Council 
in working practise. Reference to them were not included in the previous policy and 
it was felt necessary to include them in the updated Policy for completeness. 

Recommendation:  
  
That the Statement of Licensing Policy 2016-2021, as set out in the Appendix to the 
report, and prepared under section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003, be approved.    
  

Page 69

Agenda Item 12



1.6  Only three responses were received to the consultation. These responses were 
considered by the Licensing Committee. The responses received were from Cumbria 
Disability Forum, CADAS and the Police. None of the responses had any objections of 
suggestions to make of the policy. The Police comments that “All amendments are 
proportionate and all area covered.”  

  
2.  RECOMMENDATION  
  

Only Council can adopt the policy. The draft revised Policy, to cover the period  
2021-2026 and prepared by the Licensing Committee, is attached as an appendix to 
this report. Council is asked to approve the Policy, which is made under section 5 of 
the Licensing Act 2003.  

  
 
 3.  STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
  
3.1  Monitoring Officer Comments:  As set out in this report.  
  
3.2  S151 Officer Comment:  No financial issues arise from the report.  
  
3.3   EIA Comment:   
  
 The policy is designed to promote the four licensing objectives as set out in the policy.  As 
such the beneficiaries of the policy are very broad across the communities that live, work 
and visit the Borough. The policy seeks to reinforce and develop measures to improve the 
safety of the public and minimise the risk of crimes against them, to militate the effects of 
regulated activities upon the communities in which the activities are held and to protect 
children from inappropriate activities. Children are accorded a special status in view of the 
licensing objective to protect children from harm. The policy also seeks to  provide useful 
information to those who provide, or wish to provide, regulated  activities and thereby 
assist them in understanding the policies we apply and to  understand that each application 
will be treated equitably having regard to the  Policy.  There is no intention and no 
foreseeable impact of the policy to mean that disabled people or people with other 
protected characteristics as specified by the Equality Act 2010 would be treated more 
adversely as a consequence of the proposals in the policy.                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
  
  
Appendix:  Draft Statement of Licensing Policy 2016-2021 and prepared under section 5 

of the Licensing Act 2003.  
  
List of Background Documents:    
  
Licensing Policy 2016-2021; and Responses to statutory consultation.  
  
Consultees:    As required by the Licensing Act 2003.  
 

Page 70



1  

  

 
  

  

  

Draft 

Statement of Licensing Policy of Copeland 
Borough Council 

2021 – 2026 

 

 

Licensing Act 2003 

  

  

  
  
  
  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 71



2  

  

  

Further copies of this document can be obtained from:  

  

Licensing Services  

Market Hall,  

Market Place 

Whitehaven 

CA28 7JG 

 

Tel: 01946 598521  

Fax: 01946 598311  

  

Email: licensing@copeland.gov.uk   

  

Web: http://www.copelandbc.gov.uk/section/licensing   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Please note:  

The information contained in this document can be made 

available in different languages and formats including Braille, 

large print and audio cassette.  

Page 72

http://www.copelandbc.gov.uk/section/licensing
http://www.copelandbc.gov.uk/section/licensing


3  

  

  Contents   
  Page Number 
Executive Summary   6 
Section 1 The purpose and scope of the licensing policy 7  
   
Section 2 Integrating other guidance, policies, objectives and  

Strategies 
9  
 

   
Section 3 Promotion of the licensing objectives 10  

 
 Crime and disorder 11 
 Public safety 12 
 Public nuisance 13 
 Protection of children from harm 14 
   
Section 4 General principles 16 
   
 Protection of Privacy and Data 16 

 Equality Act  17 
 Human rights 17 
 Impact of licensed activity 17 
 Special events in the open air or in temporary 

structures 
18 

 Community applicants 19 
 Other regulatory regimes 19 
 Application process 20 
 Licensing Committee 20 
 Representations 21 
 Reasons for decisions 21 
 Decision making 22 
   
Section 5 Premises licences and club premises certificates 22 
   
 Planning 22 
 Licensing Hours 23 
 Local, national and international occasions 24 
 Drinking up time 24 
 Operating schedules 25 
 Risk assessments 26 
 Local licensing guidance 26 
 Consumption of alcohol 27 
 Conditions 28 
 Designated premises supervisor 28 
 Staff training 28 
 Club premises certificate 29 
 Community halls 29 
 Minor variations 29 

Page 73



4  

  

 Alcohol deliveries 30 

Page 74



5  

  

Section 6  Personal licences 30 
   
Section 7 Temporary event notices  31 
   
Section 8 Enforcement and reviews  33 
   
Appendix 1 Further reading and useful information 35 

   
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75



6  

  

Executive Summary  

  

The Licensing Act 2003 came into effect in 2005.  

  

Under Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 the Licensing Authority is required to 

prepare a statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their 

functions under this Act. This process is to be repeated every five years.  

  

Any decision taken by the Council in regard to determination of licences, certificates 

and notifications should aim to promote the licensing objectives which are:  

  

 The prevention of crime and disorder  

 Public safety  

 The prevention of public nuisance  

 The protection of children from harm  

  

The policy covers the licensable activities as specified in the Act which are:  

  

 Sale by retail or supply of alcohol  

 Regulated entertainment  

 Late night refreshment  

  

The policy also has regard to the guidance issued by the Secretary of State under 

Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003. Additionally the council has regard for a 

number of other local strategies such as the council’s Corporate Plan, its 

Safeguarding Policy and the Cumbria Community Strategy.  

  

The council has the ability to grant licences for premises and certificates for club 

premises. It also grants personal licences and accepts temporary event notices.  

  

Applicants for premises licences should be aware of the expectations of the licensing 

authority and the responsible authorities as to the steps that are appropriate for the 

promotion of the licensing objectives, and to demonstrate knowledge of their local 

area when describing the steps they propose to take to promote the licensing 

objectives. Where relevant the council consults with the responsible authorities as 

described in the Act.  

  

Local people and Members of the council are able to have their say and their opinion 

heard through public consultation on this policy and by making representations about 

applications for premises licences or requesting reviews of licences for problem 

premises.  

  

Enforcement of the legislation is a requirement of the Act that is undertaken by the 

council. This policy describes the council’s enforcement principles and the principles 

underpinning the right of review.  

  

  

Page 76



7  

  

Section 1  The purpose and scope of the licensing policy  

  

1.1 This policy is prepared under Section 5 of the Licensing Act 2003 and was 

approved by Copeland Borough Council as Licensing Authority on the XXXXXX 

2021. It will be kept under review and as a minimum will be reviewed no later 

than 2025, with a new policy in place before the XXXXX 2026 unless statute 

changes. Unless otherwise stated any references to the council are to the 

Copeland Borough Council Licensing Authority.  

 

1.2 This policy comes into effect on the XXXXXX 2021.  

  

1.3   In preparing this policy the council has consulted with and considered the  

 views of a wide range of people and organisations including:  

    

 Representatives of local business including Chambers of Trade and 

Millom and District Joint Business Forum;  

 Local residents and their representatives;  

 Parish and town councils;  

 The local member of parliament;  

 Representatives of existing licence holders and registered clubs;  

 The Whitehaven Harbour Commissioners;  

 The British Beer and Pub Association;  

 Licensing solicitors;  

 Cumbria Police;  

 Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service;  

 Cumbria Health and Wellbeing Board and other bodies performing the duties of 

those specified in section 5(3)(ba) and  (bb) of the Licensing Act 2003;  

 Copeland Borough Council – Environmental Services (environmental and 

health and safety);  

 Copeland Borough Council – Planning;  

 Cumbria County Council – Children and Young People Social Care;  

 Cumbria Local Safeguarding Children Board;  

 Director of Public Health;  

 West Cumberland Hospital – Accident and Emergency;  

 NHS Ambulance Service;  

 Copeland Disability Forum;  

 Cumbria County Council Trading Standards;  

 Charitable organisations that deal with the social impact of alcohol misuse; and  

 Other charitable organisations as appropriate.  

  

1.4 This policy also has regard to the guidance issued by the Secretary of State  

 under Section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003.  

  

1.5 The council will carry out its functions under the Licensing Act 2003 with a view 

to promoting the licensing objectives namely:  

  

Page 77



8  

  

  

 The prevention of crime and disorder;  

 Public safety;  

 The prevention of public nuisance; and  

 The protection of children from harm.  

  

1.6 The council adopts the overall approach of encouraging the responsible  

promotion of licensed activities. However, in the interests of all its residents, it 

will not tolerate irresponsible licensed activity. Following relevant  

representations the council will refuse applications, restrict hours and activities 

or impose conditions where it is appropriate to do so to promote the licensing 

objectives and/or use effective enforcement to address premises  where there 

are problems, in partnership with key agencies such as Cumbria  Police, 

Cumbria Fire and Rescue Service, the Health and Safety Executive,  

Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships, Director of Public Health and 

Cumbria Trading Standards.  

  

1.7 This policy is concerned with the regulation of licensable activities on licensed  

 premises, by qualifying clubs and at temporary events. The conditions that the  

 council attaches to the various licences will focus on matters that are relevant  

 to the four licensing objectives and will centre upon the premises that are  

 being used for licensable activities.  

  

1.8 The council is aware however that the prevention of public nuisance is not 

narrowly defined in the Act and can include low-level nuisance perhaps 

affecting a few people living locally as well as major disturbance affecting the 

whole community. It may also include, in appropriate circumstances, the 

reduction of the living and working amenity and environment of other people 

living and working in the area of the licensed premises. Public nuisance may 

also arise as a result of the adverse effects of artificial light, dust, odour and 

insects or where its effect is prejudicial to health.  

  

1.9 The council will monitor the effect of this policy throughout the period it covers 

through regular meetings with the responsible authorities.  

  

Scope of the policy  

  

1.10   This policy covers licensable activities within Copeland’s district as defined by  

 the Licensing Act 2003. These are:  

  

 The sale of alcohol 

 The supply of alcohol by or on behalf of a club, or to the order of a member of 

the club 

 The provision of regulated entertainment 

 The provision of late night refreshment 

  

Page 78



9  

  

1.11 Advice on whether a licence is required for premises or an event can be  

 obtained from Licensing, Copeland Borough Council.  

  

1.12 Throughout this policy the wording will refer to ‘applicants’ for licences.  

However it should be noted that the principles set out within this policy apply 

equally to new applications, applications for variations and consideration of any 

request to review a licence.  

  

1.13 The scheme of the Licensing Act is that applicants should make applications  

 and assess what matters, if any, need to be included within the operating  

 schedule to address the licensing objectives. If an application is lawfully made  

 and no relevant representations are received then the council must grant the  

 application. Only if relevant representations are made will the council’s  

 discretion be engaged.  

  

1.4 Applicants for premises licences should be aware of the expectations of the  

 licensing authority and the responsible authorities as to the steps that are  

 appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives, and to demonstrate  

 knowledge of their local area when describing the steps they propose to take  

 to promote the licensing objectives. This policy seeks to provide advice to  

 applicants about the approach they should take to making applications and  

 the view the council is likely to take on certain key issues where  

 representations have been made.  

 

 

Section 2  Integrating other guidance, policies, objectives and   

strategies  
  

2.1  In preparing this licensing policy the council has had regard to, and sought to  

 integrate the licensing policy with, the following guidance, policies and  

 strategies:  

  

 Safeguarding Children Policy (November 2018) 

 Safeguarding Adults Policy (November 2018) 

 Copeland Corporate Plan 2015-2019;  

 Local Plan 2013-2028: Core Strategy and Development Management  

Policies; and  

 Copeland Borough Council – Environmental enforcement policies  

    

2.2 The council (through its Licensing Committee) may, from time to time, receive  

 reports on other policies, strategies and initiatives that may impact on  

 licensing activity within the remit of the committee. Subject to the general  

 principles set out in this policy and the overriding need to promote the four  

 licensing objectives it may have regard to them when making licensing  

 decisions.  

  

Page 79



10  

  

2.3 The Committee may, after receiving such reports, make recommendations to  

 the council or other bodies about the impact of the licensing policy on such  

 policies, strategies and initiatives. Equally the Committee may make  

 recommendations relating to the impact of such policies, strategies and  

 initiatives on the licensing policy. This may include recommendations to  

 amend the licensing policy itself.  

  

Section 3  Promotion of the licensing objectives  

  

3.1  The council will carry out its functions under the Licensing Act 2003 with a  

 view to promoting four licensing objectives. These are:  

  

 The prevention of crime and disorder  

 Public safety  

 The prevention of public nuisance  

 The protection of children from harm  

  

3.2 Each objective is of equal importance, and the four objectives will be  

 paramount considerations for the council at all times.  

  

3.3 It is for the applicant to decide what, if any, measures to suggest in its  

 operating schedule in order to address any potential concerns that might arise  

 in the promotion of the licensing objectives. Applicants are reminded that  

 measures proposed in the operating schedules will be converted into  

 conditions on their licence.  

  

3.4 The council recommends that applicants risk assess their operation against  

 the four licensing objectives to identify potential areas of concern.  

  

3.5 Applicants are reminded that responsible authorities or other persons may  

 make representations if they feel that the applicant’s proposals do not  

 adequately promote the licensing objectives. An applicant who proposes no  

 measures to promote the licensing objectives may therefore face more  

 representations than an applicant who risk assesses their operation and  

 proposes necessary and proportionate measures.  

  

3.6 The council recommends early consultation with responsible authorities.  

 Some responsible authorities have produced guidance which applicants can  

 take into account when assessing whether they need to include any measures  

 in their application to promote the licensing objectives. In addition, many  

 responsible authorities would be prepared to discuss matters on site with an  

 applicant with a view to reaching agreement on measures to be proposed.  

 Contact details for the responsible authorities are available from Licensing.  

 Guidance issued by the responsible authorities can be found on the council's  

 website or by contacting Licensing.  

  

 

Page 80



11  

  

Crime and Disorder  

  

3.7   Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the council must exercise its  

 functions, having regard to the likely effect on crime and disorder in its area,  

 and must do all it can to prevent crime and disorder.  

  

3.8   Where its discretion is engaged, the council will seek to promote the licensing  

 objective of preventing crime and disorder in a manner which supports its  

 community safety strategy and any local crime reduction strategy.  

 

3.9   There are many steps an applicant may take to prevent crime and disorder.  

 The council will look to the Police for the main source of advice on these  

 matters. In accordance with the Secretary of State's Guidance, police views  

 on matters relating to crime and disorder will be given considerable weight.  

  

3.10  If relevant representations are made in relation to a premises licence or club  

 premises certificate, the council will consider whether it is necessary to  

 impose conditions to regulate behaviour on the premises and access to them  

 where this relates to licensable activities, and the licensing objectives. Any  

 conditions attached will not seek to manage the behaviour of customers once  

 they are beyond the direct management of the licence holder, their staff or  

 agents, but may seek to impact on the behaviour of customers on or in the  

 immediate vicinity of premises as they seek to enter or leave.  

  

3.11   Conditions will be targeted on deterrence and the prevention of crime and 

disorder. The council may consider:  

  

 The need for and location of CCTV cameras  

 The need for door supervision  

 The need for a text or radio pager system allowing communication between 

premises and with the Police  

 Conditions setting capacity remits where this is necessary to prevent    

overcrowding likely to lead to disorder and violence   

 Membership of a recognised pub watch or similar scheme  

  

3.12  Crime and disorder conditions will not seek to control adult entertainment  

 involving striptease and lap dancing, which will be governed by laws in  

 relation to indecency and obscenity, and will be licensed under the Local  

 Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. However, conditions for  

 such adult entertainment may be imposed for reasons of public safety, or the  

 protection of children from harm if they relate to occasional use of the  

 premises for adult entertainment.  

 

 

Public Safety  

  

Page 81



12  

  

3.13 The public safety objective is concerned with the physical state of people  

 using the premises. Public safety includes safety of performers appearing at  

 any premises.  

  

3.14   On 1 October 2006 the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 replaced 

previous fire safety legislation. The council will not seek to impose fire safety 

conditions as conditions on licences where the Order applies. However 

applicants are expected to show that they have undertaken a full risk 

assessment. All new applications and variations for a premises licence or club 

premises certificate should be accompanied by a fire safety risk assessment as 

required under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. This will 

reduce the likelihood of the Fire Authority making a representation against the 

application.  

 

3.15  Capacity limits will only be imposed where appropriate for the promotion of  

 public safety or for reasons of crime and disorder. Capacity limits will not be  

 imposed as a condition of the licence on fire safety grounds.  

  

3.16   Applicants are advised to consult with the Environmental Health, Health and  

 Safety Team, who can offer advice as to appropriate measures to be included  

 in risk assessments, and potentially in operating schedules. On receipt of  

 relevant representations the council will have regard to the views of the Health  

 and Safety Team.   

  

3.17   Conditions requiring possession of certificates on the safety or satisfactory 

nature of equipment or fixtures on premises will not normally be imposed as 

those are dealt with by other legislation. However, if it is considered necessary 

in light of the evidence on each individual case, conditions may be imposed 

requiring checks on the equipment to be conducted at specified intervals, and 

evidence of the checks to be retained. Conditions may also seek to require 

equipment of particular standards to be maintained on premises.  

  

3.18   Special considerations will apply to night clubs and similar venues. Applicants  

are encouraged to consider the Safer Nightlife Guide published by the Home  

Office, which gives advice on these issues.  

  

3.19   Special events in the open air or temporary structures raise particular issues.  

 Applicants are referred to other sections of this document where guidance on  

 holding these types of event is given.  

  

3.20  Applicants are reminded that some customers may find accessing premises  

 difficult due to disability and if they do struggle accessing premises may find it  

 even more difficult to leave premises in the event of an emergency on the  

 premises. Applicants should therefore be cognisant of the Equality Act 2010  

 and endeavour to make their premises available to all regardless of disability  

 and make appropriate reasonable adjustments to ensure such availability  

  

Page 82



13  

  

Public Nuisance  

  

3.21   In considering the promotion of this licensing objective, applicants need to  

 focus on the effect of licensable activities on persons living and working in the  

 area around the premises which may be disproportionate and unreasonable.  

  

3.22   Public nuisance in this context is not narrowly defined and can include low  

 level nuisance affecting a few people living locally, as well as a major  

 disturbance affecting the whole community.  

  

3.23   Issues will mainly concern noise nuisance, light pollution, noxious smells and  

 litter. These include issues arising from the implementation of the smoking  

 ban where customers may now be more inclined to use external areas of  

 premises.  

 

3.24  Where applicants are completing operating schedules the council encourages  

 them to have regard to the location of the proposed or actual premises, and in  

 particular whether proposals may have a disproportionate impact in dense  

 residential areas or near to sensitive premises such as nursing homes, old  

 people's accommodation, hospitals, hospices or places of worship.  

  

3.25  Applicants are recommended to consult Environmental Health Services for  

 advice on measures that may need to be incorporated into an operating  

 schedule.  

  

3.26   If relevant representations are made, the council will consider whether it is  

 necessary to impose conditions to regulate behaviour on the premises and  

 access to them where this relates to licensable activities, and the licensing  

 objectives. Any conditions attached will not seek to manage the behaviour of  

 customers once they are beyond the direct management of the licence holder,  

 their staff or agents, but may seek to reduce the impact of the behaviour of  

 customers entering or leaving the premises on people living or working near  

 to the premises. The council considers that patrons who are using external  

 smoking areas or shelters are there as a direct result of the licensed premises  

 and are within the control of the licensee.  

  

3.27   The council will consider whether issues relating to public nuisance can be  

 effectively dealt with by necessary and appropriate conditions. These  

 conditions will normally focus on the more sensitive periods, for example,  

 noise from premises in the late evening or early morning when residents may  

 be attempting to sleep.  

  

3.28   When considering such matters, the council will have regard to  

 representations made by Environmental Health Services, and by local  

 residents.  

  

Page 83



14  

  

3.29   The council may consider the following matters, however this is not an 

exhaustive list:  

  

 Whether doors and windows will or can be kept closed after a particular time;  

 Whether other noise control measures such as acoustic curtains or other 

speaker mounts are required;  

 The fact that lighting outside the premises may help to prevent crime and 

disorder, but may give rise to light pollution for neighbours;  

 Signs placed at the exit to buildings can encourage patrons to be quiet until 

they leave the area, and to respect the rights of residents;   

 The size and location of smoking areas and any facilities provided may    

encourage patrons to use the external areas more extensively than for just 

smoking and returning to the inside of the premises;  

 Provision of litter bins in the vicinity of premises serving hot food after 11pm; 

and  

 Display of contact details or a direct telephone link to a private hire/taxi firm.  

 

 

3.30 The council recognises that it is necessary to balance the rights of local  

 residents businesses and others with those wishing to provide licensable  

 activities, and those who wish to use such facilities.  

  

3.31 Ultimately if it is necessary for the prevention of public nuisance where  

 conditions do not adequately address the issues an application can be  

 refused.  

  

Protection of children from harm  

  

3.32   The council recognises the Cumbria Safeguarding Children –Partnership as a 

responsible authority for the protection of children from harm.  

  

3.33   The protection of children from harm includes protection from physical and  

 psychological harm.  

  

3.34   The council notes that the admission of children to premises holding a  

 premises licence or club premises certificate should normally be freely  

 allowed unless there is good reason to restrict entry or exclude children  

 completely.  

  

3.35   Issues about access of children to premises may give rise to concern:  

  

 where adult entertainment is provided on an occasional basis and is not 

already licensed under other legislation;  

 where there have been convictions of the current management for serving 

alcohol to minors;  

 where the premises have a reputation for allowing under-age drinking;  

Page 84



15  

  

 where requirements of proof of age is not the norm;  

 where premises have a known association with drug taking or dealing;  

 where there is a strong element of gambling on the premises; and    

 where the supply of alcohol consumption on the premises is the exclusive or 

primary purpose of the services provided.  

 

3.36 Such situations can be identified through a risk assessment of the operation.  

 In these circumstances, applicants are advised to consider offering  

 appropriate conditions through their operating schedule. In addition, licensees  

 may identify that the access of children to particular parts of the premises  

 poses more risk than others, and seek only to exclude children from areas of  

 highest risk.  

  

3.37 On receipt of relevant representations, the council will consider whether  

 conditions are necessary. If conditions are necessary these may include:  

 

 limitations on the hours when children will be present;  

 limitations upon the presence of children of certain ages when specified 

activities are taking place;  

 limits on the parts of the premises to which children may have access;  

 age limitations;  

 limitations or exclusions only when certain activities are taking place;  

 requirements for an accompanying adult; and  

 full exclusion of people under the age of 18 when any licensable activities are 

taking place.  

 

3.38 In such cases, representations by the Safeguarding Children Board and the  

 Police will be given considerable weight where they address issues regarding  

 the admission of children.  

  

3.39 It is mandatory for premises which sell or supply alcohol to have an age  

 verification policy in place. However, the council favours the Challenge  

 25/Check 25 type schemes and such a scheme volunteered as part of an  

 operating schedule will be given the appropriate weight when the council  

 determines the licence application.  

  

3.40 No condition will be imposed by the council requiring the admission of children  

 to any licensed premises except in the case of exhibition of film where a  

 mandatory condition is applied to all licences with this activity.  

 

 

 

 

Section 4  General principles  

  

Page 85



16  

  

4.1  In determining a licensing application the overriding principle will be that each  

 application will be determined on its own merit, having regard to the need to  

 promote the four licensing objectives and taking into account this licensing  

 policy and the guidance issued under Section 182 by the Secretary of State.  

 Where it is necessary to depart from the guidance or this policy the council  

 will give clear and cogent reasons for doing so.  

  

4.2   Nothing in this policy will undermine any person’s right to apply for a variety of  

 permissions under the Act.  

  

4.3   Applicants are reminded of the Government’s Alcohol Strategy. Matters set  

 out in the strategy may be relevant to general licensing principles and to one  

 or more of the licensing objectives.  

 

Protection of Privacy and Data 

 

4.4 In line with the General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection Act 

2018 the Council and the Cumbria Police are Joint Data Controllers of the 

information provided as part of your application. The Council and Cumbria 

Police have a statutory duty to process and maintain licences and permissions 

and conduct enforcement activities in accordance with the Licensing Act 2003 

as Part of a legal obligation to meet the statutory requirments for the licensing 

of the sale of alcohol, regulated entertainment and late right refreshments.  

 

4.5 We may share the following information with the third parties listed below: 

details of the licenced premises, license status, the name, addresses and 

company numbers of persons and companies named on a licence. This 

information may be shared with services within the Council, for example this 

Environment Agency.  

 

4.6 In addition we will share with external third party organisation including 

Government Departments, Information Commissioners Office (for National 

Fraud Initiative), the Health and Safety Executive, Cumbria Fire Service to 

make further enquiries regarding your application under the Licensing Act 2003 

or where required by law for the detection and prevention of crime.  

 

4.7 The personal information you provide as part of your application for a premises 

licence, club premises certificate or personal licence will be held for a period of 

6 years following the termination of the licence/permit. The personal 

information held for Temporary Event Notices will be held for a period of 2 

calendar years following the event. Details of all transactions are recorded 

permanently as an entry on the licensing register.  

 

4.8 The Council’s corporate privacy notice, which includes your information rights 

is available at: 

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/privacy_statement.

pdf  

Page 86

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/privacy_statement.pdf
https://www.copeland.gov.uk/sites/default/files/attachments/privacy_statement.pdf


17  

  

 

Equality Act 2010 

 

4.9 The council is committed to eliminating unlawful discrimination, harassment 

and victimisation, advancing equality of opportunity and fostering good 

relations within and between our communities.  

 

4.10 It is recommended that licensees make themselves familiar with the 

requirements of this Act for the access and provision of services for persons 

within the protected groups identified by the legislation. The Act makes it 

unlawful to discriminate against anyone because of:   

 

4.11 In order to promote equality, and to fulfil its statutory duties under the Equality 

Act 2010, the council asks that applicants aim to achieve inclusive access to their 

venues and events.  

 

4.12 The council cannot enforce the Act but those who experience discrimination 

may take legal action following a complaints procedure. Where complaints are 

received by the council we advise the complainant of their rights under the Equality 

Act.  

 

4.13 Further guidance on how the Equality Act effects pubs is available from the 

British Beer and Pub Association at http://beerandpub.com/wp-

content/uploads/2017/Briefings/BBPA-guidance-accessibility-in-pubs.pdf  

 

Human Rights  

  

4.14   The European Convention on Human Rights makes it unlawful for a public  

 authority to act in a way that is incompatible with a Convention right. The  

 council will have particular regard to the following relevant provisions of the  

 European Convention on Human Rights:  

  

 Article 6 that in determination of civil rights and obligations everyone is entitled 

to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an independent and 

impartial tribunal established by law;  

 Article 8 that everyone has the right to respect for his home and private life; 

and  

 Article 1 of the first protocol that every person is entitled to the peaceful 

enjoyment of his or her possessions.  

 

Impact of Licensed Activity  

  

4.15   Where no representations are made the council will grant a licence subject to  

 conditions consistent with the operating schedule.  

  

4.16   When determining any application where relevant representations are made,  

 the council will consider it in the light of the four licensing objectives and in  

Page 87

http://beerandpub.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/Briefings/BBPA-guidance-accessibility-in-pubs.pdf
http://beerandpub.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/Briefings/BBPA-guidance-accessibility-in-pubs.pdf


18  

  

 order to support a number of other key aims and purposes as set out in this  

 policy. The requirement to promote the licensing objectives will be the  

 paramount consideration. The council will focus upon the impact of the  

 activities taking place on members of the public living, working or engaged in  

 normal activity near the premises.  

  

4.17   Where relevant representations are made in relation to a premises licence,  

 club premises certificate or temporary event notice the following factors will  

 normally be taken into account when the council is looking at the impact of the  

 activities concerned:  

  

 the style of operation, the numbers of customers and customer profile likely to 

attend the premises;  

 the location of the premises and the proximity of noise sensitive properties;  

 the proposed hours of operation;  

 the transport arrangements for customers attending or leaving the premises 

and any possible impact on local residents or businesses;  

 any proposed methods for the dispersal of customers;  

 the scope for mitigating any impact; and  

 the extent to which the applicant has offered conditions to mitigate the   impact  

how often the activity occurs.  

  

4.18  In considering any application for a variation to a premises licence or club  

 premises certificate where a relevant representation has been received, the  

 council may take into account, in addition to the above matters, any evidence:  

  

 of past demonstrable adverse impact from the activity especially on    

local residents or businesses; and  

 that, if adverse impact has been caused, appropriate measures have been 

agreed and put into effect by the applicant to mitigate that adverse impact.  

  

4.19   Other relevant matters may be considered as the individual case dictates.  

  

Special Events in the Open Air or in Temporary Structures  

  

4.20   The promotion and the organisation of live musical and similar entertainment  

 in the open air or in temporary structures like marquees etc. can provide  

 opportunities for community involvement, civic pride and can attract visitors to  

 the district.  

4.21   However, the success of such events by way of contribution to the council’s  

 cultural and tourist strategies depends upon the quality, levels of safety and  

 consideration for the rights of people who live or work in the vicinity and the  

 standard of provision of facilities for those coming to enjoy the event.  

  

4.32   In recognition of the special factors that are relevant, particularly with respect  

 to major open air events such as a pop festival or events, the council has 

established a   multi-agency forum to assist organisers in co-ordinating such 

Page 88



19  

  

events. This   includes council departments who have an interest in or legislative role  

 relevant to such events, together with representatives of the various  

 emergency services.  

  

4.33   Members of the forum are notified about all proposals to hold such events and  

 where necessary special meetings will be organised in order to consider any  

 issues that will require to be addressed and to open up lines of  

 communication with organisers.  

  

4.34   The Health and Safety Executive provide specialist guidance on event safety 

through their website at www.hse.gov.uk   

  

4.35   Guidance on the planning of such events is available to organisers but it is  

 important that substantial notice is given so that proper preparations and  

 precautions can be put in place for the event. This also applies if the event is  

 proposed under a Temporary Event Notice.  

  

Community Applicants  

  

4.36  Whilst this policy is aimed at all licensable activities under the Licensing Act  

 2003 it should be noted that the council sees a distinction between large or  

 permanent activities, such as those proposed by commercial operators and  

 small or temporary activities such as those which might be proposed by  

 cultural or community groups.  

  

4.37   Where events are proposed by cultural or community groups, it is recognised  

 that those groups may not have the same skill or expertise or access to  

 professional advice. Such groups may seek assistance and guidance from the  

 council by contacting Licensing.  

  

4.38   Whatever the nature of the applicant and activity proposed, the overriding  

 matter is that the council will consider the individual merits of the application  

 and act so as to promote the licensing objectives.  

  

Other Regulatory Regimes  

  

4.39   The licensing policy is not intended to be the primary mechanism for the 

general control of nuisance, anti-social behaviour and environmental crime but 

nonetheless is a key aspect of such control and the licensing policy and 

licensing decisions are intended to be part of an holistic approach to the 

delivery of the council plan and the management of the evening and night  

  time economy of the Copeland district.  

  

4.40   In preparing this policy the council has sought to avoid unnecessary  

 duplication of existing legislation and regulatory regimes. However on  

 occasions it has been necessary to set out some of the detail in this policy for  

 ease of understanding. Nothing in this policy is intended to revoke or replace  

Page 89

http://www.hse.gov.uk/


20  

  

 the need for applicants to act in accordance with legal requirements. All  

 applicants are advised to seek proper advice to ensure that the activities they  

 propose are within the boundaries set by existing legislation and regulations.  

  

Application Process  

  

4.41   Applications must be made to the council in the form prescribed by  

  Regulations. Guidance is available to applicants setting out the detail of the  

 process.  

  

4.42  Applications must be served on responsible authorities as required by the 

Licensing Act 2003. Where appropriate, a notice on site and a notice in a 

newspaper must also be made in accordance with the Act. Additionally the 

Council recognises that parish and town councils can and do play a key role in 

representing local persons who live in the vicinity of application premises. As a 

matter of policy the Council normally requires applicants to notify the parish or 

town council for the area in which the application premises are located of any 

application being made. The Council will take into account any representations 

made by such councils, as interested parties under the Act, when it determines 

the application.  

  

Licensing Committee  

  

4.43   The council has appointed a licensing committee of 11 Councillors. Licensing  

 functions will often be delegated to a licensing subcommittee of 3 Councillors  

 or, in appropriate cases to officers of the council.  

  

4.44   Councillors will have regard to the Copeland Borough Council Code of  

  Conduct for Members. Where a Councillor who is a member of the Licensing  

 Committee or subcommittee has a disclosable pecuniary interest in the  

 application before them, in the interests of good governance they will  

 disqualify themselves from any involvement in the decision making process in  

 respect of that application.  

  

4.45  A subcommittee may refer an application to another subcommittee or to the  

 Licensing Committee where it is unable to deal with the application because  

 of the number of members unable to vote on the matter in question.  

  

4.46  The Licensing Committee will refer an application to the council where it is  

 unable to deal with the application because of the number of members unable  

 to vote on the matter in question.  

  

Representations  

  

4.47   Depending on the type of application representations may be made by a  

 responsible authority or other persons (as defined by the Licensing Act 2003).  

    

Page 90



21  

  

4.48   Members of the public who wish to submit a representation in regards to a 

premises licence or club premises certificate application need to be aware that 

their personal details will be made available to the applicant. If this is an issue 

they may contact a local representative such as a ward, parish or town 

councillor or any other locally recognised body such as a residents association 

about submitting the representation on their behalf. The council is not able to 

accept anonymous representations. In addition the council cannot accept 

petitions which do not follow the guidance on the council’s website.  

  

4.49  Where a representation is received which is not from a responsible authority  

 the council will in the first instance make a judgement on whether it is  

 relevant, i.e. based upon one or more of the four licensing objectives.  

  

4.50   `Relevant representations’ are representations:  

 about the likely effect of the premises licence on the promotion of the licensing 

objectives; and  

 which have not been withdrawn and are not, in the opinion of the council, 

frivolous or vexatious.  

  

4.51 Where relevant representations are received about an application the council  

 will hold a hearing to consider them unless the council, the applicant and  

 everyone who has made representations agree that the hearing is not  

 necessary. Applicants and those making representations should seek, in  

 advance of any hearing, to try to reach agreement or to narrow the areas in  

 dispute, particularly where both are professionally represented.  

  

4.52 Where hearings are required as a result of relevant representations, the  

 council may extend the time limits involved in calling hearings in order to allow  

 the parties to negotiate suitable conditions to be added to the operating  

 schedule and avoid the need for a hearing. Such an extension of time is  

 considered to be in the public interest.  

  

Reasons for Decisions  

  

4.53   Every decision made by the Licensing Committee, subcommittee or officers  

 shall be accompanied by clear reasons for the decision.  

  

  

Decision making  

  

4.54 Decisions by the licensing authority will be made in accordance with Copeland 

Borough Council’s Constitution. In summary, applications where no 

representations are received will be determined by officers; applications where 

representations are received will be determined by members; and applications 

where representations are received only from responsible authorities which 

result in conditions being agreed to address the issues raised will be 

determined by officers.  

Page 91



22  

  

 

 

 

Section 5  Premises licences and club premises certificates  

  

5.1  A premises licence and club premises certificates authorises the sale or  

 supply of alcohol, regulated entertainment and late night refreshment (sale of  

 hot food and drink after 11pm). Businesses wishing to apply for a licence or  

 certificate must use the prescribed form which includes details of the hours of  

 operation, any hours for licensable activities and an operating schedule.  

  

Planning  

  

5.2   The use of premises for the sale or provision of alcohol, regulated  

 entertainment or late night refreshment is subject to planning control. Such  

 use will require planning permission or must otherwise be lawful under  

 planning legislation. Planning permission is generally required for the  

 establishment of new premises or the change of use of premises.  

  

5.3   In line with the section 182 Guidance the planning and licensing regimes 

involve consideration of different (albeit related) matters. Licensing   committees 

are not bound by decisions made by a planning committee, and vice versa.  

  

5.4   Where businesses have indicated, when applying for a licence under the Act,  

 that they have also applied for planning permission or that they intend to do  

 so, licensing committees and officers will consider discussion with their  

 planning counterparts prior to determination with the aim of agreeing mutually  

 acceptable operating hours and scheme designs.  

  

5.5   Where relevant representations are received, any decision on a licence  

 application will not consider whether any decision to grant or refuse planning  

 permission or building consent was lawful and correct. It will take into account  

 what the impact of granting the application will be on the four licensing  

 objectives.  

  

5.6   In general, all premises which are the subject of an application, should have  

 the benefit of planning permission, or be deemed permitted development. The  

 onus will be on the applicant to demonstrate that planning permission has  

 been granted or that the premises have the benefit of permitted development  

 rights. Failure to do so may result in representations and the licence being  

 refused or granted subject to conditions which take account of the planning  

 permissions in existence.  

  

5.7   In addition, all new developments and premises which have been subject to 

structural alterations since 1994 will have building control approval in the form 

of a Building Regulations Completion Certificate. The onus will be on the 

applicant to demonstrate that any structural alterations have been approved by 

Page 92



23  

  

building control. Failure to do so may result in representations and the licence 

being refused or granted subject to conditions.  

  

Licensing Hours  

  

5.8   The government acknowledges that different licensing approaches may be  

 appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives in different areas. The  

 Act gives the Council the power to make decisions regarding licensed opening  

 hours based on local knowledge and in consultation with other responsible  

 authorities.  

  

5.9   In some circumstances, staggered licensing hours with regards to the sale of  

 alcohol are important to ensure that the concentration of customers leaving  

 premises simultaneously is reduced. The intention behind this is to reduce the  

 friction at late night fast food outlets, taxi ranks and other sources of transport  

 which currently lead to disorder and disturbance.  

  

5.10 Providing the customers with greater choice is an important consideration in  

 the development of a thriving and safe evening and night-time economy in  

 Copeland. However any licensable activity has the potential to impact  

 adversely on the surrounding area due to disturbance or crime and disorder.  

 Customers may be noisy when leaving, leave litter or use on-street car  

 parking. The impact of these activities can be particularly intrusive at night  

 when ambient noise levels are much lower.  

  

5.11   The council supports the development of a wide ranging and culturally diverse  

 night-time economy where this can be achieved whilst promoting the four  

 licensing objectives and without compromising the ability to resource local  

 services associated with the night-time economy such as street cleansing.  

  

5.12   Under the Act there are no permitted hours for the sale of alcohol. Applicants  

 are able to suggest in their operating schedule the hours they wish to open  

 and to apply to vary their existing licences if they wish to open beyond their  

 current permitted hours. However, there is no general presumption in favour  

 of lengthening licensing hours and the four licensing objectives will be the  

 paramount consideration at all times.  

  

5.13  If relevant representations are made the council will only grant the hours of  

 use proposed where the operating schedule and any risk assessment  

 adequately demonstrates that:  

  

     the applicant has properly considered what is appropriate for the local

  area when considering what hours and activities to apply for;    

   the potential effect on the licensing objectives is not significant; and  

    the agreed operating schedule demonstrates that the applicant is     

  taking appropriate steps to minimise any adverse impact on local     

  residents and businesses.  

Page 93



24  

  

  

5.14 Restrictions may be made to the proposed hours of use where, after receiving 

relevant representations, the council considers it appropriate for the promotion 

of the licensing objectives to do so. The council will take into account the 

existing pattern of licensed premises in an area when considering what is 

appropriate to promote the objectives. Applications which are significantly out 

of character for a locality will need to demonstrate that granting the hours 

sought will not impact on the licensing objectives, given the potential for 

neighbouring premises to seek the same additional hours to prevent rivals 

gaining a commercial advantage.  

  

5.15  As a general rule shops, stores and supermarkets should normally be free to  

 provide sales of alcohol for consumption off the premises at any times when  

 the retail outlet is open for shopping unless there are good reasons, based on  

 the licensing objectives, for restricting those hours.  

  

Local, national and international occasions  

  

5.16   It should be possible for applicants for premises licences and club premises  

 certificates to anticipate special occasions which occur regularly each year,  

 for example bank holidays, and to incorporate appropriate opening hours for  

 these occasions in their operating schedules.  

  

5.17   Additional occasions for which extensions may be required may be covered  

 by a Temporary Event Notice.  

  

Drinking up time  

  

5.18   The traditional ‘drinking up time’ was not carried over into the Licensing Act  

 2003. However the hours during which applicants are licensed to sell or  

 supply alcohol and the opening hours need not be identical and therefore  

 applicants of premises licensed for the on-sale of alcohol are recommended  

 to consider a drinking up/cooling down period during which music volume may  

 be reduced, customers may consume their drinks and make arrangements for  

 transport from the premises. The council considers that a 30 minute drinking  

 up time will assist in the gradual dispersal of customers and consequently  

 reduce impact on the area.  

  

5.19 Where relevant representations are made the council will consider imposing a  

 condition on drinking up time where such a condition is appropriate in order to  

 promote the licensing objectives in any individual case.  

  

Operating Schedules  

  

5.20   Under the Licensing Act 2003 applicants are required to complete an  

 ‘operating schedule’. Applicants are expected to have regard to the council’s  

 Statement of Licensing Policy. They must also be aware of the expectations  

Page 94



25  

  

 of the licensing authority and the responsible authorities as to the steps that  

 are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives and to  

 demonstrate knowledge of their local area when describing the steps they  

 propose to take to promote the licensing objectives.  

  

5.21   Operating schedules are the key to ensuring that the four licensing objectives  

 are promoted. An operating schedule should include enough information to  

 enable any responsible authority or other person to assess whether the steps  

 to be taken to promote the licensing objectives are satisfactory.  

  

5.22   Whilst applicants are not required to seek the views of responsible authorities  

 before formally submitting their application, they may find them to be a useful  

 source of expert advice on local issues that should be taken into consideration  

 when making an application. The council encourages co-operation between  

 applicants, responsible authorities and, where relevant, local residents and  

 businesses before applications are submitted in order to minimise the scope  

 for disputes to arise.  

  

5.23   Other publicly available sources which may be of use to applicants include:  

  

 the Crime Mapping website and crime statistics;  

 Neighbourhood Statistics websites;  

 websites or publications by local responsible authorities;  

 websites or publications by local voluntary schemes and initiatives; and  

 on-line mapping tools.  

 

5.24   Applicants should make their own enquiries and demonstrate how they have  

 considered the following in their operating schedule:  

  

 The layout of the local area and physical environment including crime and 

disorder hotspots, proximity to residential premises and proximity to areas 

where children and young persons may congregate;    

 Any risk posed to the local area by the applicants’ proposed licensable    

activities; and  

 Any local initiatives (for example, local crime reduction initiatives or     

voluntary schemes such as local taxi-marshalling schemes, street pastors and 

other schemes), which may help mitigate potential risks.  

  

5.25 The council expects individual applicants to complete the operating schedule  

 in a manner that is specific to the application being made in respect of those  

 premises and the licensable activity to be carried on rather than in general or  

 standard terms. Information should be given to demonstrate how the  

 individual application proposes to address and promote the licensing  

 objectives. Applicants are referred to paragraphs 5.27 to 5.31 below which  

 contain information on carrying out a risk assessment.  

  

Page 95



26  

  

5.26 Any application or operating schedule not completed in accordance with the  

 Act and the regulations may be returned to the applicant unprocessed with a  

 request to complete the forms correctly before the application is accepted by  

 council.  

  

Risk assessments  

  

5.27   The council recommends that applicants complete a risk assessment of their 

business in order to understand what steps are required to complete the 

operating schedule in a manner which enables the council and responsible 

authorities to assess how they will seek to promote the licensing objectives.  

  

5.28   The council is aware that any risk assessment will vary according to the nature 

of the business. It is for applicants to decide what is appropriate in each case. 

A special risk assessment proforma designed for outdoor events and broadly 

based on the ‘Purple Guide’ is also available.  

  

5.29   The risk assessment contains many of the key factors which the responsible  

 authorities will be expecting applicants to meet in order to fulfil the licensing  

 objectives. The contents are not exhaustive but the risk assessment approach  

 will reduce the possibilities of adverse representations.  

  

5.30   It is recognised that some areas of the risk assessment may duplicate issues  

 which applicants have previously addressed in order to satisfy other  

 legislation. Where this does occur the operating schedule may cross  

 reference to alternative documents.  

  

5.31   The council recognises that it cannot insist on a risk assessment. However an  

 applicant who decides not to complete or provide a risk assessment may face  

 additional representations and the expense of hearings as a result. If a risk  

 assessment is not completed then applicants will need to demonstrate how  

 these matters have been addressed through the operating schedule provided.  

  

Local Licensing Guidance  

  

5.32   Each locality has its own character and challenges. In order to assist  

applicants, where there is an issue in a local area which impacts on how the  

applicant should complete the operating schedule, the council will publish   local 

licensing guidance.   

  

5.33   The local licensing guidance should be given careful consideration when  

 making an application. Applicants may be asked to attend a meeting with  

 licensing officers to discuss the measures suggested in the guidance and how  

 they might be relevant to their application. The Local Licensing Guidance will  

 be presented to any subsequent Licensing subcommittee when they  

 determine an application that has received representations.  

  

Page 96



27  

  

5.34   The council recognises that it cannot insist on applicants using the local  

 licensing guidance when completing their operating schedules. However an  

 applicant who decides to disregard the guidance may face additional  

 representations and the expense of a hearing as a result.  

  

Consumption of Alcohol  

  

5.35   The council is acutely aware of the link between the supply of alcohol that is  

 subject to certain promotions and the possibility of resultant incidents of  

 alcohol related crime and disorder and implications for public safety, public  

 nuisance and the risk of harm to children.  

  

5.36   The council also recognises the impact that excessive or binge drinking can  

 have on public health and that positive action on promoting the licensing  

 objectives is equally likely to have an indirect impact on public health.  

  

5.37   The British Beer and Pub Association states that a promotion is irresponsible  

 where it encourages or incites individuals to drink to excess, behave in an  

 anti-social manner or fuels drunkenness. The council as the licensing  

 authority will use the powers contained within the Licensing Act to ensure  

 operators’ promotional activities do not undermine the licensing objectives.  

  

5.38   In April 2010 new mandatory conditions came into effect which:  

  

 Ban irresponsible promotions;  

 Ban the dispensing of alcohol directly into the mouth; and  

 Ensure that customers have access to free tap water so that they can space 

out their drinks and not get too intoxicated too quickly.  

  

5.29 The legislation makes it clear that an irresponsible promotion is one that is  

 “carried on for the purpose of encouraging the sale or supply of alcohol for  

 consumption on the premises in a manner which carried a significant risk of  

 leading or contributing to crime and disorder, prejudice to public safety, public  

 nuisance or harm to children”.  

  

5.40 As a consequence any on-trade premises that participates in irresponsible  

 drinks promotions will be breaching licence conditions and will be dealt with in  

 accordance with the council’s relevant enforcement protocol which is available  

 from the council’s website and may be subject to a review of their licence.  

  

Conditions  

  

5.41   The council may only impose conditions where relevant representations are  

 made following an application to grant or vary a licence or where a review  

 request is being considered.  

  

Page 97



28  

  

5.42   The council recognises that the only conditions that should be imposed on a  

 licence are those which are appropriate and proportionate to the promotion of  

 the licensing objectives. There may be circumstances where existing  

 legislation and regulations already effectively promote the licensing objectives  

 and no additional conditions are required.  

  

5.43   Where conditions are imposed they will be tailored to the individual style and  

 characteristics of the premises and events concerned.  

  

5.44   Applicants are strongly encouraged to make early contact with the appropriate  

 responsible authorities to discuss proposed conditions in advance of the  

 submission of their application to the council.  

  

  

  

Designated Premises Supervisor  

  

5.45   An applicant for a premises licence which includes the sale and supply of  

 alcohol must nominate a Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS). That person  

 will normally have been given day to day responsibility for running the  

 premises. The DPS will also be in possession of a personal licence. The Act  

 does not require the presence of the DPS at all material times.  

  

5.46  The DPS will be readily identifiable on the premises as a person in a position of 

authority. No sale or supply of alcohol may be made at a time when no DPS 

has been specified on the licence or at a time when the DPS does not hold a 

Personal Licence.  

  

Staff Training  

  

5.47   The council recommends that all persons employed on licensed premises  

 who are engaged in the sale and supply of alcohol be encouraged to attend  

 training programmes to raise awareness of their responsibility and particularly  

 of the offences contained within the Act. Similarly persons employed at on 

 licensed premises should be encouraged to attend training programmes  

 which will raise their awareness of the issues relating to drugs and violence in  

 licensed premises, and that suitable training be extended to all staff involved  

 in managing or supervising the premises.  

  

5.48   It is also recommended that persons employed on premises providing  

 entertainment for children and youths attend training programmes in basic  

 child protection and safety, and if appropriate have the necessary DBS  

 checks.  

  

5.49  All persons employed on licensed premises should be provided with in-house  

 training on basic public safety and the housekeeping arrangements relative to  

 those premises.  

Page 98



29  

  

  

 

 

 

Club Premises Certificate  

  

5.50   The Act recognises that premises to which public access is restricted and  

 where alcohol is supplied other than for profit, give rise to different issues for  

 licensing law than those presented by commercial enterprises selling direct to  

 the public. For this reason qualifying clubs may apply for a Club Premises  

 Certificate as an alternative to a premises licence.  

  

5.51   A Designated Premises Supervisor and Personal Licence Holders are not  

 required where a Club Premises Certificate is in force. However, an applicant  

 for a Club Premises Certificate is still required to act in a manner which  

 promotes the licensing objectives. An application for a Club Premises  

 Certificate must be in the form prescribed by regulations.  

  

5.52   Any qualifying club may choose to obtain a Premises Licence if it decides that  

it wishes to offer its facilities commercially for use by the public, including the 

sale of alcohol. Any individual on behalf of the club may also provide 

Temporary Events Notices.   

  

Community Halls  

  

5.53   The Legislative Reform (Supervision of Alcohol Sales in Church and Village  

 Halls etc.)  Order 2009 amends the Licensing Act 2003 to allow management  

 committees of community premises to make an application for a premises  

 licence or to vary an existing premises licence which includes an application  

 to remove the requirement of a designated premises supervisor and the  

 authorisation of the sale of alcohol by a personal licence holder.  

  

Minor Variations  

 

5.54   It is now possible to make small changes to premises licences or club  

 premises certificates through the minor variation process, which is cheaper,  

 easier and quicker than the full variation process. The test for whether a  

 proposed variation is ‘minor’ is whether it could impact adversely on any of the  

 four licensing objectives.   

  

Alcohol Deliveries  

  

5.55   An applicant seeking a licence that will enable them to provide alcohol as part  

 of an alcohol delivery service should include in their operating schedule the  

 procedures they intend to operate to ensure that:  

  

 The person they are selling alcohol to is over the age of 18;  

Page 99



30  

  

 That alcohol is only delivered to a person over the age of 18;   

 That a clear document trail of the order process from order, despatch from the 

licensed premises and delivery to the customer is maintained (with times and 

signatures) and available for inspection by an authorised officer; and  

 The time that alcohol is sold on the website/over the phone and the time the 

alcohol is delivered is within the hours stated on the licence for the sale of 

alcohol.  

 

 

Section 6 Personal licences  

  

6.1  Every supply of alcohol under the premises licence must be made or  

 authorised by a person who holds a Personal Licence. The Act does not  

 require the presence of a Personal Licence holder at all material times but if  

 any sales are made when a Personal Licence Holder is not present, then they  

 must have been authorised by somebody who holds a Personal Licence.  

 Regardless of whether a Personal Licence holder is present or not he will not  

 be able to escape responsibility for the actions of those he authorises to make  

 such sales.  

  

6.2   The council recommends that authorisations for the sale of alcohol be made in 

writing to ensure that those authorised are clear what their legal responsibilities 

are. Any premises at which alcohol is sold or supplied may employ one or more 

Personal Licence holders. This paragraph should be read in conjunction with 

paragraphs 5.45 and 5.46 above on the role of the ‘Designated Premises 

Supervisor’.  

  

6.3   The council recognises it has no discretion regarding the granting of personal  

 licences where  

  

 the applicant is 18 or over;  

 possesses a licensing qualification,  

 has not had a licence forfeited in the last five years and   

 has not been convicted of a relevant offence.  

  

6.4 An application for a personal licence to sell alcohol must be made in the form  

 specified in government guidance or regulations. The application form must  

 be accompanied by the requisite fee. The applicant should also be able to  

 produce evidence of the relevant qualifications.  

  

6.5 Applicants should produce a Disclosure and Barring Service certificate along  

 with the application form. The certificate must be current and comply with the  

 regulations on personal licence applications. Applicants are also expected to  

 make a clear statement as to whether or not they have been convicted  

 outside England and Wales of a relevant offence or a similar offence.  

  

Page 100



31  

  

6.6 Where the application discloses relevant unspent convictions the council will  

 notify the police of that application and the convictions. The police may make  

 objection on the grounds of crime and disorder. If an objection is lodged a  

 hearing must be held.  

  

6.7 The council will, at such a hearing, consider carefully whether the grant of the  

 licence will compromise the promotion of the crime prevention objective. It will  

 consider the seriousness and relevance of the conviction(s), the period that  

 has elapsed since the offence(s) were committed and any mitigating  

 circumstances. The council will normally refuse the application unless there  

 are exceptional and compelling circumstances which justify granting it.  

 

 

Section 7  Temporary event notices  

  

7.1  The system of permitted temporary activities is intended as a light touch  

 process, and as such, the carrying on of licensable activities does not have to  

 be authorised by the licensing authority on an application. Instead a person  

 wishing to hold an event at which such activities are proposed to be carried on  

  (the “premises user”) gives notice to the licensing authority of the event (a  

  “temporary event notice” or “TEN”).  

  

7.2   Temporary event notices are subject to various limitations. These are  

 concerned with:  

  

 the number of times a premises user may give a TEN – 50 times in a calendar 

year for a personal licence holder and five times in a calendar year for other 

people;  

 the number of times a TEN may be given for any particular premises  (15 times 

in a calendar year);  

 the maximum duration of an event authorised by a TEN is 168 hours (seven 

days);  

 the maximum total duration of the events authorised by TENs in relation to 

individual premises (21 days in a calendar year);   

 the maximum number of people attending at any one time (fewer than 500); 

and  

 the minimum period between events authorised under separate TENs in 

relation to the same premises (not including withdrawn TENs) by the same 

premises user (24 hours).  

 

7.3 The most important aspect of the system of temporary event notices is that no  

 permission is required for these events from the council. In general, only the  

 police or Environmental Health may intervene to prevent such an event or  

 modify the arrangements for such an event. The council will only intervene  

 itself if the limits on the number of notices that may be given in various  

 circumstances would be exceeded.  

  

Page 101



32  

  

7.4 Many premises users giving temporary event notices will not have a  

 commercial background or ready access to legal advice. They will include, for  

 example, people acting on behalf of charities, community and voluntary  

 groups, all of which may stage public events to raise funds, at which  

 licensable activities will take place. The council will ensure that local guidance  

 about the temporary permitted activities is clear and understandable and will  

 strive to keep the arrangements manageable and user-friendly for such  

 groups.  

  

7.5 There are two types of TEN; a standard TEN and a late TEN. These have 

different notice periods. A standard TEN is given no later than ten working days 

before the event to which it relates; a late TEN is given not before nine and not 

later than five working days before the event. In both instances this does not 

include the date of the event or the date the council receives the notice.  

  

7.6 The council encourages notice providers to give the earliest possible notice of  

 events likely to take place. This is particularly relevant to events which are to  

 take place in the open air or in a temporary structure. Assistance with the  

 planning of events can be provided through multi agency forum meetings.  

  

7.7 The council will provide local advice about proper respect for the concerns of  

 local residents; of other legislative requirements regarding health and safety,  

 noise pollution, the building of temporary structures, or other necessary  

 permissions, and of the powers to close down events with no notice on  

 grounds of disorder, the likelihood of disorder or noise emanating from the  

 premises.  

  

 Police or Environmental Services intervention  

  

7.8   The Act provides that in exceptional circumstances, the police or  

  Environmental Services may issue an objection notice because they believe  

 the event would undermine the one or more of the four licensing objectives  

 set out in the Act. The police or Environmental Services must issue an  

 objection notice within three working days of being notified, but they can  

 subsequently withdraw the notice. The issuing of such an objection notice  

 requires the consideration of the objection by the council at a hearing in the  

 case of a standard TEN. If an objection notice is issued in relation to a late  

 TEN then the TEN is cancelled and licensable activities are not authorised.  

  

7.9   The ability of police and Environmental Services to serve such a notice is a  

 further reason why event organisers are strongly encouraged by the council  

 not to rely on giving the minimum amount of notice and to contact the local  

 police and Environmental Services at the earliest possible opportunity about  

 their proposals.  

  

Additional limitations  

  

Page 102



33  

  

7.10   The council, on receiving temporary event notices, will also check that the  

 requirements of the Act as to duration and numbers of notices are met. For  

 these purposes, a notice is treated as being from the same premises user if  

 an associate gives it.  

  

7.11   The Act defines an associate as being:  

    

 the spouse or civil partner of that person;  

 a child, parent, grandchild, grandparent, brother or sister of that person; or  

 an agent or employee of that person;  

 the spouse or civil partner of a person listed in either of the two preceding bullet 

points.  

  

7.12   A person living with another person as his or her husband or wife is treated for

 these purposes as his or her spouse.  

 

Section 8     Enforcement and reviews  

  

8.1  The Licensing Act contains measures to ensure that the council, and  

 responsible authorities, are able to deal with premises that wilfully and  

 persistently undermine the licensing objectives. The council and responsible  

 authorities are committed to encouraging a thriving day time and evening  

 licensed economy but will not tolerate those premises whose activities infringe  

 upon the quality of life for local residents and businesses.  

  

8.2   The licensing authority attends regular meetings with responsible authorities.  

 The minutes of such meetings are private and confidential. The purpose of  

 these meetings will be to discuss problem premises, problem areas  

  and to share information about any new initiatives or schemes. The minutes  

 from these meetings will be kept on file and will be used to inform any reviews  

 or amendments of this Statement of Licensing Policy.   

  

8.3  In the event of the licensing authority receiving evidence of an offence under  

 the Licensing Act 2003 it will consider what action should be taken. This might  

 involve informal action (advice and warnings),  the issue of a caution or, if  

 permitted, a fixed penalty notice, or prosecution. What action is taken will  

 depend on the circumstances of each case and take into account the  

 seriousness of the matter and past history. The purpose of enforcement is to  

 protect the public, interested parties and the environment from harm caused  

 as a result of activities made licensable by virtue of the Licensing Act 2003.  

 Formal action by way of prosecution will be a last resort and proportionate to  

 the degree of risk. To this end the key principles of consistency, transparency  

 and proportionality will be maintained.  

  

Reviews of Licences  

  

Page 103



34  

  

8.4   The council recognises that the ability of the police, other responsible  

 authorities and other persons to apply for a review of a premises licence, is an  

 incentive to effective self-regulation.  

  

8.5   On receipt of a relevant request to carry out a review the council has a range  

 of options available to it under the Act. These include:  

 

 To modify the conditions of the licence including imposing new conditions, 

altering existing conditions or removing conditions (permanently or 

temporarily);  

 To exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence (permanently or 

temporarily);  

 To remove the Designated Premises Supervisor;  

 To suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; or  

 To revoke the licence.  

  

8.6 The council will seek to establish the cause or causes of the concern and  

 remedial action will be targeted at such causes. Any action will be  

 proportionate to the problems involved.  

  

8.7 Where a Magistrates Court makes a Closure Order under part 8 of the  

 Licensing Act 2003 (on grounds of disorder) the council must carry out a  

 review of the licence.  

  

8.8 Where a Magistrates Court makes a Closure Order under part 4 of the Anti- 

Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (on grounds of criminal 

behaviour, serious nuisance or disorder) the police will usually ask the council 

to carry out a review of the licence.  

  

8.9 Where a closure order has been made under part 4 of the Anti-Social  

  Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (on grounds of nuisance) the  

 council’s Environmental Health section will normally request a review of the  

 licence.  

  

Matters to be considered  

  

8.10   When considering a review request or the possibility of enforcement action  

 the council will take into account all relevant circumstances but will view the  

 following matters particularly seriously:  

  

 use of the premises for criminal activities such as the supply of drugs or money 

laundering;  

 failure to promptly respond to a warning properly given by a responsible 

authority;  

 failure to engage with the responsible authorities in an effective manner;  

 previous convictions for licensing offences;   

Page 104



35  

  

 previous failure to comply with licence conditions; and offences relating to 

breaches of health and safety, food or fire legislation.  

  

The Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006  

  

8.11   The Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 has amended parts of the Licensing  

 Act 2003 and now expands police and council powers to deal with problem  

 premises in a more expedient manner.  

  

8.12    A new power to carry out summary reviews in serious cases of crime and  

 disorder is brought in at section 53A of the Licensing Act 2003. Where a  

 review application is accompanied by a certificate issued by a senior police  

 officer, the Licensing Authority is required within 48 hours to consider whether  

 it is necessary to take any interim steps pending the completion of the review  

 process. This may include the immediate suspension of the premises licence.  

  

  

  

Appendix 1  Further reading and useful information  

  

 The Licensing Act 2003  

 

 Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 available   on the 

DCMS Website at www.culture.gov.uk   

 

 The Event Safety Guide – A guide to health safety and welfare at  music and 

similar events (HSE 1999) (“The Purple Guide”) ISBN 07176 2453 6  

 

 Managing Crowds Safely (HSE 2000) ISBN 0 7176 1834 X  

 

 Steps to Risk Assessment: Case Studies (HSE 1998) ISBN 07176 15804  

 

 The Guide to Safety at Sports Grounds (The Stationery Office, 1997)(“The 

Green Guide ”) ISBN 0 11 300095 2  

 

  

 

 

 The British Beer and Pub Association at www.beerandpub.com   

 

 The Alcohol Strategy, Home Office  

 

 Institute of Acoustics Food Practice Guide on Noise from Pubs and Clubs 

(2003)  

 

Page 105

http://www.culture.gov.uk/
http://www.culture.gov.uk/
http://www.beerandpub.com/
http://www.beerandpub.com/


36  

  

 Code of Practice on Environmental Noise Control at Concerts by The Noise 

Council (1995)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



   

 

Full Council 151220 

CORPORATE STRATEGY 2020-24 

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Elected Mayor, Mike Starkie 

LEAD OFFICER: Corporate Leadership Team 

REPORT AUTHOR                    Policy Officer, Peta Leigh  

 

WHY HAS THE REPORT COME TO THE COUNCIL?  

This report forms part of the Budget & Policy Framework within an Elected Mayor authority.  

Council is receiving the 2020-2024 Corporate Strategy for consideration and approval. 

Recommendation that: 

a) Council approves the revised 2020-2024 Corporate Strategy as attached to the report; 

and  

(b) acknowledging that the pandemic is not yet over, delegates any final and minor 

amendments to the Strategy to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Chair of 

Council. 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Full Council approved the Council’s Corporate Strategy for 2020-24 on 16th 

December 2019 and it was to be published following the Council’s approved 

budget which was set in February 2020.  

1.2 Early in March 2020, it was clear that with the global pandemic taking a rapid 

grip and moving the Council into emergency response, the approved, but 

unpublished, Corporate Strategy which had been written pre-Covid did not 

anticipate nor reflect the devastating impact of the pandemic on residents, 

communities, businesses and Copeland’s economy. 

Page 107

Agenda Item 13



 

1.3 As an intense response to Covid-19 moved into a battle rhythm, and recovery 

came to the fore very quickly highlighting the challenges and difficulties 

never presented before on such a scale, it seemed appropriate and necessary 

to rework the formerly approved Corporate Strategy 2020-24 to reflect this 

new era which lay ahead, and, it would have been remiss on behalf of Council 

not to incorporate additional changes required during what will be a 

prolonged recovery and reboot period over many years. 

1.4 The revised Corporate Strategy 2020-24 (Appendix A) continues to shape and 

build upon the Corporate Strategy 2016-2020, but now also acknowledges 

the response required to the Covid-19 challenges.   

1.5 As well as response to Covid19 which prompted the refresh, the strategy 

continues to reflect the Elected Mayor’s ambitions for the Borough based on 

his manifesto pledges and the key priorities for the Council over the next four 

years.  

2. THE CORPORATE STRATEGY 

2.1 The 2020-2024 Corporate Strategy sets out the Council’s Mission, Vision and 

Ambitions for the next four years. 

Our Mission is to make Copeland a better place to live, work and visit. 

Our Vision is for Copeland to be: 

 A globally recognised place of innovation 

 A major clean energy hub for the UK 

 A sustainable place with a resilient economy that supports thriving 

communities 

 

Our Ambitions are: 

 Community – let’s ensure our communities can thrive 

 Economy – let’s maximise opportunities for growth 

 Environment – let’s protect and enhance our environment 

Page 108



2.2 The Corporate Strategy celebrates the many assets that we have here already 

in Copeland and the key successes that we, as a Council, have achieved under 

the previous Corporate Strategy.   

It is an aspirational strategy which shows our continued commitment to 

working with partners to seek and attract new funding, investment and skills 

to Copeland to deliver our growth agenda and provide a lasting legacy of 

sustained work and income opportunity. 

2.3 Recognising there is much to celebrate, the Corporate Strategy is also open 

about the challenges that we face across the borough in relation to our 

economy, demography, barriers to inclusion and the impact of the Covid 19 

pandemic.  It articulates how, in response to these external challenges, the 

Council will work in partnerships to ensure that all our communities can 

thrive.   

2.4 Acknowledging the effects of reduced government funding, and the impact 

of the Covid 19 pandemic on the national and local economy, the Corporate 

Strategy reiterates our priority to continue to provide services of the highest 

possible quality and best value for our residents. To achieve these ends the 

Council will explore commercial opportunities and take a business-minded 

approach to our operations.  

2.6 The Corporate Strategy will be delivered through a high level Corporate 

Delivery Plan.  Successful delivery of the strategic outcomes will be 

monitored and evaluated via a series of Key Deliverables and Key 

Performance Indicators (KPIs) which will be used to demonstrate whether the 

Council is on track to achieve its Vision and Ambitions. 

2.7. The suite of Key Deliverables and KPIs will be reviewed, as a whole, on an annual 
basis to ensure their continued relevance and respond to any changes in 
legislation or priorities.   

2.9 Proposed Key Deliverables and KPIs for 2021-2022 will presented to the 

Executive for approval in March 2021. Thereafter they will be monitored and 

evaluated by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Executive on a 

quarterly basis.  

This process will be repeated each year for the four years of the strategy. 

2.10 Service Plans and individual performance objectives will be aligned to the 

strategic ambitions and outcomes of the Corporate Strategy through the 

Performance Management and Improvement Framework. 

2.11 Risks to delivery of the Council’s strategic and operational objectives will be 

monitored through the Risk Management Framework. 

Page 109



3. CONCLUSIONS 

3.1 The Corporate Strategy is an integral part of the Council’s Performance and 

Improvement Management Framework.  The Council looks to the Corporate 

Strategy to guide its budget process. 

The refreshed Corporate Strategy 2020-24 is presented to the Council for 

approval and endorsement. (Appendix A) 

3.2 The 2020-2024 Corporate Strategy has under gone an Equalities Impact 

Assessment and Social Inclusion Impact Assessment, these are attached as 

appendices to the report. (Appendix B and C) 

4. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

4.1 Monitoring Officer and Legal Comments:  Contained within report. No 

specific legal issues arise from the report.  Any legal issues arising from 

specific projects identified in the report will be dealt with as each project 

develops. 

4.2 S151 Officer Comments:  The Medium Term Financial Plan underpins the 

Corporate Strategy and will be considered by Council in February for the 

period 2020-2024. 

4.3 EIA Comments:  In undertaking consultation and developing and delivering 

against the Corporate Strategy and priorities, the Council’s aim will at all 

times be to secure compliance with its responsibilities under the Equality Act 

2010 and in particular the public sector equality duty under that Act.  The 

outcome of any decisions in designing and implementing the key deliverables 

will be subject to further equality impact assessment. 

4.4 Policy Framework Comments:  The Council’s Constitution sets down the 

Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules to be followed. 

4.5 Other Consultees:  

Feedback from residents, partner organisations and other stakeholders has 

helped to shape and inform the strategy content. The Corporate Leadership 

Team were consulted throughout the drafting of the revised 2020-2024  

APPENDICIES 

Appendix A. - 2020-2024 Corporate Strategy 

Appendix B - Social inclusion checklist 

Appendix C - Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 110



Corporate Strategy 
2020 - 2024Page 111



During my second term as your Elected Mayor, I want to continue to deliver on my 
manifesto commitments and ensure the expectations, ambitions and needs of our 
community are met.

As I write this introduction to our Corporate Strategy, I can only refl ect on the very 
challenging impacts that the Covid 19 virus has brought to almost every facet of our 
lives.

This strategy takes into account the changes we have had to make as a council to get 
through the pandemic and ensure our services are fi t for the future.

We have had to adapt to new ways of working by using digital technology. This has 
enabled us to continue to deliver essential services and at the same time support the 
most vulnerable in our communities promoting health, inclusivity and wellbeing for all 
our residents.

Our budget pressures have become ever more challenging owing to the long term 
impacts of austerity, and unplanned for demands on our fi nances as a result of the 
pandemic.

However, we are determined, through the Corporate Strategy, to work successfully with 
our partners, secure service delivery and support the ambitions of our residents to meet 
our primary aim of making Copeland a better place to live, work and visit.

This strategy is a blueprint for a truly exciting and productive journey that will help 
create the Copeland we all want to see and I commend it to you.

Mike Starkie
Elected Mayor of Copeland

Message from the Mayor

community / economy / environment/ business / partnerships

P
age 112



Message from the Chief Executive

community / economy / environment/ business / partnerships

The Corporate Strategy is commended to you with a great sense of pride and focus.  
This document has been written, and, rewritten with an ever changing set of challenges 
and concerns about what the future looks like and what the impact of Covid, Brexit and 
Local Government Reform will have on us as individuals, as communities, our health, and 
our economy.  

Whilst there is uncertainty at this moment, the Council has set out long-term plans for 
Copeland’s economic future through our 2040 Economic Vision and Nuclear Prospectus 
which detail how we will adapt and develop as a place and as a collective, this Corporate 
Strategy pinpoints where we as a council will focus.

Our role, function, and ability to deliver at the local level has never been more 
demonstrable. The team at Copeland Borough Council has performed with commitment, 
dedication and determination, and will continue to do so. However, with increasing 
demands upon us, and diminishing resources fi nding the balance is part of the challenge.  
We have a close relationship with our communities and we will continue to work very 
hard, as a team to meet both needs and expectation.

In producing this Strategy we continue to modernise as a council, be ambitious about 
not only key service delivery but also in our role as a partner and use our wider infl uence.  

The events of 2020 have not limited our ambition, but reinforced the need for us to make 
a path through the next few years, show local leadership and give our workforce and 
communities confi dence in who we are, what we do, and what we will do for the duration 
of this Council and this excellent strategy.

Pat Graham
Chief Executive

Our three ambitions will 
ensure that Copeland’s 
economy, community and 
environment refl ect the 
aspirations and prosperity 
of our area.

Our two enabling factors  
of being business-minded 
and partnership working, 
will enable us to deliver 
our ambitions.

Let’s make Copeland a better 
place to live, work and visit.

Our vision for Copeland is to be:
• A globally recognised place of 
innovation and opportunity
• A major clean energy hub for the UK
• A sustainable place with a resilient 
economy that supports thriving 
communities.

Community
Let’s ensure our 
communities 
can thrive. 

Environment
Let’s protect and 
enhance our 
environment.

Economy
Let’s maximise 
opportunities
for growth.

Business
Let’s be a modern and 
responsive organisation 
with a business culture. 

Partnerships
Let’s work 
collaboratively 
for maximum eff ect.

Our core values of integrity, 
respect and courage underpin 

all that we do.

P
age 113



Achievements Challenges and Opportunities

Over the past four years we focused on our strategic ambitions of Town Centre 
Regeneration, Healthy and Inclusive Communities, Embedding a Commercial Culture and 
Strengthening our Operations.

We are very proud of our achievements and will continue to build on our successes as we 
focus on our strategic themes of Economy, Community and Environment over the next 
four years. Some of our key achievements: 

Pride of Place 
Awarded 100 building 
improvements grants 

to revitalise town 
centres.

Regeneration Projects
Helped secure £10m 

for regeneration 
projects across 

Copeland.

Social Inclusion 
Secured funding and 
supported delivery 
partners to reduce 
social, fi nancial and 

digital exclusion. 

Work and Skills 
Enabled 140 residents 
to access training and 
employment through 
our Work and Skills 

Partnership.

Reduced empty 
homes

Brought 120 long-term 
empty properties back 

into use.

Increased recycling 
Our kerbside service 

made regular 
collections from over 

31,000 homes last 
year.

Tackled nuisance 
behaviour

Supported a multi-
agency approach to 
reduce nuisance and 
anti-social behaviour 
through the Copeland 

Hub.

Making Copeland, 
a better place to 
live, work and 

visit

Shop Local campaign
Stimulated growth 
and helped local 
businesses in the 
recovery from the 

Covid 19 pandemic.

Domestic Abuse 
Support

Provided vital support 
to residents aff ected 
by domestic abuse.

Pest Control
Launched our Pest 

Control Service 
for domestic and 

businesses premises.

Future Opportunities 
Group 

Used partnership 
working and infl uence 
to secure sustainable 

economic growth 
across the borough. 

Covid 19 support
 Provided 275 food 
bags and 159 care 
bags and handled 

1700 calls.

Expanded 
Bereavement Services
Improvements to the 
site and services at 

Distington Hall. 

Tourism
Held a Tourism 

Summit and secured 
funding for a Tourism 

Information Point 
and large-scale 

Coastal Regeneration 
Programme. 

In 2019/20: 

1218 environmental 
health complaints 
were investigated.

331 food premises 
were inspected.

1185 families were 
supported through 
bereavement.

£13.36 million was 
awarded in housing 
benefi t.

444 planning 
applications were 
determined.

546 households 
were supported 
through potential 
homelessness.

107 people were 
helped to leave 
abusive homes 47
of these were men 
and women, 60
were children.

2.2 million bins, 
bags and boxes 
were collected.

9,202 tonnes of 
waste was sent to 
be recycled.

33,600 homes 
were provided 
with regular waste 
collection services.

Whilst there is much to celebrate across our communities, there exists a disparity of 
wealth in Copeland. There are those that have and those that most defi nitely do not 
have.  

The impact of the Covid 19 pandemic has exacerbated the multiple problems already 
faced by some and created newly vulnerable groups.

At the time of writing this strategy, we are faced with many challenges: the full impact of 
Covid 19 is still to be seen; our principle employer, Sellafi eld, is transforming as it moves 
away from reprocessing, and our organisation, along with many others, is adjusting to 
new ways of agile working against a backdrop of fi nancial uncertainty.

However where there are challenges there are opportunities and we are absolutely 
focused on bringing about positive and long-lasting change in Copeland.  

To do this we will continue to explore commercial opportunities and take a business-
minded approach to our operations in order to provide services of the highest possible 
quality and best value for our residents. 

Beyond this, we will continue to work with partners to secure a sustainable economy and 
support for the most vulnerable.

Local Government Reorganisation across Cumbria will off er opportunities for effi  ciencies 
and improvements in service provision.

community / economy / environment/ business / partnerships

Covid 19 pandemic

Brexit

Net Zero carbon emissions by 2050

Reduced funding to local authorities

Poor digital connectivity

Rural isolation

Food and fi nancial poverty

Ageing population

Young people moving away

Sellafi eld transformation

Town centre decline

Remote working

Service delivery

Attracting funding for service and projects Reboot Copeland 
Levelling up of economy

Leaner, more effi  cient, services

Improved environment
Local Government Reorganisation 

Digital enabled economy 
Holistic service and support delivery
Diversifi ed economy

Regeneration projects

Social investment programme
Community resilience

Improved wellbeing

Maximise funding streams
Reduce travel 

Increase productivity
Sustainable services 

Partnership working

Challenges      Opportunities

community / economy / environment/ business / partnerships

P
age 114



EconomyCommunity

Ambition 1 - Let’s ensure our communities can thrive 

Copeland has long had a strong tradition of community support and this was clearly 
demonstrated during the Covid 19 pandemic, with individuals and groups of volunteers 
coming together to help each other and look after the most vulnerable.
The Council’s strengths in leadership and partnership working came to the fore at this 
time, providing care and support for our residents and communities and planning for 
recovery.

Within the borough there is a ‘Tale of Two Copelands’ – the ‘haves and have nots’.  
Nationally high salaries enjoyed predominantly by nuclear industry workers mask 
underlying issues of poorer standards of health and education, lower household incomes, 
and higher levels of benefits-dependency concentrated in pockets of deprivation. In 
addition, those on low incomes have been disproportionately affected by the health and 
economic impacts of Covid 19.

We are passionate in our aim to have truly healthy, resilient and inclusive communities 
where residents of all ages and abilities, including the most vulnerable, can thrive. This is 
key in our work towards successful local government reorganisation. 

Through this strategy our focus will be: 

• Enabling residents to have equal access to opportunities, services and the support they 
require to participate fully in society and thrive throughout their lives. 

• Building on the experience, skills and knowledge learned during the Covid 19 pandemic 
to ensure our communities are truly inclusive and resilient.

• Working with partners to drive social mobility by supporting the development of first-
class health and education services in Copeland, including work and skills programmes 
and local apprenticeship schemes.

• Working in partnership through our Social Inclusion Programme to improve outcomes 
for those disadvantaged by social, financial and digital exclusion, debt, food and fuel 
poverty, mental health issues, domestic abuse, limited social and family support, and 
drug and alcohol abuse.

• Supporting residents to develop and maintain more active lifestyles and make the 
most of our beautiful open spaces for exercise and recreation as a key building block for 
improving health and wellbeing and avoiding poor health in the future.

• Building on success and strong leadership in the reduction of homelessness and empty 
homes through established partnership working.

• Acknowledging and supporting the important role that voluntary organisations have in 
our communities. 

• Encouraging and enabling small, local groups to support their communities and build 
on the volunteer base successfully developed during the Covid 19 pandemic.

Ambition 2 - Let’s maximise our opportunities for growth 

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the national and local economy cannot be 
underestimated and the repercussions will be felt for many years to come.
As a well-respected leading partner in the recovery process, we will seek opportunities 
to diversify and strengthen the local economy, building on our Economic Vision for 
Copeland.

We will operate in an outward-focused, business-like manner and through our 
Commercial Strategy 2019-23 we will explore options to become financially self-
sustaining without compromise to services.

By taking a leading and influencing role in Local Government Reorganisation, we 
will unlock the potential for efficiencies and drive a generative economy that creates 
community wealth and wellbeing.

Through this strategy our focus will be: 

• Lobbying for improvement in digital connectivity, which was shown to be so crucial 
during the pandemic for operating businesses and maintaining council services.

• Maximising the flexibility of digital technology to facilitate agile working to reduce 
costs and increase efficiencies.

• Developing a Nuclear Prospectus for West Cumbria, promoting West Cumbria as the 
Centre of Nuclear Excellence, seeking national recognition of the assets and skills that 
are unique to this area and the required investment to generate wealth and prosperity. 

• Working in partnership to maximise funding streams and economic opportunities.

• Developing tourism, leisure and the arts in Copeland as key contributors to the 
economy.

• Working collaboratively and through strong leadership to deliver efficient public 
services, capitalising on the skills, capability and professionalism of our workforce.

• Attracting business and investment to keep our talented young people in Copeland.

• Taking a leadership role in the development of the Industrial Solutions Hub, making 
Copeland a prime location for business and enterprise.

• Ensuring that we are in a position to take advantage of all opportunities and challenges
presented as the UK leaves the European Union.

• Encouraging residents to ‘shop local’ and support Copeland traders and businesses.

P
age 115



Environment

Ambition 3 - Let’s protect and enhance our environment 

Copeland is set within the Lake District National Park, a beautiful coastline and a World 
Heritage site.  

We have a duty to protect this unique environment as custodians on behalf of future 
generations whilst ensuring that it can support communities and provide jobs and a 
secure, sustainable economy.

The Council has produced a new Climate and Environment Policy and published a 
Climate Position Statement which demonstrate our absolute commitment to caring for 
our environment.

Copeland Council is engaged with the Cumbria Climate Change Working Group working 
towards Cumbria’s Net Zero target under the Joint Public Health Strategy for Cumbria. 
The Council is a significant contributor to the Cumbria Nuclear Prospectus, which is 
centred around the vision of a Cumbria Clean Energy Park, the trailblazer for the UK’s 
decarbonised energy system. 

Through this strategy our focus will be: 

• Promoting our Climate and Environment policy and action plan, which sets out our 
ambitions and responsibilities as leaders in the community, to help our residents, 
businesses and visitors to adopt sustainable ways to live, work and visit Copeland.

• Protecting and promoting our stunning, renowned environment and our rich heritage. 

• Initiating woodland creation and encouraging our communities to care for their 
environment.

• Developing all our towns and villages as healthy places to live, work and visit.

• Embracing digital technology to minimise travel, thus reducing our carbon footprint.

• Continuing to increase recycling rates and reduce waste sent to landfill.

• Creation and maintenance of cycle ways and recreational routes along the Lake District 
Coast and the England Coastal Path.

• Encourage ‘greener’ travel to work – walking, cycling, car sharing and using public 
transport where possible.

• Working with partners on flood management and prevention measures.

• Promoting affordable warmth and energy efficiency schemes, which not only benefit 
the environment but help address fuel poverty through reduced energy consumption.

Business and Partnerships

Let’s be a modern and progressive organisation with a business culture

With the reduction in funding from central Government, the Council is required to adopt a 
more business-minded approach to the delivery of our services.  

To meet the ambitions laid out in this strategy, we must ensure we are financially secure and 
sustainable.

The impact of the Covid 19 pandemic has increased demand on our services while reducing 
our commercial income streams and we have had to adapt to new agile ways of working and 
interacting with our customers.

Through this strategy, we aim to continue to grow the commercial arm of our operations, 
improve our processes and generate cost savings where we can. 

We will drive the development of our own workforce and benchmark our performance 
against best practice in public and private sectors.

Through this strategy our focus will be:
 
• The financial sustainability of the Council.

• Digital accessibility and quality of our services. 

• Workforce development and welfare.

• IT investment to support agile working whilst ensuring cyber security.

Our ambitions are far reaching and we cannot achieve them on our own.  

We will explore ways of working collaboratively with neighbouring authorities to ensure 
greater efficiencies. We will continue to work in partnership to secure skills, resources and 
funding to deliver essential services and support for our residents.  

• Supporting delivery partners, voluntary sector and grass-roots organisations   
through our Social Inclusion Programme. 

• Exploring options to work with other authorities to maintain and operate lean, efficient 
public services.

• Work with our MP to influence government decisions. 

• Utilising key partnerships to grow economic, environmental and social benefits for the 
borough. 

Let’s work collaboratively to maximise effect

P
age 116



Copeland Borough Council, 
Market Hall, 
Whitehaven, 

Cumbria 
CA28 7JG

01946 598300
info@copeland.gov.uk
www.copeland.gov.uk

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Full Council 151220 
 
Copeland Vision 2040 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mike Starkie, Elected Mayor 
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham, CEO 
REPORT AUTHOR: Rob Ward, Nuclear Sector Manager 
 

SUMMARY: 
 
This paper introduces the Copeland Vision 2040 (“the Vision”). 
 
Along with the Local Plan, Cumbria Nuclear Prospectus, Corporate Strategy, 
emerging Climate Policy and other strategic documents, the Vision forms 
part of the framework for the development of the Council’s supporting 
strategies and plans. 
 
The Vision sets an ambition for Copeland to be: 
 
1. A globally-recognised place of innovation and opportunity 
2. A major clean energy hub for the UK 
3. A sustainable place, with a resilient economy that supports thriving 

communities 
 
It also sets the framework within which we expect those organisations who 
operate in Copeland to contribute to making this a better place to live, 
work and visit and a sustainable place for the future. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:                                                                               
 
It is recommended that the Council: 
 
1. Notes and endorses the Copeland Vision 2040. 
 

 
 

Page 119

Agenda Item 14



1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The new Copeland Vision 2040 has been developed in response to a 

number of emergent drivers since the publication of the Copeland 
Growth Strategy 2016-2020, including: 

 

 The 2018 demise of NuGen Ltd, the organization that was seeking to 
develop new nuclear reactors on the Moorside site; 

 The publication of the 2018 Oxford Economics report on the 
Economic Impact of Sellafield and the potential impact of the 
Sellafield Transformation programme; 

 The award of the Programme and Project Partners framework which 
will deliver major capital projects at Sellafield over the next 20 years; 

 The Council’s engagement in the Geological Disposal Facility siting 
process; 

 The development of the Council’s Industrial Solutions Hub 
programme; 

 The publication of the UK Industrial Strategy, Sector Deals and the 
development of the Cumbria LEP’s Local Industrial Strategy; 

 The development of the Council’s Future High Streets Fund proposals 
and emerging Town Investment Plans for Cleator Moor and Millom; 

 Increasing focus on Net Zero and the development of the Council’s 
new Climate Policy and Climate Action Plan; 

 The increasing focus on Social Value in public procurement; 

 The publication of the Cumbria Nuclear Prospectus: Energising the 
Energy Coast, which describes a nuclear sector-specific clean energy 
vision for Cumbria, now endorsed by county-wide stakeholders 
including the Future Opportunities Group and Cumbria LEP Board; 

 The Council’s new Corporate Strategy; 

 Emerging understanding of the immediate and longer-term 
implications of the global coronavirus pandemic and its effect on the 
economy and Copeland’s communities. 

 

Page 120



1.2 By creating a vision for 2040, the intention is to set the direction for 
Copeland on a timescale congruent with other strategic 
developments and commitments including Net Zero, the Sellafield 
Transformation and GDF. 

   
1.3 Work on the new Vision began in summer 2019, launched by the 

Elected Mayor’s Future Opportunities Group, and led by officers of 
the Council’s Nuclear & Energy team. 

 
1.4 Work was paused in early 2020 due to the impact of the COVID 

pandemic, and has been reviewed in light of the emerging approach 
to economic recovery/Reboot. 

 
1.5 The Vision has been developed through a process of member, officer 

and stakeholder engagement including: 
 

 A series of presentations to the Future Opportunities Group in 2019 

 Engagements with a broad group of local stakeholders in Autumn 
2019 

 A focus group with young people, facilitated through the Britain’s 
Energy Coast Business Cluster shadow board 

 Reference to youth focus groups held in 2019 and 2020 to inform the 
Future High Streets Funds proposals 

 Consultation with Council officers throughout 2019 and 2020 

 Three full member workshops held in July 2020 

 Full Member Briefing on 24th November 2020 
 
2. PROPOSALS 
 
2.1 The Vision is based upon the principles of Community Wealth 

Building, an approach to local economic strategy that seeks to 
address the balance between public health, economy and 
sustainability of place. This is a new people-centred approach to local 
economic development, which redirects wealth back into the local 
economy, and places control and benefits into the hands of local 
people. 

 

Page 121



 
2.2 Based on available evidence, the Vision document describes the 

current economic situation in Copeland, and sets targets for 2040 to 
address key areas of challenge and opportunity. 

 
2.3 Six “Pictures of the Future” are described, which are potential visions 

of the future in six key areas of Copeland’s economy. These are not 
concrete proposals or plans, but visions intended to build on our 
current strengths and opportunities to stimulate further investment 
and development in Copeland: 

 
An Innovative Place: commercialising the innovation, research and 
development that is inherent in Copeland by bringing our anchor 
knowledge institutions together, maximising the innovation found at 
the intersections of different sectors, resulting in competitive 
advantage coming from spillovers between them. 
 
A Great Place: building upon and exploiting the full potential of our 
assets in the natural and built environment is fundamental to 
growing and sustaining a thriving place. Enhancing our towns, 
education, homes, health and social care to make Copeland a Better 
Place to Live, Work and Visit. 
 
A Connected Place: improving digital and physical connectivity 
between our rural communities. Low carbon, high quality transport 
and state-of-the-art digital infrastructure and services, enable people 
to stay connected to each other, our stunning landscapes, their 
places of work and the rest of the world. 
 
Lake District Coast: building a visitor economy around the stunning 
Lake District Coast, between England’s highest peak and deepest lake 
within the Lake District National Park, and developing an experience 
that helps people connect with this beautiful place. 
 
Energising the Energy Coast: links to the Cumbria Nuclear 
Prospectus, which centres on a clean energy park in West Cumbria, 
with nuclear at its core, decarbonising heat, power and transport, 

Page 122



driving Clean Growth and levelling up as we head towards Net Zero 
by 2050. 
 
Our Nuclear Future: building on our inherent capability across 
industry, supply chain and academia, within a supportive community 
to deliver existing national missions more effectively in a way that 
drives wider positive community transformation. 

 
2.4 Finally, the Vision sets out a framework for how we can ensure that 

development in Copeland meets the needs of our people and 
communities sustainably, making this a sustainable place for the 
future. 

 
3. CONCLUSIONS 
 
3.1 While decommissioning continues to be the driver of our current 

economy, it will not be so to the same extent in the future due to the 
changing relationship between Sellafield and its supply chain as the 
mission is delivered. So strategic intervention is required to ensure 
that we utilise the wealth of strategic national capability that exists 
here as a result of Sellafield, which will otherwise diminish over time 
as the Sellafield site is successfully decommissioned, resulting in 
overall economic decline. 
 

3.2 The COVID pandemic has and will continue to amplify some of the 
social and economic challenges in Copeland. The response to COVID 
has also shown us new and different ways of delivering services and 
meeting the needs of our people and communities, many of which 
also offer potential opportunities to achieve some of our longer term 
ambitions, for example around sustainability. The impact of COVID 
enhances the justification to implement an economic model that 
seeks to build a more resilient local economy that works for people 
and place, as set out in the Copeland Vision 2040. 

 
3.3 This vision responds to the challenge and opportunities created by 

COVID, by utilising Copeland’s strengths in a way that creates local 
economic diversity and resilience for the future, supports UK 

Page 123



Government priorities around Net Zero, Levelling Up and economic 
recovery, and leads us to a more sustainable future. 

 
4.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
4.1 Legal Comments are: No legal issues arise from the report. Any such 

issues arising from particular proposed projects will be dealt with at 
the appropriate time. With regard to decision making the Vision is 
not listed as forming part of the Council’s Policy Framework nor is 
reserved to Council and therefore, in law, is an executive decision. 

 
4.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: as 4.1 above. 
 
4.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: There are no direct financial 

implications for the Council arising from these recommendations. 
 

4.4 EIA Comments: 
 
4.5  Policy Framework: N/A 
 
4.6      Other Consultee Comments, if any: None. 
 
5 RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
5.1 There are no direct resource requirements arising from this proposal. 
 
6 HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 

THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 
6.1 The Copeland Vision 2040 sets the long-term direction of travel and 

provides part of the framework within which spatial and economic 
strategies will be developed. The development of any supporting 
economic strategies and shorter-term implementation plans will be 
subject to appropriate governance and budgetary approval, and will 
be managed by the appropriate Council officers. 

 

Page 124



7 WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM 
THIS REPORT? 

 
7.1 The Vision sets a number of objectives for 2040 in the following 

categories: economic diversification, employment, health, social care 
and community wellbeing, climate change, population, housing, skills 
and education and towns. 

 
7.2 Monitoring and measurement will not necessarily be against the 

Vision document itself, but rather of through the alignment of 
supporting strategies and implementation plans with these 
objectives. 

 
List of Appendices  
 
Appendix A – Copeland Vision 2040 v3.2 
 
List of Background Documents: 
 
Copeland Growth Strategy 2016-2020 
 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



Published November 2020

COPELAND VISION

2040

A globally-recognised place of 
innovation and opportunity

A major clean energy hub for the UK

A sustainable place, with a resilient 
economy that supports thriving 
communities

DRAFT

Page 127



CONTENTS

Copyright UK SMR

03 Statement by Elected Mayor of Copeland         

04 Statement by Copeland MP     

05 Copeland 2020     

10 Copeland 2040      

11 Objectives    

14 Principles      

16 A Generative Economy   

18 Pictures of the Future

19 An Innovative Place

22 A Great Place

24 A Connected Place

26 Lake District Coast

28 Energy Coast

30 Nuclear Sector

32 A Sustainable Place   

34 Statement of support from FOG   

COPELAND VISION 2040

2

DRAFT

Page 128



I am delighted to introduce our Copeland 2040 Vision. We often use 
the phrase “how time flies” which is so appropriate when we think 
about the significant changes that have taken place in Copeland.

A rich history of agriculture, shipping and mining gave way 
to new industries such as the Sellafield nuclear site which 
began life as Windscale in the 1940s and then has seen many 
reincarnations since the opening of the UK’s first commercial 
nuclear reactor at Calder Hall on October 17th 1956, through to 
the birth and then completion of the Thorp and Magnox spent 
fuel reprocessing programmes.

Copeland has firmly established itself as an international 
Centre of Nuclear Excellence across the nuclear fuel cycle 
from generation, reprocessing, waste management and 
decommissioning, with world-leading capability in nuclear 
operations, nuclear safety and security, construction 
management, robotics and AI, and environmental protection. 
We are recognised globally as a place of innovation and 
opportunity, with a skilled and committed workforce, supply 
chain and supportive community that will be essential in 
supporting Government to deliver a balanced energy policy.

We are now working with partners to grow a new clean energy 
economy in Copeland. The new Clean Energy Park at Moorside 
in Copeland will build on our inherent nuclear sector capabilities 
to sustainably power the industries and communities of the 
Northern Powerhouse into the coming decades. Our nuclear 
sector vision, set out in the Cumbria Nuclear Prospectus, is to 
energise Britain’s Energy Coast, driving the UK towards Net Zero 
by 2050, in a way that levels up the economy, creating prosperity 
and opportunity. Copeland was the original home of UK nuclear, 
and now will be the home of the UK’s nuclear renaissance.

We are also mindful of our collective responsibility to create 
positive legacies for the future. For decades, the UK nuclear 
power industry, born in Copeland, has provided reliable low 
carbon electricity that continues to keep the lights on and 
powers the industries and infrastructure that we all rely on 
every day. Nuclear energy produces a relatively small amount of 
waste, which requires careful management, and we continue to 
support this at Sellafield and LLWR while acting responsibly on 
behalf of our communities by engaging in the UK Government 
process to find a suitable long term management solution.

All of this fits with our wider vision of Copeland as a sustainable 
place. We take our responsibility to future generations seriously.

Nuclear is a significant part of our economy and our community but 
Copeland has so much more to offer. Our economy must become 
increasingly diverse and we must encourage new industries to 
consider Copeland as their base to help build a sustainable future 
and reduce reliance upon a single dominant industry.

Our surroundings are some of the most beautiful in the UK 
and even the world. With England’s highest mountain and 
deepest lake and stunning Lake District coastline, we have 
the opportunity to create an activity and wellbeing focused 
experience economy, that helps visitors and residents alike to 
connect with our rural and coastal environments.

Our goal to become a zero carbon economy by 2050 is both 
realistic and achievable and we must all play our part whatever 
our role whether commercial or domestic. The Council is already 
playing a role in Cumbria-wide plans to take meaningful action 
against climate change, and I am proud of our contribution 
to the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership’s success in making 
Cumbria one of a handful of places in the UK to receive National 
Lottery climate action funding. This is a great start but we must 
and will do more.

Our ambition for cleaner air, improving digital connectivity 
especially in our more rural areas, physical connectivity 
between our towns and villages and a myriad challenges will be 
embraced by our Copeland community who care passionately 
about the area they live in.

We have to acknowledge our wider challenges too, the 
solutions to which are complex, not least in the wake of a 
global pandemic that has only increased social inequalities 
and highlighted the reliance by many of our residents on social 
safety nets. However we have a real opportunity for Copeland 
to be at the forefront of the UK’s clean energy agenda, while 
trailblazing a new model for local economic strategy focused on 
place, sustainability and community wellbeing, which is needed 
now more than ever.

I commend our Copeland 2040 Vision and look forward to 
playing my part to ensure that our area continues to become a 
better place to live, work and visit.

Thank you,

STATEMENT BY 
ELECTED MAYOR  
OF COPELAND,  
MIKE STARKIE

 
Mike Starkie 
Elected Mayor 
of Copeland

COPELAND VISION 2040

32

DRAFT

Page 129



STATEMENT BY COPELAND MP, 
TRUDY HARRISON

AWAITING CONTENT

COPELAND VISION 2040

4

DRAFT

Page 130



COPELAND 
2020

The Borough of Copeland is located in West Cumbria and 
covers 285 square miles. Two thirds of the borough are located 
within the Lake District National Park, a UNESCO World 
Heritage site, with 90km of coastline including the Heritage 
Coast south of Whitehaven and Marine Conservation Zone 
between St Bees Head and the Ravenglass Estuary. 

Copeland’s outstandingly beautiful and wild natural landscape 
includes England’s deepest lake, Wastwater (79m), and highest 
peak, Scafell Pike (978m), from which the stunning Lake District 
Coast and both Robin Rigg and Walney offshore wind farms 
can be seen. Copeland is home to 60 locally designated 
biodiversity sites and 15 nationally designated Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI).

With an overall population of 68,424, most of the borough is 
rural and the majority of the population resides within the four 
market towns of Whitehaven, Cleator Moor, Egremont and 
Millom. Whitehaven is the Capital Town, and is the Western 
start of the Coast 2 Coast Cycle route and part of the England 
Coastal Path route.

Connectivity to the M6 is provided by the A595 and A66 to 
Penrith and Carlisle in the North, and to the south, while the 
Cumbrian Coast Rail line connects to the West Coast main line.

The nuclear sector and its supply chain is the major employer 
within the area, accounting for 59% of jobs and 59% of output 
in Copeland. This is a nuclear knowledge economy that 
encompasses nuclear plant operations, design, engineering, 
construction management, material science, decommissioning, 
and research and development. Our people are the driving 
force of the UK’s nuclear sector, and our academic institutions 
are growing the nuclear workforce of the future with 2,000 
graduates and apprentices on programmes at any time.

The borough is already prosperous and has been identified as 
one of the most affordable places to live in the UK, with low 
house prices (median £125,000K) and the third highest median 
annual salary in the country (£44,000).

As well as our stunning natural environment of mountains, lakes 
and coastal landscapes, Copeland has a rich heritage, history 
and sense of community. A survey in 2014 listed two towns 
within the Borough in the top 10 places to raise a family and in 
2018 Copeland was named the second happiest place to live in 
Britain in an Office for National Statistics Well-Being Survey.

Copeland is already a great place to live, work and visit. This vision builds 
on our unique combination of stunning surrounding and inspirational 
opportunities to create the place we want to be for the future.

4

COPELAND 2040 VISION

5

DRAFT

Page 131



COPELAND 
2020

£

£125,000 £44,000

2400

1,20071%

74.3%

81%

55% 114

3rd

98%

£183 million

100%

 Median House Price

Planning 
Applications 
approved

generated through visitor 
economy in 2018

Major planning applications 
determined in timeframe

 Median Salary

Apprenticeships 
started since 2016

new houses in 
the pipeline

home ownership

of 16-64 year olds in 
employment

highest median 
salary in the UK

employees in 
fulltime work

of all employees 
employed in nuclear 
sector

New businesses 
registered in 2018/19

2,400
Active businesses 
in Copeland. 99% small 
and micro enterprises

£

Our Mission is to continue to make Copeland a 
better place to live, work and visit. We have a 
strong starting point…

LIVE

WORK

COPELAND VISION 2040

6

DRAFT

Page 132



20%

94%

23.62 million

Of all visitors felt 
better mentally 
whilst visiting 
the Lake District

visitors in 2018

Copeland is home 
to 6 of the 10 best 
rated beaches 
in Cumbria

increase in tourism 
over last 5 years

UNESCO world 
heritage sites

Englands highest mountain
Scafell Pike

6 out of 10

Englands deepest Lake
Wastwater

...But there is more to do
• Nationally high salaries enjoyed by predominantly 

nuclear industry workers mask an underlying issue 
of poorer standards of health and education, lower 
household incomes, and higher levels of benefits-
dependency concentrated in pockets of deprivation.

• The nuclear industry and its supply chain dominates 
output and employment in the Borough, and service 
industries in Copeland also rely critically on the household 
expenditure of residents that are nuclear sector workers.

VISIT

• There are barriers to inclusion due to limited access 
to services, transport and broadband infrastructure.

• We must ensure that child and adult social 
care is accessible to those in need, and that 
our older residents are supported.

• With the lowest projected growth of working age 
population in the country, and overall ageing population, 
retention and attraction of young people is a priority.

COPELAND VISION 2040

6 7

DRAFT

Page 133



COPELAND, 
WEST 
CUMBRIA
Where Britain’s Energy Coast, the Lake 
District Coast and the UK’s foremost 
Centre of Nuclear Excellence coincide.

West Cumbria is home to a density of industrial capability 
which spans the full nuclear fuel cycle, including generation, 
operations, reprocessing, waste management and 
decommissioning as well as Research & Development (R&D), 
nuclear materials transportation, construction, manufacturing 
and robotics.

We are host to the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority 
headquarters, the Sellafield site, UK Low Level Waste 
Repository and National Nuclear Laboratory’s central labs. 
Our inherent nuclear and wider energy supply chain capability 
is reflected in the Britain’s Energy Coast Business Cluster 
(BECBC), a 325-strong member organisation including global 
multinationals and local SMEs from public, private, academic 
and third sectors.

All of this is connected with the UK and the world by logistics 
hubs at the Ports of Workington and Barrow, Carlisle Airport 
and the M6.

Our academic and training facilities include University of 
Manchester Dalton Facility, UcLan, University of Cumbria 
Project Academy, Energus – host to the world-leading 
nucleargraduates programme, National College for Nuclear, 
Gen2 and the Energy Coast UTC. With over 2,000 trainees 
on graduate and apprentice programmes at any time, we are 
creating the nuclear workforce of the future.

This world-leading innovation and industry is surrounded by 
coastal beauty and industrial heritage, within sight of England’s 
highest peak and deepest lake, and connected to 
the untouched wilds of the Western and Southern Lake District.

We are in a unique position to build on our history as pioneers 
of the nuclear industry, to become significant contributors to the 
UK’s Net Zero ambitions, and a major growth engine for the UK 
economy and the Northern Powerhouse.

COPELAND 2020

NUCLEAR CAPABILITY IN WEST CUMBRIA

KEY

00

Inactive development & testing facility

Sea port

Airport

Nuclear licensed site

Key town (scaled for size)

Railways

Motorway

A roads

Nuclear education & skills

Nuclear engineering

Nuclear technology & scientific research

Nuclear design/engineering/services

Nuclear construction & plant services

Transport & logistics services

Submarine design and shipbuilding

Professional services

Nuclear licensed site support services

Engineering support services

Number of supply chain companies

(Supply chain companies based on 
BECBC members ca. 2018)

Clusters of supply chain companies

COPELAND VISION 2040

8

DRAFT

Page 134



8 9

DRAFT

Page 135



COPELAND  
2040

Our ambition is to build on our many strengths to create a 
thriving place for the future. We will do this by taking a holistic 
approach to community wellbeing, underpinned by public health, 
environmental sustainability and a more generative economy.

The “Pictures of the Future” in the later sections of this 
document describe what the future of Copeland could look like 
if we were to pursue a more generative economy that creates 
community wealth and wellbeing:

The final section of this document sets out how we will ensure 
that this vision is delivered in a way that meets out societal 
needs in a way that respects our planetary boundaries, creating 
a truly sustainable place.

An Innovative Place: commercialising the 
innovation, research and development that is 
inherent in Copeland by bringing our anchor 
knowledge institutions together, maximising the 
innovation found at the intersections of different 
sectors, resulting in competitive advantage coming 
from spillovers between them.

 The Lake District Coast: building a visitor 
economy around the stunning Lake District Coast, 
between England’s highest peak and deepest 
lake within the Lake District National Park, and 
developing an experience that helps people connect 
with this beautiful place.

A Great Place: building upon and exploiting 
the full potential of our assets in the natural and 
built environment is fundamental to growing and 
sustaining a thriving place. Enhancing our towns, 
education, homes, health and social care to make 
Copeland a Better Place to Live, Work and Visit.

Energising the Energy Coast: a clean energy 
park in West Cumbria, with nuclear at its core, 
decarbonising heat, power and transport, driving 
Clean Growth and levelling up as we head towards 
Net Zero by 2050.

 A Connected Place: improving digital and physical 
connectivity between our rural communities. Low 
carbon, high quality transport and state-of-the-art 
digital infrastructure and services, enabling people 
to stay connected to each other, our stunning 
landscapes, their places of work and the rest of 
the world.

Our Nuclear Future: building on our inherent 
capability across industry, supply chain and 
academia, within a supportive community to deliver 
existing national missions more effectively in a way 
that drives wider positive community transformation.

A globally-recognised place of innovation and opportunity
A major clean energy hub for the UK
A sustainable place, with a resilient economy that supports thriving communities

1010

COPELAND 2040 VISION

DRAFT

Page 136



COPELAND  
2040 OBJECTIVES

ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION

EMPLOYMENT

COPELAND 2020

55% of jobs and 55% of GVA in Copeland associated with 
Sellafield and its supply chain

57% of Sellafield supply chain spend in Copeland

Growth since 2016 in several sectors including 
construction, logistics, professional and scientific activities, 
administrative support and public administration.

Slight decline since 2016 in accommodation & food 
services and arts, entertainment & recreation.

Declining business growth: business birth rate lower than 
death rate

COPELAND 2020

76% of working age population in employment versus 81% 
Cumbria average

8% decline in working age population since 2010

3.5% unemployment rate

High average incomes, masking areas of deprivation and 
economic inactivity

Net inflow of workers in higher-skilled roles

COPELAND 2040

A diversified economy balanced between sectors including 
energy, minerals, construction, manufacturing, professional 
services, tourism rural healthcare, forestry, outdoor industries, 
creative industries, arts, entertainment and culture.

Overall output growth

Stronger enterprise culture across all sectors: healthy business 
growth and startup rates

Productivity: consistently higher than average output per job 
across sectors

Our “innovation assets” are maximised to commercialise our 
knowledge economy

COPELAND 2040

Alignment with county and national average employment levels

Stable working age population

Declining unemployment rate, with associated positive trends 
in deprivation indicators

A higher proportion of higher skilled roles are held by residents

A range of accessible employment opportunities on offer 
across a greater variety of sectors (per above)

1

3

2

1CRED Research, 2020. Research Support for Production of Copeland 
Enterprise Development Programme: Phase 1 Report. CRED and University of 
Cumbria. 

 
2Cumbria LEP, 2019. Local Industrial Strategy. 

 

3Oxford Economic, 2017. The Economic Impact of Sellafield. Selalfield Ltd.

COPELAND VISION 2040

111010

DRAFT

Page 137



POPULATION

COPELAND 2020

Steadily declining population, 3.1% since 2010

Aging population with 8% decline in working age group 
and 16% increase in 65+ age group

COPELAND 2040

Stable or growing population, through retention and attraction 
of young people and creation of a competetive lifestyle offer

Growing age population

HEALTH, SOCIAL CARE, COMMUNITY WELLBEING

COPELAND 2020

In 2018 Copeland was named the second happiest place 
to live in Britain in an Office for National Statistics Well-
Being Survey.

27% of children in Copeland are experiencing Poverty 
(WCCPF report 2020) 18% of children in Copeland are 
eligible for Free School Meals, 12% in Cumbria.

Index multiple deprivation rank (1=worst), Copeland 85 
out of 326, Cumbria 83.

Universal credit claims are rising, with job postings down 
due to lockdown.

Obesity crisis amongst adults and children with Year 6 
pupils overweight/obese: Copeland 40%, Cumbria 33%, 
National 34%.

Copeland has an aging population and we are seeing a 
year on year increase in needs to Disabled Facilities Grant 
and demand for bungalows

COPELAND 2040

A sought-after location to live, where everyone can prosper, live 
a healthy life and reach their potential

No child lives in poverty or goes without and the inequality gap 
is significantly narrowed

People enjoy activity, community connections and healthy 
lifestyles and physical health and mental wellbeing indicators rise 
as a result

There is a range of appropriate accommodation with care and 
support for older people to meet their diverse needs. Remaining 
at home can always be an option.

6

4Small World Consulting, 2020. A Carbon Baseline for Cumbria. CCC and 
Cumbria LEP. 

 
5Cumbria Intelligence Observatory: https://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/ 
 
6Cumbria Intelligence Observatory: https://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/

COPELAND VISION 2040

12

DRAFT

Page 138



HOUSING

COPELAND 2020

22% live in households that are social rented, 
compared to 17% in Cumbria, and 21% nationally.
Median house price (2019) Copeland £114,844, Cumbria 
£165,804, National £222,216

Empty and second homes numbers update at time 
goes public

12% of households in Fuel Poverty, versus 12% in 
Cumbria, 11% nationally (CCC). Housing and health are 
interlinked.

Homelessness and in priority need are lower than national 
trend (2017-18 MHCLG) per 1000: Copeland 0.7, National 
2.4 however there is a rise in homelessness amongst 
single adults with chaotic high risk lifestyles who are 
challenging to engage and there is a lack of appropriate 
supported housing

COPELAND 2040

Copeland is an attractive place to live, work and raise a family 
because property is affordable, set in beautiful surroundings, 
meaning new and older property types are sought after

Reduced reliance on social housing stock

Social Housing stock is excellent quality and meets the needs of 
our changing population

Performance is improved within our older properties and grants 
are readily available for those in most need with low incomes

There is a range of supported accommodation offering a step-
up/step-down model so that people can get the support they 
need at the right time in the right place keeping them and other 
people safe

5

NET ZERO

COPELAND 2040

A Net Zero Carbon economy, encompassing our residents, 
businesses and visitors. Refer to Copeland Borough Council 
Climate Policy and Action Plan.

Significant contributor (3-5GW) of clean energy to the UK, 
generation of new, low carbon power, heat, steam hydrogen 
and synthetic e-fuels at scale for local and national industrial 
and domestic uses.

4

COPELAND 2020  

Copeland already has the lowest carbon footprint of any 
borough in Cumbria.

314 kilo-tonnes CO2 equivalent production 
emissions per annum. Highest emissions areas:

• Industry and Commercial Fuel

• Domestic Energy

• Transport
 
<200kilo-tonnes CO2 equivalent consumption 
emissions per annum. Highest emission areas:

• Food and Drink

• Vehicle Fuel

• Household Fuel

 
Approximately split 50/50 between residents and visitors.

COPELAND VISION 2040

12 13

DRAFT

Page 139



SKILLS AND EDUCATION

TOWNS

COPELAND 2020

27% attainment of Level 4 or above qualification (2018), 
lower than North West (35.5%) but increasing at faster rate 
than the North West average since 2010.

27% of working age population hold no qualification, 
versus 22.5% England average

COPELAND 2040

Higher than average attainment levels up to Level 4+
Full range of academic and vocational education opportunities 
to meet the needs of local people and the local economy

COPELAND 2040

Copeland’s towns will become:
• Magnetic – businesses and people choosing 

to invest, visit, live and work here

• Diverse – with a creative and mixed economy;

• Forward facing – a contemporary economy, 
with a 21st century perspective

• Better connected – physically and digitally enabled

• Inclusive – an attractive, fair and inclusive place for all

• Modern – cultivating a different future for our towns

Sustained 1% per annum growth in visitor numbers

Superfast digital connectivity, anywhere in Copeland

Physical connectivity between towns and remote communities, 
with affordable, low-carbon public transport services and 
healthy personal mobility options available to all

7

7Copeland Borough Council Future High Street Fund submission 2020: https://
www.copeland.gov.uk/future-high-streets-fund

COPELAND 2020

Our town centres are “stuck”, dependent on poor retail, 
limited leisure, outdated housing and lack of adequate 
sustainable transport options.

Insufficient co-ordinated digital infrastructure to 
maximise the opportunities for the town centre from new 
technologies.

14.7% of town centre commercial properties vacant

Declining town centre rents, down 25% between 2010 
and 2017

103 empty homes in Whitehaven Town centre

COPELAND VISION 2040

14

DRAFT

Page 140



PRINCIPLES
The delivery of this vision will result in 
t  he ability of Copeland’s residents and 
businesses to flourish and fulfil their 
potential as part of an inclusive economy.
This vision for Copeland’s economy in 2040 has been 
developed in line with the following principles:

• A diverse and resilient economy with sustainable incomes

• Levelling Up: prosperity and opportunity 
for all – thriving communities

• A zero carbon economy, in sync with 
our natural environment

• A digital, data-informed economy

• Working in partnership and collaboration with our anchor 
institutions and the businesses that operate here to build 
an inclusive economy

COMMUNITY
WEALTH

HEALTHY 
PEOPLE

HEALTHY 
PLANET

HEALTHY 
ECONOMY

“

The COVID pandemic and the increasing frequency and severity 
of global crises show us the urgent need to better align the 
needs of individuals, business and society towards shared 
goals – business growth and economic wellbeing, yes, but also 
community wellbeing, empowerment, sustainability, resilience 
and other qualitative measures encompassed by the UN 
Sustainable Development Goals.

During the pandemic, the mobilisation of citizens and volunteers 
in partnership with business, industry, third sector and local 
government to meet the immediate needs of those in danger, 
those who are most vulnerable and society as a whole, has 
highlighted the potential value of an economic model within 
which the empowered citizen is enabled to deliver more 
economic activity. This challenges us to rethink and reimagine 
the role of business and the individual in the relationship 
between public health, economic wellbeing and place.

” 

The experience of the recent crisis - 
the willingness of local people to step 
forward and collaborate, the flexibility 
shown by public services and the social 
commitment of businesses – shows what 
is possible. Add the extraordinary new 
dynamics of data and digital innovation, 
and a wholly new paradigm is possible 
in which community power replaces the 
dominance of remote public and private 
sector bureaucracies.

- Danny Kruger, MP

14 15

COPELAND 2040 VISION

DRAFT

Page 141



A GENERATIVE  
ECONOMY

Community Wealth Building is a model of local economic 
development which tackles head on the challenges of rising 
inequality and creates a more robust and resilient economy for 
the long-term, creating societal value. 

By focusing on locally productive forms of business, our 
economy will have a generative effect, with positive outcomes 
for shareholders, businesses and employees, while creating local 
multipliers as wealth flows to local people and places – this is 
how we will level up our economy.

We are in a strong position to achieve this: we have significant 
public sector presence through the NDA, Sellafield Ltd, LLWR 
and the Council, Whitehaven Hospital, a strong supply chain 
of large and small multinational and local businesses, and 
universities of Cumbria, UcLan and Manchester.

How could we create a more generative economy?

• By working with our anchor institutions to establish 
a Social License to Operate, ensuring that public 
sector procurement drives development of deep 
and resilient local value chains and positive social 
and environmental outcomes, curtailing market 
access to those who do not play by the rules

• By promoting mutual models of business 
ownership, municipal enterprise and 
municipally-owned development vehicles

• By helping businesses to recirculate investment within their 
local community rather than in national or global funds, 
avoiding the need to attract capital investment, for example 
by repurposing land, property and assets for wider public 
use and driving positive organisational behaviours

• By insourcing public services and working with partners 
to provide essential services at no cost to society

• By building citizen engagement and activism into our plans, 
for example by supporting community energy generation, 
co-housing and community-led climate action plans

Community wellbeing hand in hand with 
economic growth. An inclusive economy 
is an economy which is focussed on 
social goals, social justice, environmental 
sustainability and prosperity for all.

8 CLES, 2020. Own the Future: a guide 
for local economies. Centre for Local 
Economic Strategies.

8

Five Pillars of the Generative Economy

£

COPELAND VISION 2040

16

DRAFT

Page 142



The Analyst: 
Building on our existing knowledge, developing a deep 
understanding of the local economy to create a West Cumbria 
Intelligence Hub to inform decision making to ensure that 
economic change addresses important societal issues including 
poverty, educational attainment, social isolation, social mobility 
and health. This will allow us to identify and characterise 
our economy:

• Foundational Sectors: Those which are vital to 
the wellbeing and survival of local people, such as 
health and social care, food provision and utilities. The 
focus here will be on building more local supply and 
resilience to future economic shocks or uncertainty.

• Reform Sectors: Those which are dominated by 
firms which extract rather than generate value for 
the local economy. They are often characterised by 
low wages and insecure work. The focus here is to 
grow more generative businesses and help existing 
businesses to contribute more to local resilience.

• Future Growth Sectors: Those with high growth 
potential, focusing particularly on building on 
existing strengths to grow the green economy.

Agent of Change:
Working with other Anchor Institutions in West Cumbria 
including the NDA, Sellafield, BECBC, the NHS and academia, 
as key holders of the purchasing power, assets and employment 
with which economies can be recovered and reformed, to use 
these levers to ensure economic and social prosperity for all. 
This will focus on:

• Supply Chain: ensuring that procurement and 
commissioning support core, key and future growth 
sectors of the economy and create additional 
opportunities for local businesses and the local workforce

• Workforce: understanding the scope and profile of 
anchor institution workforce strategies, and how they can 
support local economic outcomes. Mapping of at-risk

• Assets: reviewing anchor assets and property portfolios to 
determine how they can support local economic outcomes

COPELAND VISION 2040

16 17

DRAFT

Page 143



PICTURES OF  
THE FUTURE

The following pages present Pictures of the Future: visions 
of what Copeland could look like in 2040, based on the 
principles above and delivering our economic objectives.

COPELAND 2040 VISION

1818

DRAFT

Page 144



AN INNOVATIVE PLACE1

Creation of a viable innovation pipeline is key to unleashing the 
full potential of West Cumbria’s future economy. A joined-up 
programme of research, development, testing and application 
will enable us to successfully commercialise these innovations 
and apply them for the prosperity of all.

Innovation Districts: geographic areas where leading edge 
anchor institutions and companies cluster and connect with 
start-ups, business incubators, and accelerators.

Government should prioritise place-based investment in 
innovation districts to boost productivity, support inclusive 
growth, and to deliver the Industrial Strategy.9

With a diverse pool of knowledge intensive firms, highly skilled 
knowledge workers, anchor institutions and new vibrant 
public and work spaces, Copeland has the ideal knowledge 
economy to support the creation of an Innovation Corridor, 
linking the campuses of our knowledge economy at Sellafield, in 
Whitehaven, Westlakes Science and Technology Park, and the 
Enterprise Campus and innovation Hub (see below) with wider 
public and economic assets in West Cumbia.

Our anchor knowledge institutions and centres of 
excellence include:

• Sellafield Ltd: a global centre of expertise in complex 
decommissioning and environmental remediation

• National Nuclear Laboratories Central Labs: with 
globally unique facilities at Sellafield, NNL is arguably 
a world-leading centre for research & development in 
nuclear fuel technologies, covering materials science, 
manufacture, testing and reactor operations support

• Nuclear Decommissioning Authority: an executive 
non-departmental public body, sponsored by the 
Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy, 
tasked with cleaning up the UK’s legacy civil nuclear sites

• University of Manchester Dalton Facility: 
an important part of the national research 
infrastructure through its central roles in the 
National Nuclear User Facility, the Henry Royce 
Institute and the UK National Ion Beam Centre

• University of Manchester: Robotics in 
Extreme Environments Lab (REEL) and 
Robotics and AI in Nuclear (RAIN) hub.

• Universities: including campuses of 
UcLan and University of Cumbria

• Westlakes Science and Technology Park: 
host to a cluster of science, engineering and 
professional services firms supplying the nuclear 
sector, including multinationals and local specialist 
SMEs, with international market penetration

• Britain’s Energy Coast Business Cluster: one of 
Britain’s most mature business enterprise clusters, with 
over 300 member companies including local SMEs and 
global multinationals operating in nuclear, energy and 
wider engineering and professional services sectors

• Whitehaven Buzz Station and Watershed: curated 
incubator and collaboration space with accelerator 
support for startup and pre-startup enterprises

• West Cumbria Medical Education Centre: 
an innovator in remote and rural medicine.

Sellafield provides the “pull” for innovation to deliver its mission 
safer, sooner and at higher value to the UK taxpayer, in line 
with the Nuclear Sector Deal 20% Legacy Cost Reduction 
commitment by 2030. Robotics, AI and Digital are the levers by 
which to create greater value from the continued investment at 
Sellafield, and are the foundations of the future economy.

9 Arup. 2019. UK innovation Districts and Knowledge Quarters: driving more 
productive growth. UK Innovation Districts Group.

Copeland is a place of world-leading innovation, in delivering the complex 
environmental and decommissioning challenge at Sellafield, in robotics and 
remote handling in challenging environments, in advanced materials science 
and in remote and rural medicine.

COPELAND VISION 2040

191818

DRAFT

Page 145



The Innovation Corridor will exploit the opportunities from our 
existing innovation capabilities and be a focus for knowledge 
sharing and diversification. Unlike the single-industry science 
parks of the 80s and 90s, the Energy Coast Innovation Corridor 
is a cluster of knowledge-driven firms and skilled workers, 
increasing the innovation found at the intersections of different 
sectors, with competitive advantage coming from spillovers 
between them. It will include an Innovation Hub, to co-ordinate 
activity between our R&D organisations, innovative firms, 
universities, and the public sector to promote innovation transfer 
and commercialisation to generate new jobs, businesses, 
products and technologies for export, driving productivity and 
inclusive growth and delivering the UK Industrial Strategy as part 
of a national network of Innovation Districts.

The Innovation District will bring together partners and 
collaborators to forge links with universities, schools, colleges 
and young people, increasing awareness of and access to the 
range of learning and career opportunities available in the local 
knowledge economy.

Enterprise Campus and Innovation Hub
A thriving Enterprise Campus in Copeland centred around 
an Innovation Hub, helping networked public, private and 
academic organisations to capitalise on the knowledge and 
expertise developed in supplying Sellafield, to export products 
and services into domestic and internationals markets beyond 
the nuclear sector. The Hub will also help startup and spinout 
enterprises and newcomers to establish a presence in West 
Cumbria, to service the needs of Sellafield and to develop and 
grow new markets. Based on existing strengths in engineering, 
manufacturing, control systems, robotics, remote handling 
and asset management, we will diversify into new sectors 
including space, oil and gas decommissioning, fusion and more, 
commercialising our innovation to meet the UK’s and the 
world’s toughest challenges.

Robotics and AI Cluster (Cumbria Nuclear 
Prospectus page 16-18)
A collaboration between our anchor institutions including 
National Nuclear Laboratory, NDA, Sellafield Ltd and University 
of Manchester, growing the existing nuclear robotics capability 
to stimulate cross-fertilisation of ideas, driving the innovation 
required in development of fusion technology, and to deliver 
the Sellafield mission safer, sooner and cheaper to achieve our 
Legacy Cost Reduction commitment.

The Robotics and AI Cluster will be supplemented by a research 
and innovation capability which brings together the University 
of Manchester Dalton Cumbria Facility and existing Robotics 
in Extreme Environments Lab (REEL) in Cumbria with a multi-
university and business approach to drive innovation in digital, 
robotics and materials science to support the development and 
deployment of Advanced Nuclear Technologies in the UK. This 
will anchor further R&D investment in Copeland, developing 
higher-level skills and subject matter expertise in a field that is 
critical to achieving the new build and legacy cost reduction 
commitments set out in the Nuclear Sector Deal by 2030.

Fostering Entrepreneurs
The Buzz Station and Watershed facilities on Whitehaven 
Harbour are connected into the wider North Shore Innovation 
Quarter, incubating digital and creative businesses, supporting 
talented local entrepreneurs to start up and scale up. Through  
dedicated higher education programmes, we will foster the 
generation of businesspeople and social entrepreneurs who will 
create our future economy and shape the future of our place.

Micro-City Demonstrator
Whitehaven will create an environment for innovation, with 
infrastructure, facilities and opportunities for entrepreneurs, 
residents, companies and students to be stimulated, connected 
and involved in the development of joined-up smart place 

COPELAND VISION 2040

20

DRAFT

Page 146



WHY?
The Enterprise Campus and Innovation Hub will harness 
the “small Sellafield, big supply chain” strategy in a way 
that generates local economic diversification and growth 
in West Cumbria, addressing our greatest economic 
threat – an un-mitigated Sellafield Transformation.

The co-location of Sellafield-related capability outside 
of the fence on a new enterprise campus near to the 
Sellafield site, will support continued delivery of the 
Sellafield mission, but importantly cross-fertilisation 
between supply chain and academic organisations 
leading to the identification and creation of export 
opportunities for supply chain companies into domestic 
and international nuclear and non-nuclear markets.

By building on current strengths to support local, SME 
and major supply chain companies to do global business 
from Copeland, we will reduce reliance on Sellafield and 
create high-value employment opportunities in Copeland, 
helping to retain and attract talented young people and 
entrepreneurs.

solutions, with the aim of commercial replication in towns and 
cities around the world.

A place, where Smart City innovations can be created, tested 
and implemented – to bridge the technology readiness “valley of 
death” – large enough to be significant and small enough to be 
controlled, to allow replication beyond the test.

As the first planned town in UK, and creator of today’s grid 
city layouts, where better than Whitehaven to be the place 
where smart innovations are created, tested, applied and 
commercialised? With the vision, leadership, mix of businesses 
and engaged communities needed to be the perfect micro-city 
test bed, coupled with connections to Government, Whitehaven 
is uniquely placed for success.

This is local government, businesses and communities using 
urban disruptive thinking to create a living lab, to test the 
integration of technology, design, environment and society, 
delivering better outcomes for all. A place for market-creating 
and market-changing innovations, that embraces the new and 
remoulds the old, with the objective of creating a vibrant, thriving 
and inclusive economy, and results that can be replicated at scale.

This will result in the creation of new jobs in “future industries”, 
acceleration towards a Net Zero carbon society, and digital 
upskilling to support this new economy.

COPELAND VISION 2040

20 21

DRAFT

Page 147



A GREAT PLACE2

Our Towns
The 21st century town centre is an activity-based gathering 
place at the heart of the community. Our towns will be liveable 
and connected places of experience, culture and leisure, 
embracing smart technology to enhance productivity and 
provide accessibility to services.

The following factors will support inclusive economic growth 
in Copeland’s key service centres in Millom, Cleator Moor and 
Egremont:

• Development of place-based experience 
economies, building on local heritage, cultural 
and natural assets, as components of the Lake 
District Coast brand (cross-reference)

• Shaping of built environment, public realm, green 
spaces, recreational facilities and services to 
support community health and wellbeing

• Availability of sustainable housing and 
accommodation options including co-housing

• Diversified employer base, housed in modern, sustainable 
and collaborative accommodation, highlighting our unique 
location both as a business base and a gateway to the 
natural outstanding beauty of the Lake District Coast

• Connection to Whitehaven, each other and 
surrounding rural villages by rail, modern, 
accessible public transport services and active 
travel networks including cycling infrastructure

• Full superfast digital connectivity for 
residents, businesses and visitors

• Access to low-carbon electricity, heat and fuels, with 
flexible and future-proof supply infrastructure.

Whitehaven: An Experience
Whitehaven and the Lake District Coast (cross-reference) will 
be at the heart of a higher value experience economy, attracting 
more visitor spending, making the most of our stunning 
landscapes and heritage, the heritage coast, and the Coast 2 
Coast and other national cycle routes.

Whitehaven will be reshaped as an inclusive leisure town with 
exciting opportunities and modern, sustainable spaces to live 
and work that complements the town’s rich heritage. One of 
the UK’s premier coastal towns, focused on the experience 
economy, alive with events and festivals – an alternative 
economy grown from our heritage, attracting cultural, creative 
and low-carbon businesses, with space for local entrepreneurs 
to pilot new ideas in the digital economy.

The area around the historic harbour will be the focal point for 
the start of the West to East Coast 2 Coast challenge route, 
supporting a vibrant leisure economy.

Education: Access and Aspiration
With a range of options on offer to meet the specific needs 
of local people and businesses, Copeland grows, retains and 
attracts talented young people to work in our diverse, thriving 
economy. By raising aspirations and creating visible pathways to 
Level 4 attainment and beyond, including vocational, academic 
and technical routes, a greater proportion of the population 
actively participate in and add greater value to the economy.

The best places support thriving economies. Creation of places that build upon 
and exploit the full potential of our assets in the natural and built environment is 
fundamental to growing and sustaining a diverse economy and population. Places 
that offer their residents a high quality of life, including access to good homes, 
schools, healthcare, culture and leisure attract people and investors. 
By doing so, we will make Copeland a Better Place to Live, Work and Visit.

COPELAND VISION 2040

22

DRAFT

Page 148



An enhanced Further Education and Higher Education offer 
is tailored to the needs of our economic sectors, including 
development of higher-level skills for the nuclear and clean 
energy sectors, a pipeline of skills in hospitality, service 
industries, outdoor pursuits and events management to support 
the Experience Economy and digital skills to support our 
innovative businesses. 

The wider skills provision in West Cumbria supports our centres 
of excellence, supply the local economy with appropriately trained 
people, upskilling them to participate in the digital economy, 
increasing social mobility and access to employment opportunity.

Future Homes
An improved mix of housing models and new innovative build 
types will help the borough adapt to changing aspirations and 
needs across all demographics, particularly those of young 
families, an increasing cohort of young entrepreneurs and 
students, as well as our growing senior population. We will raise 
the standards in the quality of design in our new homes and 
neighbourhoods, delivering zero carbon homes and providing a 
test bed for new design techniques and modular construction.

Copeland will have a mix of aspirational high quality homes 
with enhancements to overall housing stock to sustain existing 
communities, and to attract and retain the skilled workforce that 
will support our future economy. We will work with developers 
to offer a balanced market and identify creative ways to ensure 
growth benefits our communities.

Community Health and Wellbeing
With greater access to active travel options and recreational 
activities, our residents enjoy a more active lifestyle, spending 
more time exploring Copeland’s green spaces and the coastline. 
As a result, physical health and mental wellbeing are improved 
and the need for health and social care interventions is reduced.

In a more inclusive local economy, in which citizens are 
encouraged and supported to actively participate, financial 

vulnerability is in decline, and associated health and wellbeing 
indicators are improved, reducing reliance on social care provision.

Our thriving, generative economy provides high quality social 
care for all in need, and elderly care for our senior population. 

West Cumberland Hospital working with our universities, 
as anchor institutions, has become a centre of excellence 
for rural and remote medicine, demonstrating the future of 
rural healthcare provision, using innovative approaches and 
technology to ensure that our remote communities have access 
to world-class care.

WHY?
Our Towns will reflect the prosperity of the area as 
great places to live, work and visit, based on place-
based economies that draw on their respective natural, 
heritage and cultural assets. Towns are at the heart of 
thriving communities – activity-focussed high streets 
attract visitors, diverse businesses create a range of 
exciting employment opportunities, and an enhanced 
housing offer results in people choosing to live nearer to 
where they work. This creates a positive feedback loop: 
increased business, residential and visitor footfall in towns 
creates stronger local economies, that grow and become 
more attractive to continued investment, which goes back 
into the community.

By creating an experience economy in Whitehaven that 
draws upon the town’s history, beautiful harbour and 
coastal location and links into active challenge routes 
including the Coast2Coast, the town’s hospitality, retail 
and night-time economies will benefit from increased 
visitor footfall. This creates employment opportunities for 
local people. The experience economy also stimulates 
greater exploration by residents of their own towns, 
places and surroundings, leading to increased local 
spending, healthier travel choices and more active 
lifestyles, with benefits to health and wellbeing.

Copyright Campus Whitehaven

COPELAND VISION 2040

22 23

DRAFT

Page 149



A CONNECTED PLACE3

Connected Communities
For Copeland’s residents, improved connectivity between 
rural villages and main towns will ensure greater:

• Access between remote communities and towns

• Access to employment opportunities;

• Access to education; and

• Access to healthcare, for all

Digital Connectivity
Copeland’s digital strategy supports the 21st century 
economy, encompassing:

• Citizen Engagement: connecting residents, 
businesses and visitors and giving them a voice

• Connected infrastructure

• Connected transport

• Connected energy

• Digital skills development, supporting our future 
economy and ensuring that everyone has 
access to education in the 21st century

Working from Anywhere
Copeland’s unique setting offers the perfect place for 
businesses and entrepreneurs to establish and grow 
innovative businesses, serving local, domestic and 
international markets, while enjoying the quality of life, 
health and wellbeing benefits of the Lake District Coast.

Life balance is easily achieved in Copeland, where 21st 
century businesses are connected to the rest of the UK 
and the world, with access directly to the restorative 
tranquillity and remoteness of our natural surroundings.

Decarbonised Transport
In order to meet our Net Zero targets, we must:

Decarbonise personal travel – Copeland’s walking 
and cycling infrastructure meets the needs of residents, 
visitors and businesspeople, providing a network of bike 
hire venues supported by cycle-friendly accommodation 
providers, businesses and public transport. The cycle 
network will include travel to work and recreational 
options including off-road routes and will connect our 
more remote communities.

Decarbonise vehicle travel – Our rural geography is a 
challenge when it comes to car use. By taking a strategic 
approach to decarbonising our personal and public 
transport, we will be a leader in providing a rural electric 
vehicle charging network that connects our people, 
towns, workplaces and coastline. The inclusion of battery 
storage technology in the network will create a flexible 
system, which takes pressure off the local electricity grid, 
enhancing resilience. Using future-facing technology will 
enable us to accommodate developments in electric 
vehicle technology.

Decarbonise public transport – Our communities will 
be connected by a low-carbon public transport service, 
utilising locally available electricity, hydrogen or other 
synthetic e-fuels. Our towns and employment centres are 
served by park and ride hubs.

When people are connected it stimulates collaboration, ideas and innovation 
and drives our economy. Improved access between employment locations, 
the coast and the national park and availability of more active and sustainable 
modes of transport improves the health and wellbeing of our residents, workforce 
and visitors. Low carbon, high quality transport and state-of-the-art digital 
infrastructure and services, enable people to stay connected to each other, our 
stunning landscapes, their places of work and the rest of the world.

24

COPELAND 2040 VISION

24

DRAFT

Page 150



WHY?
A generative economy would provide for investment in 
public transport, provided as a service to Copeland’s rural 
communities. The transition to a low carbon transport 
system will involve electrification and use of other fuels 
such as low-carbon hydrogen, but also a change in our 
behaviours and mindset towards personal transport 
and vehicle ownership. The future is “mobility as a 
service”, and this will be supported by enhanced digital 
infrastructure and accessibility for Copeland residents.

Enhancements to the Cumbrian Coastal Line and new 
low-carbon rolling stock will ensure that West Cumbria is 
sustainably connected with the Energy Coast and wider 
Cumbrian economy.

Enhanced Infrastructure
A number of infrastructure enhancements and 
investments would support this vision of a connected 
West Coast, helping to increase productivity and 
the development of a truly inclusive West Cumbrian 
economy:

• A595 Whitehaven Relief Road: to better connect existing 
and potential new employment and housing areas in 
the East of Whitehaven and neighbouring towns. Also 
reducing the amount of congestion along the A595 
and in central Whitehaven, making it a more attractive 
and welcoming place for residents and visitors

• A595/A66 (West of M6) improvements

• Cumbrian Coast Line capacity and 
line speed improvement

• West Coast Main Line capacity improvements

• Whitehaven Railway Station improvements

• Enhancements to Ports of Barrow 
(South) and Workington (North)

• Cumbria Grid Investment Plan to provide grid 
capacity for electrification of transport networks

COPELAND VISION 2040

24 2524

DRAFT

Page 151



LAKE DISTRICT COAST4

The Lake District Coast brand will be built around five 
Unique Selling Points, which are rooted in our history, but 
which will transform the future of our visitor economy:

• Lake District Coast: From the beach and 
beyond – marine tourism, marine national park, 
national coastal trail and the C2C cycle route

• World Heritage: Romantics to Romans – the interaction 
of people, industry, heritage and environment, in a world 
class setting 
 
 

• Natural Environment: Highest mountain, 
deepest lake, dark skies – experience the soul 
of the Lake District, with farming and rural 
communities offering an authentic experience

• Health and Wellbeing: High quality healthy 
food, digital detox, relax and recharge, 
mindfulness and mental wellbeing

• People Experience: World class customer service from 
arrival to departure, where everyone feels included

Maximising the value of our natural capital, heritage and cultural assets: the 
stunning Lake District Coast, between England’s highest peak and deepest lake, 
connected to two UNESCO world heritage sites and bordering the Lake District 
National Park, which attracts around 47 million visitors per year.

26

COPELAND 2040 VISION

26

DRAFT

Page 152



Our fells, lakes, coast and towns are not seasonal, and in 
2040 a year-round visitor economy will support sustainable 
employment opportunities. 

Tourism Action Zone
A Tourism Zone will bring businesses and local partnerships 
together to establish a coordinated strategy for growth in the 
local visitor economy. Small and medium enterprises (SMEs) 
in these areas will receive targeted digital skills training and 
be offered practical guidance in management and leadership 
through business programmes to boost productivity, helping to 
deliver on the five foundations of the Tourism Sector Deal:

• People – improving skills and quality of jobs

• Places – the Lake District Coast

• Business environment – accessibility 
and business support for SMEs

• Infrastructure – focussing on the English Coastal Path

• Ideas – innovation and diversification 

Coastal Challenge Routes
Recreational routes along the Lake District Coast and the 
England Coastal Path will offer visitors and residents the 
opportunity to experience the stunning coastal scenery while 
exploring cultural and heritage sites, art installations and 
adrenalin activities, with spurs into the valleys of the Lake District 
National Park.

Connecting People with Place
The experience of Copeland by Visitors and residents alike 
is authentic. 

The outdoor activities on offer are grounded in our natural 
landscape, our high streets promote local produce and products 
from our thriving local businesses, our hospitality sector 
celebrates healthy and sustainable local produce.

People explore Copeland via a range of high quality outdoor, 
active and health & wellbeing activities that connect them with 
our uniquely beautiful setting:

• Digital experience of Whitehaven and its 
history, including local information, trails, 
wayfinding, augmented and virtual reality

• Coastal activities around Whitehaven 
harbour and along the coast

• Adventure and challenge trails, helping people to explore 
the coast and Lake District National Park sustainably

• Cultural and arts trails linking to our industrial 
heritage and cultural sites to the South

• Health and wellbeing experiences focused 
around tranquillity, wilderness and dark skies

• High quality, healthy food offer based on 
local, fresh, seasonal produce

WHY?
Our natural surroundings are one of the greatest 
attractions to Copeland. A thriving visitor economy, which 
attracts more of the 47 million Lake District visitors to 
explore the wilder areas of the Western Lakes, will draw 
visitors to our coastal towns and villages, to explore 
the heritage, culture and coastal activities on offer and 
increasing footfall in our town centres. 

his increased footfall will help to support a hospitality 
sector offering high quality, local food & drink and 
accommodation as well as specialist retail that 
complements the visitor experience. This creates new 
training, re/upskilling and employment opportunities for 
local people and attraction of new and diverse businesses 
to the area.

Increased connection between people and place will help 
residents and visitors alike to understand the impact of 
our activities, including travel, food and retail choices, on 
the environment – leading to greater appreciation of how 
to live more sustainably.

COPELAND VISION 2040

26 2726

DRAFT

Page 153



ENERGY COAST5

Copeland will be at the heart of the Northern “Living Lab” for clean energy: 
decarbonising heat, power and transport, and driving Clean Growth as we head 
towards Net Zero by 2050. Copeland has the pioneering heritage, innovation 
culture, visionary leadership, collective ambition and global reach to develop and 
deploy the UK’s future energy systems.

Moorside Clean Energy Park
The Cumbria Nuclear Prospectus is centred around the vision 
of a Cumbria Clean Energy Park, the trailblazer for the UK’s 
decarbonised energy system – a blend of Nuclear New Build 
and Advanced Nuclear Technologies, providing heat and power 
for local use or distribution, and producing low carbon synthetic 
fuels, with links into wider renewable energy networks in the 
North West. The site could host a large new nuclear station 

or a mix of large, small and advanced nuclear, plus a further 
contribution of low carbon power from other technologies on or 
adjacent to the site. 

Part of the site could be devoted to testing and deployment 
of Advanced Nuclear Technologies, to produce heat, steam, 
hydrogen or other low-carbon synthetic fuels, as well as 
pioneering research and development in Robotics and AI, 
environmental remediation, advanced fuels and manufacturing. 

COPELAND VISION 2040

28

DRAFT

Page 154



WHY?
Investment in energy infrastructure meets the UK’s biggest 
challenges: meeting the UK’s Net Zero commitments and 
Levelling Up the economy through investment in energy 
infrastructure as a catalyst for Economic Recovery in rural 
and industrial regions.

Copeland is the Centre of Nuclear Excellence, and the 
deep and broad industrial capability in West Cumbria is a 
strategic asset for the UK in delivering ongoing missions 
more effectively, and in supporting the delivery of new 
clean energy generation capacity needed to achieve 
decarbonisation of energy.

As the largest energy user in West Cumbria, Sellafield 
presents both a challenge and opportunity in achieving 
ours and the UK’s Net Zero ambitions.

Large nuclear new build, small and advanced modular 
reactors can all play a role alongside offshore wind and 
hydrogen, and will create high-value jobs in the green 
economy. The availability of locally-generation low carbon 
energy is attractive to new energy intensive industries, 
will enable decarbonisation of domestic and industrial 
processes, and provide cheaper energy for residents 
and businesses.

The Clean Energy Park is underpinned by the credibility of our 
existing industrial cluster, establishing Copeland as the test-bed 
for clean energy technologies and a catalyst for a wider green 
economic strategy for Cumbria.

We will build on our history as pioneers of low carbon energy, to 
grow opportunities for diversification and export, and developing 
strategic opportunities for new low-carbon energy generation, 
exploring synergies with offshore wind, hydrogen and synthetic 
fuels as those new markets grow. The Park will support 
the rapid development of highly-skilled, green employment 
opportunities, readily available to support UK and global 
decarbonisation markets.

Nuclear Cogeneration
Copeland has the industrial capability and available 
development sites to demonstrate nuclear cogeneration, 
trailblazing a path to decarbonisation of the full energy system 
including heat and transport. Cogeneration offers the potential 
to decarbonise not only electricity, but energy as a whole, 
including heating and transport through the production of 
carbon neutral hydrogen and other synthetic e-fuels.

Large, Small or Advanced Modular Reactors in West Cumbria 
could produce net zero carbon electricity and fuels including 
hydrogen and other synthetic e-fuels for aviation, maritime 
or other transport uses. Any surplus power could be used 
to meet Sellafield’s electricity, heat and steam requirements 
at competitive market economics. There is also opportunity 
to supply local low-carbon district heat networks in order to 
decarbonise domestic energy supplies.

We have available deployment sites at Moorside and 
Fellside, and a readymade customer for low carbon energy 
on our doorstep: the Sellafield site is one of the UK’s oldest 
industrial heat and power networks - there is potential to 
develop a closed-loop energy system to power the ongoing 
decommissioning and environmental remediation mission. 

10Doughnut Economics Action Lab, 2020. 
Creating City Portraits: a methodological 
guide from the Thriving Cities Initiative.

COPELAND VISION 2040

28 29

DRAFT

Page 155



OUR NUCLEAR FUTURE6

Yet it is our inherent capability across industry, supply chain 
and academia, within a supportive community that offers 
opportunity to deliver existing missions more effectively, to make 
more of ongoing investment and to create greater value for the 
UK economy. To realise this opportunity, we must move from 
dependence on Sellafield to a more diverse economic future.

By commercialising the capability developed in delivering the 
Sellafield mission, we will diversify our local economy, provide 
access to new markets for our supply chain companies and 
attract new, diverse, innovative businesses to the area. We will 
commercialise our unique expertise, exporting into domestic 
and global markets, to solve the world’s challenges.

Copeland’s Nuclear Future
The Sellafield site, as the current storage site for the majority 
of the UK’s higher activity material inventory, will form the front 
end of the operational phase of a future long term management 
solution. Whether this is a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) 
alone, or in combination with Near Surface Disposal, Copeland 
has a role in these internationally significant, £multi-billion 
environmental protection projects, which will create employment 
opportunities and wider social impact for over 100 years. 

Provision of a solution for safe and secure long-term 
management of the UK’s higher activity radioactive waste is key 
to making the case for the UK’s nuclear new build programme. 
Copeland has the knowledge, skills and expertise local to 
the Sellafield site to support delivery. Removal of waste from 
Sellafield would unlock space on the site for future missions and 
is a key enabler to our future nuclear economy.

Sellafield as a Living Lab
The Sellafield site is a de facto technological test bed on which 
to develop, deploy & prove cutting edge decommissioning, 
waste management & remediation technologies for delivery of 
domestic remediation missions and for export.

By enabling this kind of innovation on the Sellafield site, the 
NDA can deliver the mission safer and sooner, while driving 
wider local economic benefit by supporting local supply chain 
companies to access opportunities, anchoring new and existing 
innovative enterprises in Copeland.

Using digital innovation, technology and big data to assess 
and masterplan future activities on the site, Sellafield will 
become an exemplar industrial smart city test bed, reducing 
energy demand and decarbonising operations using locally-
available low carbon energy.

Sellafield has been the backbone of West Cumbria’s economy for 70 years. In 
2018, Oxford Economics demonstrated the significance of Sellafield’s contribution 
to the UK economy and the positive socio-economic impacts felt locally and 
nationally, but also highlighted risks around local economic diversity and 
resilience in the face of Sellafield’s changing mission.

30

COPELAND 2040 VISION

30

DRAFT

Page 156



Total Societal Impact
The relationship between Sellafield, the supply chain, the 
economy, the community and the environment has moved 
far beyond Social Impact interventions and Corporate Social 
Responsibility.

Delivery of the Sellafield mission will drive wider and inclusive 
social, environmental and economic impact in West Cumbria. 
By delivering activities on the site in line with the principles of 
Community Wealth Building, Sellafield, the Programme and 
Project Partners and the supply chain will create lasting positive 
impact targeted against local priorities.

For example, by leading the way in deploying low carbon 
energy systems and by building circular economy principles into 
major construction programmes, Sellafield can demonstrate 
infrastructure decarbonisation in a way that upskills and 
empowers the supply chain to pay forward the benefits in our 
wider built environment.

By procuring in a way that stimulates positive behaviours from 
suppliers and by employing workforce strategies that drive 
positive outcomes for local people and education providers, 
Sellafield can support a sustainable local economy that provides 
access to green employment and upskilling opportunities for our 
people.

WHY?
As the Sellafield site is successfully decommissioned, 
the Sellafield Transformation will result in economic 
decline for Copeland, without intervention to harness the 
opportunities offer by the move to a “small Sellafield, big 
supply chain” model.

We will work with the NDA, Sellafield Ltd and supply 
chain partners to ensure that the wider value of continued 
investment by UK Government at Sellafield is maximised 
in a way that creates positive outcomes for Copeland’s 
communities. By properly addressing Social Value, the 
NDA can meet its Energy Act obligations to communities 
by more effectively delivering the mission in a way that 
aligns with the community’s vision

As host to the Sellafield site and therefore the majority 
of the inventory identified for Geological Disposal, 
Copeland’s community is affected regardless of the 
final choice of site for a GDF. This is a £multi-Billion 
internationally significant project, and therefore we will 
work with NDA and RWM Ltd to ensure that significant 
and proportionate positive outcomes are secured for 
Copeland.

Everyone in Copeland should have ready access to 
sustainable transport options that connect our remote 
communities.”

Copyright Sellafield Ltd

COPELAND VISION 2040

30 3130

DRAFT

Page 157



A SUSTAINABLE 
PLACE
How can Copeland be a home to healthy people, in 
a thriving place, whilst respecting the wellbeing of all 
people, and the health of the planet?10

This section sets out a framework for how we will deliver 
the Copeland Economic Vision 2040, to meet the needs of 
Copeland’s people sustainably within the means of the 
living planet. 

What would it mean for the People of Copeland 
to Thrive?

Healthy
Health: All residents have an equal chance of living a healthy 
life, regardless of socioeconomic status, or background. All 
resident have access to green space.

Housing: Everyone in Copeland has access to sustainable, 
affordable housing that supports good health and wellbeing.

Food: everyone has access to sufficient healthy, local, 
sustainably produced food that supports local producers.

Connected
Connectivity: our rural communities are physically and digitally 
connected, enabling everyone to participate in the economy and 
access the services that they need.

Mobility: all residents and visitors have access to safe active 
transport modes, integrated into wider low-carbon public 
transport networks.

Culture: within a growing and diverse arts and culture 
sector, residents and visitors are enabled and encouraged to 
experience Copeland’s heritage, connecting them with this 
place. Play is a valuable part of our lives.

Community: residents in our rural places feel connected to 
each other and to society, social isolation is decreased and 
our anchor institutions are actively engaged in sustaining our 
society, not just our economy.

Enabled
Jobs: exciting and attractive employment opportunities exist 
in a diverse, digital, sustainable economy. Copeland offers a 
welcoming and supportive environment to entrepreneurs to start 

and grow businesses here.

Income: Financial security is guaranteed and inequalities 
are minimised.

Education: everyone has access to high quality education, 
that is tailored to the needs of local people and the 21st 
century economy.

Energy: Copeland is self-sustaining, powered by locally 
generated decarbonised electricity, heat and e-fuels as well as 
wind, solar and other renewable sources.

Empowered
Voice: Citizens have an increased say, involvement and role in 
deciding what happens and how it gets implemented.

Social Equity: residents have a voice in shaping their 
place and their lives, and seldom experience inequality.

Equality in Diversity: Copeland welcomes diversity, 
participation and collaboration, which strengthens 
community networks and builds trust between people 
and organisations.

Food

Housing

Water

Health

Culture

Connectivity

Community

Mobility

Jobs

Income

Education

Energy

Peace
& justice

Social
equality

Political voice

Equality in diversity

COPELAND VISION 2040

32

DRAFT

Page 158



What would it mean for Copeland to thrive in the 
wider environment?

As well as viewing our economy through the social lens, 
we will take an ecological view, by asking ourselves, 
“what if a place generated ecosystem services just as its 
healthy surrounding habitat does?”.
What if our buildings, green space and infrastructure worked 
together to purify as much air, filter as much water, store 
as much carbon, and house as much biodiversity as local 
high-performing ecosystems? In other words, how can 
Copeland become as generous as the beautiful landscape 
on our doorstep?

These ecosystem services include:

• Provisioning fresh water

• Regulating air quality

• Regulating air temperature

• Harvesting energy

• Supporting biodiversity

• Protecting against erosion

• Sequestering carbon

By viewing ourselves as part of the larger ecosystem in which 
we exist, we can adopt growth and development principles 
informed by nature, that help to create sustainable, resilient and 
regenerative places that are good for health and wellbeing and 
good for our environment.

What would it mean for Copeland to respect the health of 
the Planet?

Climate Change: supporting the Cumbria and UK Net Zero 
carbon targets, and by generating low-carbon energy at scale 
and managing our land and resources more sustainably, 
Copeland will be a significant contributor to reducing the harmful 
effects of climate change.

Biodiversity: by enhancing our green and blue infrastructure, 
by focusing on local food and resources and by implementing 
carbon sequestration measures including afforestation, 
Copeland will be a place of thriving biodiversity.

Waste Generation: by creating a more regenerative, circular 
economy, Copeland’s overall use of raw resources will be 
minimised, reducing our negative impact elsewhere in the world.

Land Use: we will reduce our land use footprint and protect 
and manage our natural capital sustainably.

Air Quality: all of the above will help to sustain and improve 
our air quality

10Doughnut Economics Action Lab, 2020. 
Creating City Portraits: a methodological 
guide from the Thriving Cities Initiative.

32

COPELAND 2040 VISION

33

DRAFT

Page 159



STATEMENT OF SUPPORT FROM FUTURE 
OPPORTUNITIES GROUP

“

• Mike Starkie, Copeland Borough Council

• Mike Graham, Copeland Borough Council

• Pat Graham, Copeland Borough Council

• Cllr David Moore, Copeland Borough Council 

• Cllr Steve Morgan, Copeland 
Borough Council 

• Sarah Pemberton, Copeland Borough Council 

• Andrew Clarke, Copeland Borough Council 

• Jackie Arnold, BAE Systems 

• Hazel Blears, Land and Lakes

• Martin Chown, Sellafield Ltd

• Chris Connelly, Direct Rail Services Ltd

• Brian Davidson, Doosan Babcock

• Professor John Fyfe, Guest 

• Eldon Garnett, Morgan Sindall

• Dr Steve Gibbs, University of Cumbria

• John Grainger, BEC Business Cluster 

• Remy Grenier, Areva 

• Laurence Gribble, St Bees School 

• Trudy Harrison, Member of 
Parliament for Copeland

• Craig Harrop, Northern Rail 

• John Hilton, United Utilities

• Martin Hottass, Gen2

• John Howarth, NCIC

• Paul Howarth, National Nuclear Lab 

• Cathy Jackson, UCLan

• Mark Jenkinson MP, Member of 
Parliament for Workington 

• Mike Johnson, Allerdale Borough Council 

• Mark Kirkbride, West Cumbria Mining

• Jo Lappin, Cumbria LEP

• Richard Leafe, LDNPA

• Ken McEwan, LEP

• Henri Murison, Northern Powerhouse 

• Chris Nattress, Lakes College

• John Oliver, Whitehaven 
Harbour Commissioners 

• Michael Osborne, ARUP

• David Peattie, NDA 

• Michael Pemberton, Britain’s Energy Coast

• Mike Pigott, KBR

• Paul Pointon, Low Level Waste Repository

• Jamie Reed, Sellafield Ltd

• Andrew Seekings, Allerdale Borough Council 

• Brian Scowcroft, Land & Lakes

• Lyn Simpson, NCIC

• Gary Townsend, ENWL

• Paul Vallance, NDA

• Simon Vasey, Jacobs

• Kevin Warren, Dalton Nuclear Institute 

• Andy White, Jacobs

• Dave Wilson, Atkins Global

AWAITING CONTENT, 
TO BE STYLED

COPELAND VISION 2040

34

DRAFT

Page 160



34 35

DRAFT

Page 161



Published November 2020

DRAFT

Page 162



Full Council 151220 
 
Climate Policy and Climate Action Plan 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER:  Cllr Andy Pratt, Portfolio Holder for Environment 
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham, CEO 
REPORT AUTHOR: Rob Ward, Nuclear Manager 
 

SUMMARY: 
 
This report introduces the Council’s Climate Policy for 2020-2023 and 
supporting Climate Action Plan, which together set out how the Council 
plans to take meaningful action on climate change and biodiversity. 
 
Action on climate change and biodiversity can deliver many local benefits, 
including lower energy bills, economic regeneration and creation of local 
jobs, reductions in fuel poverty, improved air quality and enhanced green 
spaces. Increasing resilience to climate change risks can result in avoidance 
of costs from flood damage to buildings, infrastructure and services, plus 
enhanced green spaces and improved health. 
 
As a small local authority, it is important that we are able to continue to 
deliver quality services to our residents, businesses and visitors in a more 
sustainable way. We must be able to meet the needs of the present 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:                                                                               
 
That the Council: 
 
1. Adopts the Climate Policy, hence implementing the Climate Action Plan. 
 

 

Page 163

Agenda Item 15



1 INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 In April 2019, all Cumbrian Local Authorities formally adopted the 

Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy incorporating a pledge for 

Cumbria, “to become a carbon neutral County and to mitigate the 

likely impact of existing climate change”. 

1.2 Since, the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership has been working to 

inform an evidence-based Net Zero target date for Cumbria, and has 

recommended a data of 2037. 

1.3 The Council agreed a Climate and Environment Position Statement in 

December 2019, which set out the Council’s corporate and 

community leadership commitments to changing for the better, to 

limiting further harmful effects of climate change and to identifying 

longer-term strategic ambitions to become a low-carbon authority. 

1.4 This paper introduced the Council’s new Climate Policy, which 

integrates the Council’s agreed position into the Council’s Policy 

Framework. 

1.4 On 10th November, Executive Committee endorsed the Council’s 

new Climate Policy (enclosed at Appendix A) and supported its 

adoption by Full Council. 

1.5 Executive also approved the Climate Action Plan (enclosed at 

Appendix B), which will implement the Policy upon its adoption by 

Council. 

2. PROPOSALS 
 
2.1 The Policy has the following objectives: 

1. To commit to becoming a truly sustainable organisation, with the 

ability to deliver the quality of services expected of the Council 

for Copeland’s people and communities now and in the future; 

2. To take meaningful action to limit the harmful effects of climate 

change, and to protect and enhance the environment; and 

Page 164



3. To continue our journey towards becoming a low-carbon Council. 

2.2 Three key areas are outlined in the document: 

 Description 

A Sustainable Council  
Areas of Policy that impact the organisation, our 
assets, Elected Members and Employees. 

A Sustainable Borough  
Areas of Policy concerned with the wider Borough 
and community. 

Community Leadership 
& Net Zero  

Areas of Policy relating to the Council’s role and 
influence as community leaders. 

 

2.3 The Climate Action Plan is an action based document, aligned to the 

three strands of the Policy, setting out actions to be taken in each of 

the above areas. The Plan also sets a time horizon rather than 

specific dates. This is in recognition that implementation sits across 

the Council’s service areas and projects, and therefore cannot be 

dictated by a central plan and must be achieved within the real-world 

constraints of a small local authority. 

Timeframe Description 

Short-Term 
Actions which can be implemented over this financial year 
(2020/21). 

Medium-Term 
Actions which can be implemented following further planning 
and development. 

Long-Term 
Actions for which there are significant challenges and/or those 
which require significant change (such as UK policy change) in 
order to be implemented. 

Ongoing Actions that are already happening. 

 
3. CONCLUSIONS 
 
3.1 The attached documents and information in this report represent the 

Preferred Option – demonstrating a real commitment to tackling climate 

change and starting the journey sooner rather than later. This option also 

balances challenges and opportunities such as funding pressures and 

resource constraints with a desire to take action. 

Page 165



 
3.2 Members should note a number of implications: 
 
3.2.1 Adoption of the Policy and agreement of the Plan commits the 

Council to undertake meaningful action towards mitigating the 
effects and reducing future contribution to both the climate and 
biodiversity crises; 

 
3.2.2 Green governance mechanisms will be embedded into the Council’s 

corporate and democratic decision-making processes. For example, 
Climate Impact Assessments will be introduced into CLT and 
Executive reporting and, from 2021, departmental service plans will 
incorporate targets to contribute to our carbon reduction; 

 
3.2.3 Becoming a low carbon council requires significant investment over 

the next decade, starting now: from decarbonising the Council’s 
property and estates to electrifying the vehicle fleet, to investing in 
training and development of our people; 

 
3.2.4 Everyone has a role to play – Executive Committee, Elected 

Members, Directors, Managers and Officers will be asked to embrace 
and champion the cultural change implications of the Policy and Plan, 
and to take the required action. 

 
4.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
4.1 Legal Comments are: The Council’s Constitution states that policy 

and strategic matters relating to pollution and the management of 
air quality are reserved to Council. More particularly it states that the 
development and implementation (but not approval) of policies and 
strategies is an executive function. Otherwise no legal issues arise 
from the report. 

 
4.2 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: as 4.1 above. 
 
4.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: There are no direct financial 

implications for the Council arising from the recommendations 

Page 166



however, the financial implications of future changes that may arise 
from adopting this policy will be considered on a case by case basis. 
 

4.4 EIA Comments: EIA and Social Inclusion Checklist completed, policy 
complies with Equality and Diversity Scheme 

 
4.5 Policy Framework: This policy frames the delivery of the Climate 

Action Plan and the Corporate Strategy 2020 – 2024 Ambition 3 focus 
on environment. 

 
4.6 Other Consultee Comments, if any: None. 
 
5 RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
5.1 To become a Net Zero Borough and organisation is a major, long-

term change programme, with significant resource and budget 

implications. 

5.2 The scale and importance of the task means that it is not sustainable 

for the Nuclear & Energy Team, or any other of the Council’s service 

areas individually to effectively deliver this agenda while maintaining 

service delivery. 

5.3 The Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership has been awarded a £2.5 grant 

by the National Lottery, which will provide shared climate officer 

support to local authorities across the county. This will be helpful but 

not sufficient. 

5.4 In recognition of resource constraints, in order to embed 

sustainability into the way the Council operates, the Plan identifies a 

number of high priority, high impact, low-effort actions that can be 

implemented in the immediate term: 

1. Development and adoption of a Sustainability Charter, which 

publically sets out the Council’s commitment to and enforceable 

expectations of anyone who lives in, works in or visits Copeland, 

including the Council itself; 

Page 167



2. Explicit consideration of sustainability (including climate impact) to 

be built into corporate governance, reporting and democratic 

decision-making mechanisms; 

3. All Council Service Plans (from 2021) to include sustainability 

targets under our “Aim Higher” performance framework; 

4. Sustainability to be given proper weighting under Social Value 

criteria within Council procurement procedures in line with Social 

Value Act; 

5. A Climate Steering Group to be established to oversee and 

scrutinise performance against this Climate Action Plan; 

6. Cultural change programme starting with education and training 

for leaders, and climate literacy to be embedded into corporate 

induction; 

7. Review of corporate policies to embed sustainability, climate and 

environmental considerations;  

8. Use Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership funding to create 

meaningful citizen participation in sustainability and climate action 

projects, ensuring positive outcomes for all Copeland residents; 

9. With funding from the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership, host a 

Copeland Citizen’s Jury on Climate Change to inform our plans; 

10. Explore the formation of a decarbonisation alliance for 

Copeland/West Cumbria, made up of private, public, third sector 

and community representatives, to develop a decarbonisation 

roadmap. 

6 HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 
THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 

 
6.1 The Nuclear & Energy team will continue to oversee this agenda until 

such a time that appropriate and sufficient resource can be provided. 
The focus to end of Financial Year 2021/22 will be the 
implementation of the 10 actions identified at 5.4 above. 

 

Page 168



6.2 Support will be provided by the shared Local Authority Climate 
Officer, funded by the Zero Carbon Cumbria programme. 

 
6.3 The expectation is that Service Managers will implement the Climate 

Action Plan across the council’s service areas. Progress will be 
monitored by the newly established Climate Steering Group.  

 
6.4 Any emerging projects arising from the Climate Action Plan will go 

through the Council’s project management framework and 
Commercial Engagement Group where appropriate. 

 
7      WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM 

THIS REPORT? 
 
7.1 The most apparent measurable outcome will be a reduction in the 

Council’s organisational emissions as a result of the actions defined in 
the Climate Action Plan. 

 
7.2 It shall be the responsibility of the Climate Steering Group to 

establish a monitoring and measurement framework for 
implementation of the Climate Action Plan. 

 
7.3 The embedment of consideration of climate issues into democratic 

and corporate decision making, including in the Council’s 
procurement framework and service plans will provide mechanisms 
by which to measure performance. 

 
List of Appendices  
 
Appendix A – Climate and Environment Policy 2020-23 
Appendix B – Climate Action Plan 
 
List of Background Documents: 
 
Copeland Borough Council Climate and Environment Position Statement, 
December 2019 

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Climate &  

Environment Policy 
Addressing the Climate Crisis for Copeland’s People and Places 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Version: Final Draft 

Policy Date: September 2020  

Page 171



 

2 

Document Control 

Organisation Copeland Borough Council 

Title Climate & Environment Policy 

Version Final Draft 

Author 
Mitchell McCombe 

Nuclear & Energy Development Officer 

Filename Climate & Environment Policy Final Draft 

Owner 
Pat Graham 

Chief Executive Officer 

Subject Climate & Environment Policy 

Protective Marking N/A 

Review Date 2023 

 

Note: This document is uncontrolled if printed or reproduced.  

Revision History 

Version Renewed Date Reviewed Reviewed By 
Description of 

Revision 

    

 

Document Approval 

Version Approved By Date 

 Human Resources  

 Corporate Leadership Team  

 Trade Union Consultation  

 Executive  

 Full Council   

 

Document Distribution 

This policy is to be distributed to all staff and Elected Members of Copeland Borough Council and 

placed on the Council’s intranet site and website. A copy must also be provided to contractors and 3rd 

parties undertaking work on Copeland Borough Council premises. 

Contributors 

Mike Graham Political Advisor to Mayor of Copeland 

Peta Leigh Policy Officer 

 Service Managers, Council-Wide 

 Industrial Partners & Advisors 

 Cumbria Local Authority Climate Policy Group 

 

Page 172



 

1 
 

Table of Contents 

Foreword by Portfolio Holder ....................................................................................................... 2 

Executive Summary ...................................................................................................................... 3 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 4 

Purpose ............................................................................................................................................ 4 

Policy Background ............................................................................................................................ 4 

Policy Context .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Why Will this Policy Benefit Copeland? ........................................................................................... 8 

Benefits of a Revised Policy ............................................................................................................. 8 

Scope ............................................................................................................................................. 10 

1. A Sustainable Council .............................................................................................................. 11 

Organisational Emissions ............................................................................................................... 11 

Leadership ..................................................................................................................................... 11 

Action Areas ................................................................................................................................... 12 

2. A Sustainable Borough ............................................................................................................ 13 

Carbon Baseline ............................................................................................................................. 13 

Adaption & Mitigation ................................................................................................................... 13 

Funding .......................................................................................................................................... 16 

Citizen Engagement ....................................................................................................................... 16 

3. Community Leadership and Net Zero ....................................................................................... 17 

Cumbria Climate Change Working Group ..................................................................................... 17 

Clean Energy .................................................................................................................................. 17 

Business ......................................................................................................................................... 17 

4. Implementation ...................................................................................................................... 18 

 

 

  

Page 173



 

2 

Foreword by Portfolio Holder 

To be completed following approval. 

Page 174



 

3 

Executive Summary 

To be completed following approval. 

  

Page 175



 

4 

Introduction 

Purpose  

This document sets out Copeland Borough Council’s (“the Council”) revised Climate & Environment 

Policy (“the Policy”) covering the years 2020-2023. 

This Policy has the following objectives: 

 To commit to becoming a truly sustainable organisation, with the ability to deliver the quality 

of services expected of the Council for Copeland’s people and communities now and in the 

future; 

 To take meaningful action to limit the harmful effects of climate change, and to protect and 

enhance the environment; and 

 To continue our journey towards becoming a low-carbon Council. 

This document also sets out our ambitions and responsibilities as leaders in the community, to help 

our residents, businesses and visitors to adopt sustainable ways to live, work and visit Copeland. 

Policy Background 

The previous Environment Policy (covering the years 2017-2020) aimed to ensure that the 

environmental impacts of the Council’s decisions and actions were positive, sustainable and resilient 

both now and in the future. The policy went on to recognise that “[The Council’s] own activities have 

an impact on the environment, [and that] it has a legal and ethical duty to act as an environmentally 

responsible organisation that is adaptive to climate change”. This Policy accomplished many things 

including implementing LED lighting across our estate, installation of air-source heat pumps, the 

rollout of the Council’s kerbside recycling scheme and rewilding interventions. 

This document sets out the Council’s new policy framework for issues relating to the climate and 

environment. It replaces the Council’s 2017 Environmental Policy and: 

 Set out the new policy intentions based on consultations with departmental managers and 

senior officers across the organisation; 

 Builds on the commitments made in the Climate & Environment Position Statement, agreed 

by the Council’s Executive Committee in December 2019 (see Appendix A); 

 Justifies a series of subsequent actions the Council will take to reduce the environmental and 

climatological footprint of the organisation; 

 Embeds the UN Sustainable Development Goals into the fabric of the organisation. 

  

Page 176



 

5 

Policy Context 

International Commitments 

Member Countries of the United Nations (UN) adopted the Paris Agreement in 2016 to “strengthen 

the global response to the threat of climate change1”. This will be achieved through efforts to restrict 

global temperature rise to below 2°C this century, but preferably 1.5°C. The United Kingdom (“the 

UK”) ratified this treaty and are thus bound by international law to abide by the targets. While there 

is no set-date requiring countries to achieve 1.5-2°C limits, it is stated that peak emission levels must 

be reached as soon as reasonably practicable.  

In 2015, Member Countries of the UN also adopted the UN Sustainable Development Goals (“the 

SDGs”) which replace the Millennium Development Goals introduced at the start of the millennium. 

The UN argue that the 17 goals – designed to eradicate poverty, respond to climate change and 

promote peaceful and prosperous livelihoods are integrated2. Many organisations and local 

authorities have now adopted particular SDGs and used them as a template to tackle key areas 

including:  

 SDG-7 Affordable & Clean Energy: increasing the share of renewable energy in the global 

energy mix and improving energy efficiencies; 

 SDG-11 Sustainable Cities & Communities: strengthened regional development planning; 

 SDG-12 Responsible Consumption & Production: measures to substantially reduce waste 

generation through greater awareness of the waste triangle, and promotion of commercially 

sustainable practices in procurement and contracting; 

 SDG-13 Climate Action: integration of climate change measures into national policies, 

strategies and planning. 

We are also inspired by the actions and initiatives undertaken by the Global Covenant of Mayors – the 

largest global actor for city and local government leadership in addressing climatological and 

environmental crises. The Covenant “envisions a world where committed mayors and local 

governments – in alliance with partners – accelerate ambitious, measurable climate and energy 

initiatives that lead to a low-emission and climate-resilient future3”.  

UK Commitments 

In 2008 the UK Government passed the Climate Change Act which set legally binding targets for the 

UK to reduce carbon emissions to 80% of the 1990 levels across all sectors.  

This Act of Parliament was amended in May 2019 following recommendations by the Committee on 

Climate Change (CCC) for the UK government to bring forward legislation to reach net-zero 

greenhouse gas emissions by the year 2050.  

This Act of Parliament: 

                                                           
1 https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/climate-change/  
2 This integration states that action in one area will affect the outline in another area. 
3 https://www.globalcovenantofmayors.org/about/  

Page 177

https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/climate-change/
https://www.globalcovenantofmayors.org/about/


 

6 

 Established the Committee on Climate Change (“the CCC”) – which acts as an advisory 

committee to central and devolved governments and reports to the Department for Business, 

Energy, & Industrial Strategy (BEIS); 

 Introduced “carbon budgets”. These budgets “restrict the amount of greenhouse gas the UK 

can legally emit in a defined five year period4”. Reductions are also staggered – meaning the 

first carbon budget required a 25% reduction, second 31% and 3rd by 37% and so on. In 2019, 

a report to Parliament by the CCC stated that current UK Government policies and plans are 

“insufficient” and the UK will fail to meet the thresholds for the fourth and fifth carbon 

budgets5. 

The UK Clean Growth Strategy aims to “grow our national income while simultaneously cutting 

greenhouse gas emissions6”. It has set out a series of key commitments that will support the transition 

towards a low-carbon economy.   

In 2019 the Government introduced the Environment Bill to Parliament7. It was reintroduced in the 

Queens Speech in December 2019 and has set out ambitions to: 

 Establish a new governance framework for the environment; 

 Integrate environmental protection into policy-making; 

 Establish an Office for Environmental Protection;  

 Support the transition towards a circular economy – making better use of our resources for 

longer; 

 Introduce similar charges for other single-use plastic items following the successes of the 

carrier-bag charge;  

 Strengthen local authorities powers to tackle air quality issues;  

 Introduce “mandatory biodiversity net-gain” to ensure that new developments enhance 

biodiversity and deliver thriving natural spaces for communities.  

Regional & Local Commitments 

To date, more than half of the UK’s local authorities have declared “Climate Emergencies”, statements 

that recognise the Climate Crisis as an emergency, and hence commit time and resources to taking 

meaningful action to reduce emissions and limit harmful effects by a target date. Of the Cumbrian 

local authorities, Barrow Borough Council, Eden District Council, Carlisle City Council and South 

Lakeland District Council have declared climate emergencies. The Lake District National Park Authority 

(LDNPA) has been implementing carbon management strategies for a number of years. 

In response to increasing concern about the issue of climate change, in April 2019, all Cumbrian local 

authorities and the LDNPA formally adopted the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy incorporating a 

pledge for Cumbria, “to become a ‘carbon neutral’ County and to mitigate the likely impact of existing 

                                                           
4 https://www.theccc.org.uk/tackling-climate-change/reducing-carbon-emissions/carbon-budgets-and-

targets/  
5 https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/CCC-2019-Progress-in-reducing-UK-emissions.pdf  
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy/clean-growth-strategy-executive-

summary  
7 You can view explanatory notes here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-

2019/environment-bill-policy-statement  

Page 178

https://www.theccc.org.uk/tackling-climate-change/reducing-carbon-emissions/carbon-budgets-and-targets/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/tackling-climate-change/reducing-carbon-emissions/carbon-budgets-and-targets/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/CCC-2019-Progress-in-reducing-UK-emissions.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy/clean-growth-strategy-executive-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy/clean-growth-strategy-executive-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-2019/environment-bill-policy-statement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-2019/environment-bill-policy-statement


 

7 

climate change”. To support this pledge, a carbon baseline report for Cumbria was commissioned 

which identifies a number of pathways towards becoming a Net Zero Cumbria. Based on the report’s 

findings, the Cumbria Leaders Board and Chief Executives Group are considering the adoption of a 

net-zero carbon target for Cumbria of 2037 (see Figure 1 for reference). 

 

Figure 1 - Net Zero by 2037 

In December 2019, the Council agreed a Climate and Environment Position Statement, which sets out 

the Council’s corporate and community leadership commitments to changing for the better, to limiting 

further harmful effects of climate change and to identifying longer-term strategic ambitions to 

become a low-carbon authority. 

Future Challenges: learning from the Global Coronavirus Pandemic 

The COVID pandemic and the increasing frequency and severity of global crises show us the urgent 

need to better align the needs of individuals, business and society towards shared goals – economic 

wellbeing, yes, but also community wellbeing, empowerment, sustainability, resilience and other 

qualitative measures encompassed by the UN Sustainable Development Goals. 

During the pandemic, the mobilisation of citizens and volunteers in partnership with business, 

industry, third sector and local government to meet the immediate needs of those in danger, those 

who are most vulnerable and society as a whole, has highlighted the potential value of a community 

within which the empowered citizen is an active contributor. This challenges us to rethink and 

reimagine the role of business and the individual in the relationship between public health, economic 

wellbeing, environment and place. To meaningfully contribute to the fight against climate change, we 

must engage citizens in the development and implementation of our plans. 

Environmental sustainability underpins a thriving community: one where our residents live healthy 

and prosperous lives; feel better connected with people and places; have a sense of empowerment in 

Page 179



 

8 

decision-making and place shaping; and feel enabled by the offer of diverse and accessible services 

and opportunities. 

Why Will this Policy Benefit Copeland? 

1. Citizen Engagement: It is essential to connect climate policy to the needs of all citizens, 

demonstrating that action to combat climate change can improve lives, not diminish them. By 

doing so we will realise the wider benefits of adaptation to and mitigation of climate damage, such 

as better homes, more money in local economies, clean air, healthier travel options, new 

employment opportunities and new models of working across different industries. 

2. Co-benefits: By looking at these wider co-benefits we can deliver environmental and social value 

at the same time and use property, environmental health, community services, housing, 

infrastructure or economic development budgets in a smarter way that delivers urgent 

environmental action, while maintaining continuity of service provision. 

3. Increased Opportunity and Reduced Costs: Action on climate heating and biodiversity can deliver 

many local benefits, including lower energy bills, economic regeneration and creation of local jobs, 

reductions in fuel poverty, improved air quality and enhanced green spaces. Increasing resilience 

to climate change risks can result in avoided costs from flood damage to buildings, infrastructure 

and services, enhanced green spaces and improved health. 

4. Sustainability: As a small local authority, it is important that we are able to continue to deliver 

quality services to our residents, businesses and visitors in a more sustainable way. We must be 

able to meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to 

meet their own needs. 

Benefits of a Revised Policy 

The Policy will achieve the following benefits:  

 Demonstrate that the Council is acting as a responsible authority by taking meaningful steps 

to prevent further harm and create a positive impact on the climate and biosphere; 

 Support the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy ambitions for Cumbria to become “carbon 

neutral”; 

 Facilitate (by using a “bottom-up” approach) the successful implementation of the relevant 

UN Sustainable Development Goals; 

 Take into consideration the changing socio-economic circumstances following the COVID-19 

pandemic; 

 Stimulate a fundamental shift in culture in terms of how we as individuals and as a council 

take account of climate and environmental considerations in our activities and decision-

making. 

  

Page 180



 

9 

Benefits are likely to be realised in the following areas: 

Climate 

 Reduced emissions result in local, regional, national and global reduction in the 

frequency and severity of extreme weather events caused by climate change 

 Avoid economic and social cost and disruption of responding to consequences of 

severe weather conditions 

Biodiversity 

 Green infrastructure can contribute to habitat creation, air quality and natural 

flood resilience  

 Improved biodiversity has benefits for native animal and plant species including 

resistance to disease, and pollinator health, which is essential for food security 

Health and 

Wellbeing 

 Access to green spaces is linked to positive mental and physical health 

 Healthier diets with lower environmental impacts associated with food 

production 

 Green travel improves air quality and promotes greater activity levels, which are 

good for health 

Economic and Job 

Creation 

 Creation of green jobs in a sustainable economy 

 Support and incentivise local businesses to operate sustainably 

 Attract investment in the infrastructure and skills to support inclusive growth 

Resilience 

 Reduced severity and frequency of flooding 

 Reduced exposure to public health emergencies 

 Protect our natural assets including the Lake District National Park and Heritage 

Coastline 

 Local, low carbon electricity provides energy security 

 Sustainable land and water management secures the future of our rural 

industries 

Equity and Social 

Cohesion 

 Green and blue infrastructure can increase life expectancy and reduce health 

inequalities 

 Providing support to vulnerable people and those on lower incomes 

 Affordable warmth: more efficient building are warmer and cheaper to run, 

which reduces fuel poverty, with knock on health, education and financial 

benefits 

Corporate/ 

Commercial 

 Efficiency savings associated with reduced energy bills and consumption levels 

 Improved efficiency and productivity of the Council’s property and assets 

 Commercial opportunities associated with low carbon energy generation 

 

  

Page 181



 

10 

Scope 

The following sections of this Policy covers three areas: 

 Description 

A Sustainable Council  
Areas of Policy that impact the organisation, our assets, Elected 

Members and Employees. 

A Sustainable Borough  Areas of Policy concerned with the wider Borough and community. 

Community Leadership 

& Net Zero  

Areas of Policy relating to the Council’s role and influence as community 

leaders. 

 

Detailed actions will be included in the Council’s Climate Action Plan and are not included in this Policy. 

  

Page 182



 

11 

1. A Sustainable Council 

Organisational Emissions 

1.1. We will work to reduce our organisational carbon emissions to very low or Net Zero, and to 

positively impact biodiversity and the environment wherever reasonably practicable. 

1.2. In order to do so, we as a Council will adopt the following principles: 

 The climate and ecological impact of Council activities will be assessed and considered in 

decision making; 

 Net Zero requires a fundamental rethink of our behaviour – we will embrace this; 

 Our people will bring about the change, therefore we must invest in them and our culture; 

 We will drastically reduce our consumption of energy, fuel and materials; 

 Where consumption cannot be avoided or minimised we will source energy, fuel and 

materials responsibly; 

 We will remove unnecessary travel, implementing a more flexible agile working policy; 

 Across our estate, we will minimise waste to landfill and promote the use of the waste 

hierarchy and circular economy principles, including eradicating all single use plastics from 

our day to day operations; 

 We will embed sustainability into our procurement practices under Social Value criteria; 

 We will divest from fossil fuels (e.g. through our pension funds) and make no future 

investment in fossil fuels. 

Leadership 

1.3. The Council’s Elected Members are leaders in the community, and therefore have a role in 

championing meaningful action. 

1.4. We will: 

 Identify an Environmental Champion; 

 Identify a Climate Champion; 

 Publish a Climate Charter, setting out the Council’s commitment to its Members, staff, 

customers, and the public in relation to climate change; 

 Form a climate steering group to provide oversight and scrutiny of the Council’s climate 

policy, strategy and plans. 

1.5. At a corporate level, if we are to make a meaningful difference, our leadership team must 

understand, support and champion the cultural shift required, and then drive change. 

1.6. Training and awareness for Elected Members and our employees is crucial to enabling 

everyone to make informed, climate-aware decisions. 

1.7. Processes and structures must also be amended to ensure that corporate decision-making 

takes proper account of climate and environmental impacts. We will update our governance 

and corporate reporting mechanisms accordingly. 

Page 183



 

12 

1.8. It is important that we have the capacity and the capability to develop our strategies and to 

deliver our plans. We will explore alternative ways to provide this resource, recognising severe 

pressures on our budget. 

1.9. We will overhaul our Human Resources policies, to reflect the working practices required to 

achieve our targets and moving towards supportive agile working policies to reduce 

unnecessary travel to work. 

Action Areas 

1.10. We will integrate consideration of emissions into Corporate and Executive reporting 

mechanisms. 

1.11. Detailed actions will be included in the Climate Action Plan and are not included in this Policy, 

covering: 

 Members & Employees; 

 Energy Efficiency of Property & Estate; 

 Fleet Vehicles & Travel; 

 Waste & Consumption. 

  

Page 184



 

13 

2. A Sustainable Borough 

2.1. We recognise that we are a small local authority with limited influence over the infrastructure 

of this place. However, while this Policy does not mandate any individual or organisation other 

than the Council, it places an expectation on others to show equal commitment to carbon 

reduction and the sustainability of our Borough. Meaningful change can only come from 

collective responsibility and ownership between us, our residents and the businesses that 

operate in the Borough. 

2.2. If by sustainability, we mean the wellbeing of Copeland’s communities, now and for the 

future, then we must consider climate change holistically and not in isolation from strategic 

activities relating to the economy, environment and public health. 

Carbon Baseline 

2.3. The Cumbria Carbon Baseline Report shows that Copeland’s production and consumption 

based emissions are relatively low (4.6tCO2 per capita) and almost equal to the UK average. 

2.4. Production emissions are the net emissions that take place in Copeland plus those arising from 

the production of electricity used in the Borough, wherever that generation takes place. 

2.5. The largest contribution to production based emissions comes from: 

 Industrial and commercial fuel use 

 Domestic energy use (primarily gas and electricity) 

 Road Transport 

2.6. Consumption based emissions take into account the emissions associated with any goods or 

services consumed in the Borough, such as food purchased from shops, energy generated 

elsewhere but used here and vehicle fuel. High areas of consumption based emissions include: 

 The emissions footprint of residents is roughly equal to that of visitors 

 Top emissions areas for residents include travel (mostly by car), food and drink and 

household fuel use 

 Travel (road and air) dominates visitor emissions 

2.7. This understanding provides a guide as to where to target emissions reduction interventions. 

Adaption & Mitigation 

2.8. The Sustainable Borough section of the Climate Action Plan will set detailed actions and 

targets in the following areas: 

Low Carbon Energy 

We will pursue the clean energy vision set out in the Cumbria Nuclear Prospectus, supporting 

opportunities to develop and deploy clean energy technologies including nuclear, offshore 

wind, hydrogen and synthetic fuels. Copeland will be at the forefront of the UK’s decarbonised 

energy systems. 

Page 185



 

14 

We also encourage the development of community and decentralised low carbon energy 

generation in the Borough, and will support this through our involvement in the Zero Carbon 

Cumbria Partnership and through the Borderlands Energy Masterplan and accompanying 

Local Energy Plans. 

Availability of low carbon energy is an attractive selling point for Copeland as a place to do 

business, and will support our economic growth and diversification ambitions. 

Decarbonising Heat 

In order to achieve the UK’s Net Zero targets, we must also decarbonise heat. We will support 

and encourage proposals to develop domestic and industrial heat networks, as well as 

encouraging industrial partners to decarbonise their own heat supplies. 

Energy Efficiency and the Built Environment 

Enhanced building efficiency is key to reducing overall consumption of energy and will help to 

reduce energy costs for residents and businesses alike. 

Recognising that the Council’s own estate is relatively small, we will support energy efficiency 

initiatives and signpost to organisations (such as Cumbria Action for Sustainability) and 

available grant funding (such as through the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership) to help our 

residents and businesses alike. 

We expect commercial property owners to actively pursue carbon reduction activities across 

their estates, and not to wait for the Council or other authorities to mandate or fund this. 

Waste 

There has been significant focus on the reduction of single use plastics. This is an important 

environmental and ecological issue, and the Council will cut the use of single use plastics from 

its operations wherever possible. However, the climate impact of waste is due to the 

embodied emissions of materials and emissions associated with disposal. 

We will integrate the waste hierarchy into the Council’s operations, and work towards fully 

circular material lifecycles wherever possible. 

We will ensure that the sustainability is meaningfully considered when procuring goods and 

services. 

We will continue to develop the Council’s service offer to residents and businesses to ensure 

that recycling options are widely available and accessible, including in public spaces. 

Transport 

We will engage in development of the Cumbria Transport Infrastructure Plan and other 

strategic initiatives to ensure that Copeland’s future infrastructure offers our residents, 

businesses and visitors accessible opportunities to travel safely and sustainably or to reduce 

the need to travel altogether. 

This may include: 

Page 186



 

15 

 Active travel infrastructure including cycling and walking 

 Electric vehicle charging infrastructure 

 Hyrdogen fuels and infrastructure 

 Conversion of the Council’s own fleet to electric or hydrogen vehicles 

 Availability of accessible low-carbon public transport services 

Though the Council’s influence over infrastructure development is relatively limited, we will 

consider how we can incentivise and promote the transition to more sustainable modes of 

transport. 

Visitor Economy 

We will maximise the value of our natural, heritage and cultural assets: the stunning Lake 

District Coast, between the UK’s highest pea and deepest lake. Our tourism offer will centre 

on showcasing the tranquillity of the environment around us, promoting healthy lifestyles by 

sourcing a healthy food offer from local, fresh, seasonal produce and helping people explore 

the beauty of the Lake District National Park in an environmentally friendly way.  

Resilience and Flooding 

To meet our climate goals, we must not only vastly reduce our emissions, but we must 

concurrently remove significant amounts of carbon from the atmosphere. We will actively 

support environmental enhancements, beneficial land use/management and biodiversity 

interventions in the Borough. 

Implementation of this Policy will help to combat the increased frequency and severity of 

extreme weather conditions resulting from climate change, and with partners we will develop 

mitigation approaches that help communities prepare and be protected from the effects of 

such events. 

For example, we encourage and support initiatives to “slow the flow” – rewilding, reforesting 

and more sustainable land use management of upland environments to recreate natural 

buffers for surface water, with a co-benefit to biodiversity. 

Biodiversity and Land Management 

In order to reduce the harmful impacts of climate change, we must act to remove carbon from 

the atmosphere. Offsetting will not achieve this, so we must also implement carbon 

sequestration activities. 

Given Copeland’s rural setting, Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry (LULUCF) is a target 

area for sequestration of carbon. 

The council will support and encourage initiatives such as afforestation, rewilding, peatland 

restoration and habitat conservation that bring climate and biodiversity co-benefits. 

Page 187



 

16 

Funding 

2.9. Working with our partners across Cumbria’s strategic bodies and groups such as the Zero 

Carbon Cumbria Partnership, we will explore the opportunities for additional and alternative 

funding routes to support climate action. 

2.10. Recognising that everyone has a role to play in decarbonising our economy, we will help our 

local businesses and community groups to identify funding opportunities, noting that the 

Council is not resourced to undertake this role. 

2.11. We will work with partners and local stakeholders to support the Borderlands Energy 

Masterplan and development of Local Energy Plans, which might include community energy 

projects. 

Citizen Engagement 

2.12. Meaningful action on climate change requires a collective approach. We will explore ways of 

facilitating greater levels of citizen engagement in development of climate action plans, 

projects and initiatives. 

2.13. In collaboration with the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership, we are committed to creating a 

Copeland Citizens Jury, to enable a representative cross-section of the public to properly 

discuss climate change in detail and then make recommendations for policy change and 

action. This will achieve many things, but above all will enable communities to have a role in 

decision-making around climate action plans for Copeland. 

  

Page 188



 

17 

3. Community Leadership and Net Zero 

Cumbria Climate Change Working Group 

3.1. The Council will continue to engage with the Cumbria Climate Change Working Group in order 

to support county-wide work towards Cumbria’s Net Zero target under the Joint Public Health 

Strategy for Cumbria. 

3.2. The Council will support the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership – a group of public, private and 

third sector organisations working together to drive down Cumbria’s carbon emissions. 

Clean Energy 

3.3. We will work with partners to secure the delivery of the vision set out in the Cumbria Nuclear 

Prospectus, bringing new large, small and advanced new nuclear development to Copeland, 

to produce low-carbon heat, fuels and electricity to decarbonise the local and national 

economy. 

3.4. We will develop strategies to become a net exporter of clean energy to the North and wider 

UK, as well as decarbonising local energy networks, helping energy intensive industries to 

operate more sustainably. 

3.5. By doing so, we will create green collar jobs to support the new clean energy economy in West 

Cumbria, Cumbria and the UK. 

Business 

3.6. Successful decarbonisation of our Borough cannot be achieved by the Council alone. The key 

players across our economic area also have a responsibility to consider their own emission 

reduction plans in line with government targets. 

3.7. We will encourage organisations that operate in Cumbria to reduce their emissions and to 

operate sustainably. 

3.8. By giving residents and communities a voice in shaping this future, for example through Citizen 

Juries, we hope to inspire and lead those organisations to follow suit and do the same. 

  

Page 189



 

18 

4. Implementation 

4.1. This policy document replaces the Council’s Environment Policy 2017-2020, and will become 

effective immediately upon adoption by the Council. Following adoption, the Council will 

develop underpinning strategies and plans to implement the Policy. 

4.2. The key implementation document shall be the Council’s Climate Action Plan, which is a 

separate document that will be reviewed annually. 

4.3. A number of measures are set out in the Climate Action Plan document, by which to 

implement this Policy. The following are the suggested high-impact priority activities to be 

taken immediately: 

 Development and adoption of a Sustainability Charter, which publically sets out the 

Council’s commitment to and enforceable expectations of anyone who lives in, works in 

or visits Copeland, including the Council itself; 

 Explicit consideration of sustainability (including climate impact) to be built into 

corporate governance, reporting and democratic decision-making mechanisms; 

 All Council Service Plans (from 2021) to include sustainability targets; 

 Sustainability to be given proper weighting under Social Value criteria within Council 

procurement procedures in line with Social Value Act; 

 Cultural change programme starting with education and training for leaders, and climate 

literacy to be embedded into corporate induction; 

 Review of corporate policies to embed sustainability, climate and environmental 

considerations;  

 Use Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership funding to create meaningful citizen participation 

in sustainability and climate action projects, ensuring positive outcomes for all Copeland 

residents; 

 With funding from the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership, host a Copeland Citizen’s Jury 

on Climate Change to inform our plans; 

 Explore the formation of a decarbonisation alliance for Copeland/West Cumbria, made 

up of private, public, third sector and community representatives, to develop a 

decarbonisation roadmap. 

4.4. A “Climate Steering Group” will be established to provide scrutiny and oversight of the 

Council’s progress, and to oversee the implementation of the Policy and Climate Action Plan 

by: 

 Supporting and contributing to the development of underlying strategies and plans of 

this Policy;  

 Annually monitoring and reporting progress to appropriate bodies within the Council; 

 Acting as “Green Champions” within and outside of the organisation and promoting a 

sustainable working culture; 

 Working in collaboration with the Council’s Commercial Engagement Group to drive new 

sustainable low-carbon initiatives. 

4.5. Terms of Reference will be detailed and proposed at the first meeting of the Group. 

Page 190



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Climate Action Plan 

2021 

 

Addressing the Climate Crisis for Copeland’s People and Places 

 

Page 191



Climate Action Plan    

1 

Contents 
Climate Action Plan ...................................................................................................................... 1 

Foreword by the Elected Mayor ......................................................................................................... 2 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 3 

What is a Climate Action Plan? ....................................................................................................... 3 

Why Now? ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

Carbon Baseline .................................................................................................................................. 4 

The Climate Action Plan ...................................................................................................................... 5 

1. Sustainable Council Actions ........................................................................................................ 7 

2. Sustainable Borough Actions .................................................................................................... 10 

3. Community Leadership & Net Zero .......................................................................................... 13 

Monitoring & Governance ................................................................................................................ 14 

Governance Arrangements ........................................................................................................... 14 

Monitoring .................................................................................................................................... 14 

 

  

Page 192



Climate Action Plan    

2 

Foreword by Portfolio Holder 

To be added prior following Approval.   

Page 193



Climate Action Plan    

3 

Introduction 

Copeland Borough Council (“the Council”) recognises that climate change represents a human-made 

threat and is already having far-reaching, irreversible effects on populations, places, economies, 

society and the natural environment locally, nationally and globally. 

As a responsible authority, we recognise that we must play our part in reducing emissions and harm 

to the environment and positively contribute to the wellbeing of our planet. While we, as a Council, 

have done much already, we recognise we have much more to do. 

This document outlines our plans to decarbonise our organisation as well as ambitions to support the 

transition towards a zero-carbon Copeland. 

What is a Climate Action Plan?  

This Climate Action Plan (“the Plan”) implements the Council’s Climate & Environment Policy (“the 

Policy”). This is an action-focused document outlining plans to change the way we operate to take 

greater consideration of sustainability and to immediately reduce our footprint across the 

organisation. 

Why Now? 

The Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy commits Cumbria to becoming a carbon neutral county. It is 

anticipated that this date will be before the 2050 requirement set out under the Climate Change Act 

of 2008.  

We recognise that the way we as individuals, organisations and communities have lived and worked 

in the past is unsustainable, and that we must change. The changes required are significant, but this 

is the right thing to do for our people and places, now and for the future. 

  

Page 194



Climate Action Plan    

4 

Carbon Baseline 

The Cumbria Carbon Baseline Report shows that Copeland’s production and consumption based 

emissions are relatively low (4.6tCO2 per capita) and almost equal to the UK average. 

Production emissions are the net emissions that take place in Copeland plus those arising from the 

production of electricity used in the Borough, wherever that generation takes place. 

The largest contribution to production based emissions comes from: 

 Industrial and commercial fuel use 

 Domestic energy use (primarily gas and electricity) 

 Road Transport 

Consumption based emissions take into account the emissions associated with any goods or services 

consumed in the Borough, such as food purchased from shops, energy generated elsewhere but used 

here and vehicle fuel. High areas of consumption based emissions include: 

 The emissions footprint of residents is roughly equal to that of visitors 

 Top emissions areas for residents include travel (mostly by car), food and drink and household fuel 

use 

 Travel (road and air) dominates visitor emissions 

This understanding provides a guide as to where to target emissions reduction interventions. 

  

Page 195



Climate Action Plan    

5 

The Climate Action Plan 

Our Plan is transparent and open to challenge – we are on this journey as a society, and we welcome 

input, support and partnership in taking meaningful steps against climate change. 

The plan is divided into the following three areas, each further broken down into themes and actions. 

 Description 

Sustainable Council 
Actions 

Actions the Council will undertake that affect our operations as an 
organisation. 

Sustainable Borough 
Actions 

Actions that will support our communities to move towards a zero-
carbon Cumbria. 

Community Leadership 
& Net Zero Actions 

Actions the Council will take to support our aspirations for a zero 
carbon Cumbria. 

 

We have also set an indication of timeframe against each of the actions identified in the plan (see 

below). While this is a high-level summary document, more specific timescales will be developed for 

projects and interventions to implement the actions identified in the following sections. 

Timeframe Description 

Short-Term Actions that can be implemented over this financial year (2020/21). 

Medium-Term 
Actions that can be implemented following further planning and 
development. 

Long-Term 
Actions that require a number of pre-requisites and government action 
and/or support before being considered and implemented.  

Ongoing Recurring items that will require regular monitoring and planning. 

 

  

Page 196



Climate Action Plan    

6 

Immediate Action (2021) 

The following action plan sets out detailed actions to be taken by the Council in order to decarbonise 

our activities and influence the behaviours of those who live in, work in or visit Copeland. 

We will pursue this plan, recognising that this is a significant undertaking and that many of the 

actions, although essential, are reactive rather than preventative. 

In order to embed sustainability into corporate and democratic decision-making, the following high 

priority, high impact actions have been identified: 

 Development and adoption of a Sustainability Charter, which publically sets out the Council’s 

commitment to and enforceable expectations of anyone who lives in, works in or visits 

Copeland, including the Council itself; 

 Explicit consideration of sustainability (including climate impact) to be built into corporate 

governance, reporting and democratic decision-making mechanisms; 

 All Council Service Plans (from 2021) to include sustainability targets under our “Aim Higher” 

performance framework; 

 Sustainability to be given proper weighting under Social Value criteria within Council 

procurement procedures in line with Social Value Act; 

 Climate Steering Group to be established to oversee and scrutinise performance against this 

Climate Action Plan; 

 Cultural change programme starting with education and training for leaders, and climate literacy 

to be embedded into corporate induction; 

 Review of corporate policies to embed sustainability, climate and environmental considerations;  

 Use Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership funding to create meaningful citizen participation in 

sustainability and climate action projects, ensuring positive outcomes for all Copeland residents; 

 With funding from the Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership, host a Copeland Citizen’s Jury on 

Climate Change to inform our plans; 

 Explore the formation of a decarbonisation alliance for Copeland/West Cumbria, made up of 

private, public, third sector and community representatives, to develop a decarbonisation 

roadmap. 

This 10 point plan will be prioritised in 2021, in parallel with the shorter term actions set out in the 

following sections of this document. 

  

Page 197



Climate Action Plan    

7 

1. Sustainable Council Actions 

Objectives Actions Timescales 

1.1. Members & Employees 

a. To embed a green 
governance framework 
into the organisation 

 Create a Climate Steering Group to oversee 
delivery of this Plan and other activities. 

 Appoint an Environmental Champion. 

 Appoint a Climate Change Champion. 

 Develop a Climate Charter for the organisation. 

 Introduce climate-related targets for annual 
departmental service plans.  

Short Term 

b. To ensure decision-
making processes 
consider climatological 
and environmental 
impacts. 

 Introduce “Climate Impact Assessments” to 
Executive and Full Council decisions. 

 Embed consideration of sustainability into 
corporate reporting mechanisms. 

 Embed “Climate Impact Assessments” into the 
Council’s project management framework. 

Short Term 

c. To ensure our Elected 
Members and employees 
are informed of the 
impacts of climate and 
environmental change. 

 Run climate literacy training sessions for 
Elected Members and key staff across the 
organisation. 

 Incorporate climate-awareness into our 
induction processes for new Elected Members 
and Council employees.  

Short Term 

 Climate literacy training for all existing and new 
staff. 

Medium 
Term 

d. To implement more 
sustainable HR policies 

 Adoption of a more flexible agile working policy 
to remove all unnecessary travel. 

 To incorporate climate change principles into 
the Council’s ‘Aim Higher’ process. 

Short-Term 

e. To give proper weighting 
to sustainability in 
procurement of goods 
and services 

 Social value to be given minimum 10% weighting 
in all procurements. 

Short-Term 

f. To provide our Officers 
and Members with 
adequate technology and 
software that will 
support their needs.  

 Encourage teams to ‘go paperless’ where able 
to do so (unless required to handle, produce 
and store physical documents). 

 Fully utilise technology to support remote 
working across the organisation. 

 Eliminate hard-copy agendas for all Council 
meetings. 

Ongoing 

1.2. Property & Estate 

a. To understand the 
Council’s current 
emissions and future 
projections. 

 Explore methods to undertake a carbon baseline 
of the Council’s activities. 

 Introduce an accounting framework to monitor 
the emissions-reduction of the Council’s 
properties and estate. 

Medium 
Term 

Page 198



Climate Action Plan    

8 

Objectives Actions Timescales 

b. To enhance the energy 
efficiency and minimise 
energy usage across out 
estate 

 Audit of Council property to identify energy 
efficiency enhancement opportunities. 

Ongoing 

 Phased implementation of energy efficiency 
upgrade programme. 

Medium 
Term 

c. To explore low-carbon 
energy generation and 
consumption. 

 Undertake assessments for the potential 
development of low-carbon energy generation 
for our property and estates such as rooftop 
solar. 

 Move to green tariffs for gas and electricity 
across our estate. 

Short Term 

 Explore feasibility of renewable energy 
generation in order to generate revenue, 
including community ownership schemes. 

Medium 
Term 

d. To reduce our 
consumption of water. 

 Explore the feasibility of installing rainwater 
and/or grey-water recovery systems to 
property across the estate. 

Medium 
Term 

1.3. Fleet Vehicles & Travel 

a. To significantly reduce 
travel miles across the 
organisation. 

 Implement remote and agile working policy to 
eliminate all unnecessary travel. 

 Greater use of technology to reduce the need 
for non-essential travel (e.g. encouraging use of 
Microsoft Teams and other video-conferencing 
platforms). 

Ongoing 

 Implement a Green Travel Plan for our 
employees and Elected Members. 

Medium 
Term 

b. To reduce the emissions 
of our fleet vehicles. 

 Conduct a study with the Energy Saving Trust to 
assess the viability of phasing out the smaller 
internal-combustion-engines in our fleet and 
replace them with electric-vehicles. 

 Explore options for electric fleet-cars for our 
fieldwork Officers to reduce emissions from 
personal use travel. 

 Consider feasibility of electrified equipment for 
parks and open spaces machinery. 

 When commercially available, look towards low 
carbon synthetic fuels (e.g. Hydrogen) powered 
vehicles for our heavier vehicles such as waste 
trucks, HGVs and flatbed vehicles. 

Short Term 

Medium 
Term 

Long Term 

1.4. Waste & Consumption 

a. Adoption of the waste-
hierarchy and circular 
economy principles 
across the estate. 

 Go paperless, unless there is legal justification 
to do otherwise. 

 Build these principles into our procurement 
framework. 

 Ensure every office facility has recycling 
facilities to reduce direct-to-waste disposal. 

Short Term 

Page 199



Climate Action Plan    

9 

Objectives Actions Timescales 

b. To significantly reduce 
the usage of single-use 
plastics across the estate. 

 Ban the purchasing of single-use plastic (e.g. 
food cutlery, cups, plates, stationery). 

 If purchasing food orders, consider 
returning/re-using hard-plastic containers for 
future use. 

Short-Term 

 

  

Page 200



Climate Action Plan    

10 

2. Sustainable Borough Actions 

Objectives Actions Timescales 

2.1. Low Carbon Energy 

a. To be a net-exporter of 
low carbon energy for 
the UK 

 Support the generation of low-carbon energy in 
the Borough, building on the Moorside Clean 
Energy Park vision to produce low carbon heat, 
electricity and fuels. 

Ongoing 

b. To harness the benefits 
of Round 4 Offshore 
Wind developments 

 Officer and Member engagement with offshore 
wind developers via Cumbria LEP Clean Energy 
development team. 

Ongoing 

c. To consider potential 
sites for renewable-
power generation for the 
Council estate – 
generating our own 
energy. 

 Complete study assessing the viability of 
proposals for solar power generation sites 
across our property portfolio.  

 Identify suitable sites and develop project plan. 

 Investigate potential opportunities around 
Community Municipal Bonds to support clean 
energy generation projects. 

Short-Term 

2.2. Decarbonising Heat 

a. To identify opportunities 
for District Heat 
Networks to serve 
Copeland’s rural 
communities 

 Assess the financial, technical, and logistical 
viability of district heat networks for 
settlements in Copeland. Long-Term 

b. To explore the potential 
for geothermal energy in 
Copeland 

 Assess the financial, technical, and logistical 
viability of geothermal energy in Copeland. Long Term 

c. To explore the potential 
for Advanced Nuclear 
Technologies to provide 
industrial and domestic 
heat 

 Working with technology vendors and 
developers to explore opportunities for 
Advanced Nuclear Technologies in Cumbria to 
provide low carbon, low cost power, heat, 
steam and fuels for industry (e.g. Sellafield) and 
domestic uses. 

Ongoing 

2.3. Biodiversity and Land Management 

a. To offset carbon 
emissions through 
afforestation initiatives. 

 Explore available funding and grants for tree-
planting schemes to sequester carbon across 
the Borough. 

Medium-
Term 

b. To support pollinator 
health in West Cumbria. 

 Continue to support the Keep Cumbria Buzzing 
initiative to create pollinator corridors across 
West Cumbria. 

Ongoing 

c. To increase sustainable 
planting practices across 
the borough. 

 Pursue a sustainable planting strategy across 
our parks and open spaces and town-centres. Short Term 

d. To manage and reduce 
the presence of invasive 
species 

 To limit the number of invasive species growing 
in the Borough (such as Japanese Knotweed) 
which harm the biodiversity of our green spaces. 

Ongoing 

Page 201



Climate Action Plan    

11 

Objectives Actions Timescales 

e. To work with our rural 
sectors to encourage 
more sustainable land 
use, forestry and farming 
practices 

 Via the Cumbria LEP Rural Sector Panel work 
programme. 

Ongoing 

2.4. Built Environment 

a. To increase the energy 
efficiency of existing 
building-stock across the 
Borough and help those 
experiencing fuel poverty 
to benefit from such 
measures. 

 Signpost local businesses and residents to 
government loans and grants related to 
improving energy efficiency of buildings such as 
the Green Homes Grant announced in July 
2020, CAfS ‘Cold to Cosy Homes’ scheme and 
other affordable warmth programmes that help 
reduce fuel poverty.  

 Build energy efficiency enhancements into 
town regeneration projects.  

Short Term 

b. To increase the number 
of sustainable new-build 
developments. 

 Support developers to rollout sustainable 
housing and modular build. 

 Encourage (e.g. through Local Plan) private 
developers to consider more sustainable 
building designs. 

Medium 
Term 

2.5. Resilience & Flooding 

a. To support the delivery 
of the Cumbria Coastal 
Strategy by monitoring, 
mapping and assessing 
future flood and coastal 
related impacts. 

 In line with engagement on the Cumbria Coastal 
Strategy: 

o Assess robustness to future sea-level 
rise; 

o Protect our coasts and shorelines. 

Ongoing 

2.6. Sustainable Transport Solutions 

a. To support the uptake of 
electric vehicles over the 
next decade. 

 Explore funding opportunities for electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure. 

 To engage in and support projects to deploy 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure across 
the Borough. 

 Support the development of a Cumbria-wide 
transport infrastructure plan, including electric 
vehicle charging networks. 

Medium-
Term 

b. To enhance cycling 
infrastructure as part of a 
wider integrated active 
travel network 

 Secure FHSF funding for cycling improvements 
in Whitehaven town-centre. 

 Develop a Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan  

 Support the development of the Cumbria 
Transport Infrastructure Plan   

Ongoing 

c. To encourage Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire 

 Review current policy and explore options to: 
o Incentivise uptake of electric vehicles 

Medium 
Term 

Page 202



Climate Action Plan    

12 

Objectives Actions Timescales 

vehicles to move to 
electric vehicle fleets.  

o Set a cut-off deadline for the new 
registration of ICE vehicles 

d. To investigate the 
opportunities available 
for hydrogen methods of 
transport 

 Monitor and maintain awareness on new 
government policies and announcements 
related to commercial-scale hydrogen or 
synthetic e-fuel projects. 

 Explore potential for development of a 
hydrogen network in Copeland/West Cumbria. 

Long-Term 

2.7. Waste & Recycling 

a. To provide trade waste 
recycling services to our 
businesses to reduce 
direct-waste disposal. 

 Undertake feasibility study/business case. 

Short Term 

b. To provide public realm 
recycling bins 

 Undertake feasibility study/business case. 
Short Term 

 

  

Page 203



Climate Action Plan    

13 

3. Community Leadership & Net Zero  

Objectives Actions Timescales 

3.1. Lobbying & Influencing 

a. To maintain awareness 
of changing policy, 
strategy, legislative and 
regulatory 
developments. 

 To report any developments to the Climate 
Steering Group for consideration.  

 Where necessary, respond to relevant 
consultations and hearings relating to 
sustainability and climate change. 

 Reflect changing policy landscape in future 
Climate Action Plans. 

Ongoing 

b. To foster collaborative 
working on net-zero 
carbon with 
neighbouring local 
authorities. 

 Regularly engage and work with the Local 
Authority Climate Policy Group and the Cumbria 
Climate Change Working Group/Zero Carbon 
Cumbria Partnership to support implementation 
of decarbonisation across the County 

 To work with the Local Enterprise Partnership 
Clean Energy Sector Panel to develop plans for 
decarbonisation of Cumbria’s energy system 

 Through the Cumbria Climate Change Working 
Group, advise and support the Cumbria Leaders 
Board and Cumbria Chief Executive’s Group on 
any matters relating to climate change. 

Ongoing 

c. Encourage our local 
organisations to consider 
their own environmental 
impact and future 
decarbonisation plans. 

 Work with organisations that operate in 
Copeland to ensure that their carbon reduction 
and wider sustainability plans meet our 
expectations. 

Ongoing 

3.2. Public Participation & Engagement 

a. To capture local views on 
climate change into our 
work and plans. 

 Hold a climate change Citizen’s Jury in 
Copeland to give the community a voice in 
shaping climate policy and plans 

 Explore ways to create a citizen participation 
approach to climate action in Copeland, aligned 
to the Zero Carbon Cumbria programme. 

Short Term 

 

   

Page 204



Climate Action Plan    

14 

Monitoring & Governance 

Governance Arrangements 

As outlined in the Council’s Climate & Environment Policy, a “Climate Steering Group” will be 

established to provide scrutiny and oversight of the Council’s progress, and to oversee the 

implementation of the Policy and Plan. 

The Group will consist of those people across the organisation who can directly influence, contribute 

to and deliver the actions set out in this document. This Group will: 

 Support and contribute to the development of underlying strategies to the policy;  

 Annually monitor and report progress to appropriate bodies within the Council; 

 Act as “Green Champions” within and outside the organisation and promote a sustainable 

working culture; 

 Work in collaboration with the Council’s Commercial Engagement Group to drive new low-

carbon and sustainable ideas that can be funded from additional commercial income or which 

themselves can generate income or efficiencies.  

Terms of Reference for the Group will be detailed and proposed at the first meeting of the Group. 

Monitoring 

The Climate Action Plan will be adopted by the Council’s Executive. 

The Climate Action Plan will be reported on annually and an implementation tracker kept up to date 

as a live document. 

 

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



Council: 15th December 2020 
 
FINANCIAL MATTERS RELATING TO COVID-19 – DISTRIBUTION OF FURTHER 
CENTRAL GOVERNMENT GRANTS – NOTING OF URGENT ACTION 
 
Executive member:  Mike Starkie, Mayor (Portfolio Holder for Finance). 
Lead Officer:   Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources. 
Report Author:  Clinton Boyce, Solicitor. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
This report updates Council on a decision made by the Chief Executive, in 
accordance with chapter 19 of the Constitution (urgent business), relating to 
financial matters as a result of Covid-19. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: That the report and the action taken by the Chief 
Executive be noted. 
 

 
1.   INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1. In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Government continues to 

provide funding to local government to assist them in dealing with the 
outbreak and to support local business affected by lock downs and 
restrictions. 
 

1.2. The Government made payments to the Council in mid-November of two 
amounts - £1,416,564 under the Local Restrictions Support Grant Scheme 
(LRSG) and £1,363,660 under the Additional Restrictions Grant Scheme 
(ARG).  
 

1.3. Under chapter 20 of the Constitution Council previously agreed that 
central funding grants relating to COVID-19 would automatically be 
received into budget. 
 

1.4. The use of the grants received remains to be dealt with in accordance 
with the Constitution. As part of the approved budget the matter falls as 
an executive function. It was a requirement of Government that 
distribution of the grants should not be delayed. It was therefore 

Page 207

Agenda Item 16



impracticable to wait until the next regular meeting of the Executive on 
the 8th December 2020. 
 

1.5. Chapter 19 allows urgent action to be taken by the Chief Executive where 
it is impractical to convene a meeting of the Executive or a Committee 
provided that relevant officers and members are consulted. 
 

1.6. The Section 151 Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Solicitor, the Elected 
Mayor and the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee were 
consulted and agreed with the proposed action. 
 

1.7. With such agreement the Chief Executive made the decision to receive 
the section 31 grant for the total amount of £2,780,224 (with the 
consequential increase to the Council’s budget) and to distribute it in 
accordance with advice from Government. 
 

2.0 GOVERNMENT ADVICE 
 
2.1 The Chief Executive’s decision is attached to this report as Appendix A. It 

sets out the background to this matter and details of relief provided to 
businesses from the grant. Also attached, as Appendix B, is the Additional 
Restrictions Grant Scheme which sets out how ARG is to be distributed. 
The following two links also provide detailed information on the grants 
made available. It is complicated as funding was linked to the different 
tiers that an area found itself in from time to time: 

 
 LRSG: 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/935128/local-restrictions-support-grant-
CLOSED-la-guidance.pdf  
 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/935131/local-restrictions-support-grant-
CLOSED-ADDENDUM-la-guidance.pdf  
 
ARG: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/935130/additional-restrictions-grant.pdf  

 

Page 208

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/935128/local-restrictions-support-grant-CLOSED-la-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/935128/local-restrictions-support-grant-CLOSED-la-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/935128/local-restrictions-support-grant-CLOSED-la-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/935131/local-restrictions-support-grant-CLOSED-ADDENDUM-la-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/935131/local-restrictions-support-grant-CLOSED-ADDENDUM-la-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/935131/local-restrictions-support-grant-CLOSED-ADDENDUM-la-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/935130/additional-restrictions-grant.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/935130/additional-restrictions-grant.pdf


2.2 In respect of LRSG the Addendum (4 pages) (second link under LRSG 
above) sets out a useful description of what the funding is for and applies 
to the second lockdown period from the 5th November until the 2nd 
December 2020 and to those ‘businesses …that have been mandated to 
close by Government and include non-essential retail, leisure, personal 
care, sports facilities and hospitality businesses’. 

 
2.3 In respect of ARG, of note, the Guidance at paragraph 13 states that 

“Under the Additional Restrictions Grant, Local Authorities will receive a 
one off lump sum payment amounting to £20 per head in each eligible 
Local Authority when LCAL 3 or widespread national restrictions are 
imposed. Local authorities can use this funding for business support 
activities. We envisage this will primarily take the form of discretionary 
grants, but LAs could also use this funding for wider business support 
activities”. As discretionary grants the attached policy is being used to 
regulate how the grant is distributed. 
 

3. CONCLUSION 
 

Given the need to distribute grants quickly it was appropriate to use the 
urgent action as permitted by the constitution, the grants being needed 
to support business during the second lockdown. Council is asked to note 
the action taken in this case. 

 
4.  STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 
 
4.1.  Monitoring Officer/Legal Comments: No legal issues arise from the  

report. The urgent action decision was taken in line with the constitution 
and as required by central government in dealing with a national 
emergency. 

 
4.2  Section 151 Officer’s comments: The financial implications are contained 

in the report and officer urgent decision record appended. 
 
4.3 EIA Comments: Not applicable. 
 
4.4  Policy Framework: Not applicable. 
 
4.5  Other Consultee comments, if any: None. 
 

Page 209



 
5.  RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 

Contained within the report. The grants are being administered by 
Revenues and Benefits staff. 
 

6.  HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE 
THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 

 
The proposals will be managed by Director of Financial Resources. 
 

7.  WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 
REPORT? 

 
Contained within the body of the report and supporting business affected 
by lockdown restrictions. 
 

List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Officer decision record 
Appendix B: ARG Policy 
 
Background Information: 
 
As Appendices and the links shown in the report. 
 
 

Page 210



COUNCIL: 15/12/20: APPENDIX A 

OFFICER DECISION RECORD 

Receipt and spend of grant for business support  

 
Officer:   
 
Pat Graham, Chief Executive 
 

 
Service:   
 
Revenues and Benefits 

 
Delegated Power Being Exercised/Subject of Decision:   
 
(a)    The receiving and distributing of a section 31 grant for £1,416,564 under the Local 
Restrictions Support Grant Scheme (LRSG). The budget has been increased by that sum; 
and 
 
(b)   The receiving and distributing of a section 31 grant for £1,363,660 under the 
Additional Restrictions Grant Scheme (ARG). The budget has been increased by that sum; 
and 
 
(c)   The decision to distribute the above grants to all qualifying businesses in accordance 
with the set schemes.   
 

 
Background information:   
 

1. In response to the lockdown announced with effect from 5 November, the 
Government announced there would be support for businesses that are forced to 
close and currently pay business rates, or while not legally forced to close – are 
nonetheless severely impacted by the restrictions put in place to control the 
spread of Covid-19.  

 
2. This support has been made available in two parts:- 

 
a) Local Restrictions Support Grant for closed premises; 

 
b) Additional Restrictions Grant.  

 
3. On or around 11 November, Copeland Borough council will receive £1,416,564 for 

the LRSG scheme and £1,363,660 for the ARG scheme. 
 

4. Councils are responsible for making grant payments to businesses as soon as 
practicable.  
 

5. Payments will be made to qualifying businesses as follows: 

Page 211



 

 
 

 Businesses occupying hereditaments appearing on the local rating list 
             with a rateable value of exactly £15,000 or under on the date of the 
             commencement of the widespread national restrictions will receive a 
             payment of £1,334 per 28-day qualifying restriction period. 
 

 Businesses occupying hereditaments appearing on the local rating list 
             with a rateable value over £15,000 and less than £51,000 on the date 
             of the commencement of the widespread national restrictions will 
             receive a payment of £2,000 per 28-day qualifying restriction period. 
 

 Businesses occupying hereditaments appearing on the local rating list 
             with a rateable value of exactly £51,000 or above on the 
             commencement date of the widespread national restrictions, will 
             receive £3,000 per 28-day qualifying restriction period. 
 

6. The person who according to the billing authority’s records was the ratepayer in 
respect of the hereditament on the first full day of local restrictions is eligible to 
receive the grant payment.  

 
7. Copeland Borough Council will maintain a record of grant expenditure under this 

scheme. 
 

8. Payments made can be provided under the existing De Minimis rules, to any 
             one organisation over a three fiscal year period, provided doing so does not 
             exceed the €200,000 threshold. Payments made where the De Minimis threshold   
             has been reached should be paid under the Covid-19 Temporary Framework for 
             UK Authorities (threshold €800,000). 
 

 
Decision on urgency: 
 
This matter is an executive function. It cannot wait until the next meeting of the Executive 
on the 8th December 2020. Most people are affected by Covid-19 one way or another and 
many are suffering financial strain as a result of it. Any support to be offered needs to be 
provided quickly given that we are in a lockdown period to which the grant relates. 
Chapter 19 of the constitution allows the Chief Executive to make a decision where it is 
impractical to convene a meeting of the Executive due to the urgency of the matter. 
 
 The Guidance issued to local authorities is available via this link -   
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-restrictions-support-grants-lrsg-and-
additional-restrictions-grant-arg-guidance-for-local-authorities  
 

Page 212

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-restrictions-support-grants-lrsg-and-additional-restrictions-grant-arg-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-restrictions-support-grants-lrsg-and-additional-restrictions-grant-arg-guidance-for-local-authorities


Chapter 20 of the constitution allows grants from central government for dealing with the 
consequences of Covid-19 to be received into budget automatically without further 
approval and the budget adjusted accordingly. This decision authorises the spending of 
the grants in accordance with relevant schemes. 
 

 
Others consulted: 
 
Mayor, as holding executive powers. 
Chair, Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
Section 151 Officer. 
Monitoring Officer. 
 

 
Decision to be taken: 
 
To receive a section 31 grant for £1,416,564 and £1,363,660 a total of £2,780,224 (with 
the consequential increase to the Council’s budget) and to distribute it as advised by 
Government. 
 

 
Reasons for the decision (specify all reasons for taking the decisions including where 
necessary reference to Council policy): 
 
It is necessary to deliver the Government’s response to Covid-19 in relation to business 
support. 
 

 
Alternative options considered (if appropriate) 
 
None. 
 

 
Whether any conflict of interest arose whether of the decision maker or any consultee 
in the decision and if any was declared whether the head of paid service granted a 
dispensation: 
 
None. 
 

 
Background/Reports/Information considered and attached (legal, personnel, financial 
implications, etc.) 
 
COVID-19 Business Support Grant Funding Schemes– Local Authority Guidance. 

Page 213



 
Local Restrictions Support Grants (LRSG) and Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) - Local 
Authority Guidance. 
 
 

 
Approval 
 
I agree, and make the decision as set out above, to receive a section 31 grant for the total 
amount of £2,780,224 (with the consequential increase to the Council’s budget) and to 
distribute as advised by Government.  
 
Authorised by email dated 18th November 2020 from Pat Graham, Chief Executive. 
 

 

Page 214



 

 

 
 
 
 

COUNCIL: 15/12/20: APPENDIX B 
 
 
 

 
Additional Restriction 

Discretionary Grant Fund 

 Policy Document 
 

 
 

 

 
Version: Final  
Policy Date: Nov 2020 
Strategy date: May 20 – March 21 
 
 
 

Page 215



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 2 of 8 

2 
 

Document Control  
 

Organisation Copeland Borough Council 

Title Local Authority Discretionary Grant Fund 

Version 1 

Author Janet Sinnott 

Filename ARG Discretionary Grant Fund COVID-19 

Owner Steven Brown 

Subject  

Protective Marking  

Review Date November 2022 

 
Note: This document is uncontrolled if printed or reproduced 
 

Revision History 
 

Version 
Reviewed 

Date Reviewed Reviewed By Description of Revision 

    

 

Document Approval  
 

Version Approved By Date 

 Human Resources  

 Corporate Leadership Team  

 Trade Union Consultation  

 Executive  

 Full Council  

 

Document Distribution 
 
This policy is to be distributed to all staff and elected members of Copeland Borough Council 
and placed on the Council’s Intranet Site. A copy must also be provided to contractors and 3rd 
parties undertaking work on Copeland Borough Council premises.   
 

Contributors 
 

 

Janet Sinnott Revenues Team Leader 

  

  

  

  

Page 216



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 3 of 8 

3 
Contents 

 
Title ....................................................................................................................... 1 
Date ....................................................................................................................... 1 
Document Control ................................................................................................. 2 

Revision History ................................................................................................. 2 
Document Approval ........................................................................................... 2 
Document Distribution ...................................................................................... 2 
Contributors ....................................................................................................... 2 

Contents ................................................................................................................ 3 
Purpose ................................................................................................................. 4 
Policy Benefits ....................................................................................................... 4 
Introduction .......................................................................................................... 4 
Scope ..................................................................................................................... 4 
Policy Details Including Procedure……………………………………………………………………. 5 
Monitoring of Policy Adherance……………………………………………………………………….8  
 
 

Page 217

file://///cbc-shareserv/Policy%20and%20Transformation/Change%20Programme%20Board/Business%20Theme/Working%20Differently/Policies/Policy%20Template.doc%23_Toc433618858


Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 4 of 8 

4 
1.  Purpose 
 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to outline the conditions that should be 
satisfied in order for the Council to consider a grant payment under the 
Additional Restrictions Discretionary Grant fund.  

 

2. Policy Benefits  
 

2.1  This funding is being made available to support local economies and 
businesses that have been adversely impacted by national and LCAL Very 
High restrictions imposed to prevent the spread of Covid-19. 

 

3.  Introduction 
 

3.1 In response to the restrictions imposed on 5 November, the government 
announced that there would be support for businesses that are forced to 
close due to the additional measures.   

 
3.2 Two further grant funding schemes have been made available to assist 

Copeland businesses: 
 

 Local Restrictions Support Grant (closed premises) - LRSG 

 Additional Restrictions Support Grant - ARG 
 
3.3 A Business must have a rateable value in order to apply for the mandatory 

Local Restrictions Support Grant for closed premises. 
 
3.4 This additional discretionary fund, to which this policy document relates, is 

to help those businesses that are forced to close, but have no rateable 
value, or those which – while not legally forced to close – are nonetheless 
severely impacted by the restrictions put in place to control the spread of 
Covid-19. 

 
3.5 The guidance regarding mandatory business closures can be found at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/further-businesses-and-
premises-to-close/closing-certain-businesses-and-venues-in-england  

 
3.6 Copeland Borough Council has been awarded a one off payment allocation 

of £1,363,660. 
 
3.7 This support will take the form of a funding scheme in Financial Year 2020- 

2021 and can be used across Financial Years 20/21 and 21/22.  

Page 218

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/further-businesses-and-premises-to-close/closing-certain-businesses-and-venues-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/further-businesses-and-premises-to-close/closing-certain-businesses-and-venues-in-england


Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 5 of 8 

5 
  

4.  Policy Details Including Procedures 
 

4.1 Eligible Businesses 
 
4.2 The following businesses will be supported under this scheme: 
 

 Businesses that have been forced to close but not registered to pay 
business rates and therefore not able to access the Local Restrictions 
Support Grant scheme. This includes businesses in non-essential retail, 
hospitality venues, accommodation, leisure and sports facilities, personal 
care, community centres and halls.  

 Other businesses that can remain open, however due to the restrictions 
imposed have been severely impacted. 

 Businesses that have received support under the Local Restrictions Support 
grant for closed premises will be considered for a top up payment only. 
Top-up payments will only be assessed after funding has been provided to 
all other businesses that have not yet received any support.  
 

4.3 The business must have been trading the day before additional restrictions 
were introduced. 

 
4.4 Businesses that have applied for the LRSG scheme are entitled to apply for 

the ARG scheme. If funding has already been approved under the LRSG 
scheme, the council will make a top-up payment only under the ARG 
scheme.  

 
4.5 The business must be based in Copeland.  
 

5.0  Ineligible Businesses 
 

5.1 Businesses that are unable to demonstrate that the restrictions have 
severely impacted them.  

 
5.2 Businesses that are not trading the day before restrictions are introduced.   
 
5.3 Companies that are in administration, are insolvent or where a striking-off 

notice has been made are not eligible for funding under this scheme.  
 
5.4 Businesses that have already received grant payments that equal the 

Page 219



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 6 of 8 

6 
maximum levels of State aid permitted under the de minimis and the 
Covid-19 Temporary State Aid Framework. 

 

6.  Grant Amount 
 
6.1 Awards under the Additional Restrictions Grant fund are cash limited and 

therefore expenditure will not exceed the amount determined under 3.6 of 
this policy.  

 
6.2 If the business has not been mandated to close, 70% of the funding 

amount given to a closed business will be paid.  
 
6.3 How much a business receives will depend on whether they have been 

forced to close. If a business has received support under the LRSG fund, a 
top up amount only will be paid.  

 
6.4 In addition, Copeland Borough Council will consider the following when 

determining the level of grant per business: 
 

 The number of employees. 
 
6.5 Estimated grant amount: 
 

Employees  Amount of Grant - 
Closed property 

Amount of Grant - 
open property 

(70%) 

Top up under ARG 
for those paid 
under LRSG 

Fewer than 10 £1,334 Up to £933 Up to £500 

11-25 £2,000 Up to £1,400 Up to £750 

26+ £3,000 Up to £2,100 Up to £1,000 

 
 
6.6 If the fund is oversubscribed, the Council reserve the right to amend grant 

levels, based on applications received and approved. This will ensure that 
the maximum number of businesses receive support through this scheme.   

  
6.7 The grant scheme is per business not per hereditament (property).  

Businesses with more than one property will only be eligible for one grant.   

 
7.  Information Required to Support Applications 
 

7.1 Each application must be accompanied with the following evidence:- 

Page 220



Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 7 of 8 

7 
 

 Business bank account statement which should be no more than 2 months 
old.  

 
7.2 The council reserve the right to request additional evidence from 

businesses, if required.  
 

8. Application 
 
8.1 On line – https://www.copeland.gov.uk/additional-restrictions-grant  
 

9. Payment 
 

9.1 If Copeland Borough Council is provided with a completed application, 
along with all requested evidence specified under 7.1 of this policy, 
payment will be made to the bank account provided within 7 days.  

  

10. State Aid 
 

10.1 The United Kingdom left the EU on 31 January 2020, nonetheless under the 
Withdrawal Agreement the State aid rules continue to apply during a 
transition period.  

 
10.2 Copeland Borough Council has the discretion to make payments to eligible 

recipients under either the De Minimis rules or the COVID-19 Temporary 
Framework for UK Authorities.  

 
10.3 Payments made can be provided under the existing De Minimis rules, to 

any one organisation over a three fiscal year period, provided doing so 
does not exceed the €200,000 threshold. Payments made where the De 
Minimis threshold has been reached should be paid under the Covid-19 
Temporary Framework for UK Authorities (threshold €800,000). 

 
 

11. Refusals and the Right to Appeal  
 

11.1 There is no statutory right of appeal under this scheme.  
 
11.2 Where the conditions of this policy are not satisfied, Copeland Borough 

Council will write to the business setting out the reasons for the refusal.  
 

Page 221

https://www.copeland.gov.uk/additional-restrictions-grant


Discretionary Grant Fund 

Page 8 of 8 

8 
11.3 If the business remains aggrieved, they must write to the Council outlining 

the reasons for their appeal. 
 
11.4 Where an appeal is received, an officer other than the original decision 

maker will reconsider the decision and notify the business accordingly. The 
Director of Financial Resources will be consulted if deemed appropriate. 

 

12.  Fraud 
 

12.1 Copeland Borough Council will not accept deliberate manipulation and 
fraud – and any business caught falsifying their records to gain a grant will 
face prosecution. Any funding will be subject to claw back, as will any 
grants paid in error.  

 
12.2 The governments Grant Management and Counter Fraud Function has 

been made available to assist local authorities in identifying fraud swiftly.  

 
13. Monitoring & Review 
 
13.1 This policy will be reviewed on a regular basis and updated as appropriate 

to ensure it remains fit for purpose.  
 

14. Data Protection and Sharing Information 
 

14.1 The information provided by the Business, or applicant on their behalf, will 
be treated as confidential in accordance with the law. The Council has a 
duty to protect the public funds it administers, and may use information 
held about the business where the law permits, including but not limited to 
the prevention and detection of fraud. This may include sharing 
information with other council services and other organisations who 
administer public funds. 

 

15. Government Guidance 
 
15.1 The full government guidance can be viewed here: 
  
 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uplo

ads/attachment_data/file/932623/V.1._Additional_Restrictions_Grant_-
FINAL_LA_guidance_03112020.pdf  

Page 222

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/932623/V.1._Additional_Restrictions_Grant_-FINAL_LA_guidance_03112020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/932623/V.1._Additional_Restrictions_Grant_-FINAL_LA_guidance_03112020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/932623/V.1._Additional_Restrictions_Grant_-FINAL_LA_guidance_03112020.pdf

	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Extraordinary meeting held on 8 September 2020, the re-convened Extraordinary meeting held on 22 September and the ordinary meeting held on 22 September 2020.
	Minutes
	$$MDocPackPublic 220920 EGM
	Minutes

	$$MDocPackPublic 220920
	Minutes


	8 Mayor's Executive Report
	9 Notice of Motion 1 from Councillor Michael McVeigh
	10 Notice of Motion 2 from Councillor Michael McVeigh
	11 Whitehaven Harbour - Flood Defence Capital Replacement Works - Request to act as Accountable Body
	12 Review of Statement of Licensing Policy 2021 - 2026
	Licensing Act 2003- statement of licensing policy- Draft v.1

	13 Corporate Strategy 2020-2024
	Corporate_Strategy Master_Final

	14 Copeland Vision 2040
	SEL13179_Copeland_vision_v3.2

	15 Climate Policy and Climate Action Plan
	Appendix A Climate & Environment Policy
	Appendix B Climate Action Plan Final Draft

	16 Financial Matters Relating to Covid-19 - Distribution of further Central Government Grants - Noting of Urgent Action
	Officer decision record - Business Rates Grant - LRSG - 18.11.20 - final
	Council - 15.12.20 - urgent action - appendix B ARG policy




